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 CAUTIONARY STATEMENT FOR PURPOSE OF THE
"SAFE HARBOR" PROVISIONS OF THE PRIVATE SECURITIES

LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995

        This Annual Report on Form 10-K may contain certain statements that we believe are, or may be considered to be, "forward-looking
statements" within the meaning of various provisions of the Securities Act of 1933 and of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These
forward-looking statements generally can be identified by use of statements that include phrases such as we "believe," "expect," "estimate,"
"anticipate," "intend," "plan," "foresee," "project" or other similar references to future periods. Examples of forward-looking statements include,
but are not limited to, statements we make related to our business strategy and regarding our outlook for 2013 financial results, liquidity and
capital resources.

        Forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations and assumptions regarding our business, the economy and other future
conditions. Because forward-looking statements relate to the future, they are subject to inherent uncertainties, risks and changes in circumstances
that are difficult to predict. Our actual results may differ materially from those contemplated by the forward-looking statements. We caution you
therefore against relying on any of these forward-looking statements. They are neither statements of historical fact nor guarantees or assurances
of future performance. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements include
economic, business, competitive, national or global political, market and regulatory conditions and other risks, each of which is described in
more detail in Item 1A-Risk Factors of this Annual Report.

        Any forward-looking statement made by us in this Annual Report on Form 10-K speaks only as of the date on which it is made. Factors or
events that could cause our actual results to differ may occur and it is not possible for us to predict them all. We undertake no obligation to
publicly update any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise, except as required by
law.

1
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 PART I

 ITEM 1.    BUSINESS

        DIRECTV, which we also refer to as the company, we, or us, is a leading provider of digital television entertainment in the United States
and Latin America. We operate two direct-to-home, or DTH, business units: DIRECTV U.S. and DIRECTV Latin America, which are
differentiated by their geographic location and are engaged in acquiring, promoting, selling and distributing digital entertainment programming
primarily via satellite to residential and commercial subscribers. In addition, we own and operate three regional sports networks, or RSNs, and
own a 42% interest in Game Show Network, LLC, or GSN, a television network dedicated to game-related programming and Internet interactive
game playing. We account for our investment in GSN using the equity method of accounting.

�
DIRECTV U.S.  DIRECTV Holdings LLC and its subsidiaries, or DIRECTV U.S., is the largest provider of DTH digital
television services and the second largest provider in the multi-channel video programming distribution, or MVPD, industry
in the United States. As of December 31, 2012, DIRECTV U.S. had approximately 20.1 million subscribers.

�
DIRECTV Latin America.  DIRECTV Latin America Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries, or DIRECTV Latin America, is a
leading provider of DTH digital television services throughout Latin America. DIRECTV Latin America is comprised of:
PanAmericana, which provides services in Argentina, Chile, Colombia, Ecuador, Puerto Rico, Venezuela and certain other
countries in the region, and Sky Brasil Servicos Ltda., or Sky Brasil, which is a 93% owned subsidiary. DIRECTV Latin
America also includes our 41% equity method investment in Innova, S. de R.L. de C.V., or Sky Mexico. As of December 31,
2012, PanAmericana had approximately 5.3 million subscribers, Sky Brasil had approximately 5.0 million subscribers and
Sky Mexico had approximately 5.2 million subscribers.

�
DIRECTV Sports Networks.  DIRECTV Sports Networks LLC and its subsidiaries, or DSN, is comprised primarily of three
regional sports television networks based in Seattle, Washington, Denver, Colorado and Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, each of
which operates under the brand name ROOT SPORTS®. The operating results of DSN are reported as part of the "Sports
Networks, Eliminations and Other" reporting segment.

        Our vision is to make DIRECTV the best video experience anytime and anywhere for customers in both the United States and Latin
America. Our primary strategy for achieving this vision is to combine unique and compelling content along with technological innovation and
industry-leading customer service to make DIRECTV the clear choice among consumers throughout the Americas. We believe that our
employees' commitment to excellence is integral to the success of this strategy and to the future of our company. We intend to advance a
service-oriented culture focused on building lifelong customer relationships while maintaining financial strength and a cost structure that enables
profitable growth in the markets we serve.

        The DIRECTV team is committed to our company values: leadership, innovation, decisiveness, agility, teamwork and integrity. We believe
sustaining a high level of employee engagement and developing the talent we have among our people cultivates an environment of loyalty and
can be directly correlated with increased customer satisfaction, productivity and profitability. Therefore, we have intensified our leadership
development programs, and placed an even greater emphasis on diversity and an inclusive workplace culture to foster higher levels of
innovation, engagement, cross-functional teamwork and collaboration. We also believe it is important to promote the behaviors that reflect our
company values within the communities that we serve through volunteer service projects, employee-driven corporate citizenship programs and
meaningful educational initiatives that impact and enrich students' curriculum. In addition, we are supporting sustainable business practices
company-wide, to help ensure that our planet is healthy for future generations.

        We believe that the successful execution of our stated operating strategies will create significant shareholder value over the long term by
delivering sustainable, profitable growth through brand leadership, innovative excellence, world-class customer service, increased productivity
and disciplined expense management, while also returning excess cash to shareholders. DIRECTV's common stock trades on the NASDAQ®
Global Select Market, or NASDAQ, under the ticker "DTV". DIRECTV was incorporated in Delaware in 2009.
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        Through DIRECTV U.S., we provide approximately 20.1 million subscribers with access to hundreds of channels of digital-quality video
entertainment and audio programming that we transmit directly to subscribers' homes or businesses via high-powered geosynchronous satellites.
We also provide video-on-demand, or

2

Edgar Filing: DIRECTV - Form 10-K

6



Table of Contents

DIRECTV

VOD, by "pushing" top-rated movies onto customers' digital video recorders, or DVRs, for instant viewing, as well as via broadband to our
subscribers who have connected their set-top receiver to their broadband service.

        We believe we provide one of the most extensive collections of programming available in the MVPD industry, including over 185 national
high-definition, or HD, television channels and five dedicated 3D channels. In addition, we offer VOD service, named DIRECTV CINEMA®,
which provides a selection of over 10,000 movie and television programs to our broadband-connected subscribers. As of December 31, 2012, we
provided local channel coverage to markets covering over 99% of U.S. television households, 98% in HD.

        We also provide premium professional and collegiate sports programming such as the NFL SUNDAY TICKET® package, which allows
subscribers to view the largest selection of NFL games available each Sunday during the regular season. Under our contract with the NFL, we
have exclusive rights to provide this service through the 2014 season, including rights to provide related broadband, HD, VOD, interactive and
mobile services.

        To subscribe to the DIRECTV® service, subscribers sign up for our service directly through us or our national retailers, independent
satellite television retailers or dealers, or regional telephone companies, which we refer to as telcos. We or one of our home service providers or
dealers install the receiving equipment. The receiving equipment, which we refer to as a DIRECTV® System, consists of a small receiving
satellite dish antenna, one or more digital set-top receivers, which are typically leased to the subscriber, and remote controls. After acquiring and
installing a DIRECTV System, subscribers activate the DIRECTV service by contacting us and subscribing to one of our programming packages
that are tailored to appeal to specific segments of existing and potential customers.

Key Strengths

�
Large Subscriber Base.  We are the largest provider of DTH digital television services and the second largest MVPD
provider in the United States, in each case based on the number of subscribers. We believe that our large subscriber base
provides us with the opportunity to obtain programming on favorable terms and secure unique and exclusive programming.
We also believe that our large subscriber base contributes to achieving other economies of scale in areas such as DIRECTV
System equipment purchasing, customer service, installation and repair service, broadcast operations and general and
administrative services.

�
Leading Brand Name.  We commissioned a study in 2012 which indicated that 96% of consumers in the United States
recognized the DIRECTV brand name. We believe the strength of our brand name is an important factor in our ability to
attract new subscribers and retain existing subscribers. In addition, we believe our recognized brand name enhances our
ability to secure strategic alliances with programmers, distributors and other technology and service providers.

�
Substantial Channel Capacity and Programming Content.  As a result of our significant channel capacity, we believe we
are able to deliver to our subscribers one of the widest selections of local and national programming available today in the
United States, including exclusive programming such as the NFL SUNDAY TICKET package, critically acclaimed original
series content such as Damages and Call Me Fitz, international programming, premium channels, regional sports networks
and one of the most extensive national HD offerings currently available in the industry. In addition, we believe that we offer
one of the most comprehensive collections of sports programming content available both inside and outside of the home,
highlighted by the NFL SUNDAY TICKET MAX package.

�
High-Quality Digital Picture and Sound, Including HD and 3D Programming.  Our video and audio programming is
100% digitally delivered, providing subscribers with digital-quality video and sound. We believe this compares favorably
with cable providers, as DIRECTV's picture quality has consistently been rated higher than cable in J.D. Power and
Associates annual survey. In addition, we believe we currently offer one of the nation's most comprehensive selections of
HD channels, including a large collection of 1080p HD movies. Also, we currently offer 3D programming on five dedicated
channels.

�
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Sales and Marketing.  We sell DIRECTV through a number of distribution channels, including direct sales, online, telcos,
national sales providers, local sales providers and consumer electronics retailers. We believe this variety of distribution
alternatives coupled with sophisticated marketing programs has enabled us to continue to grow our subscriber base in an
increasingly competitive and mature business.

�
Technology.  We devote considerable resources to improving our set-top receivers, including the middleware for our
receivers, as well as developing new services. For example in 2012, we introduced the DIRECTV Genie�,
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a premium high-definition whole-home DVR service with a terabyte hard drive that allows consumers to record five
different high-definition programs simultaneously while viewing and controlling content from one DVR to four different
locations in the house at the same time with the appropriate equipment. We also enhanced the search and discovery
functionality on our high-definition user interface, or HD UI, with a new opt-in feature which recommends personalized
programming that is available to watch instantly. In addition, we continue to evolve our platform to meet our subscribers'
desire to view quality content where they want it most. For example, in 2012 we expanded the access to our live streaming
content offerings on certain devices both inside and outside of the home and increased the programming available for
subscribers to watch provided they are connected to the Internet.

�
Strong Customer Satisfaction.  We have attained top rankings in customer satisfaction studies for our industry. For
example, we have scored higher than the largest national cable providers in customer satisfaction for twelve consecutive
years in the American Customer Satisfaction Index�. We believe that providing high-quality customer service is an important
element in minimizing subscriber disconnection, or churn, and attracting new subscribers.

�
Valuable Orbital Slots and Satellite-Based Technology.  We believe our regulatory authorization to use desirable orbital
slots and broadcast spectrum helps sustain our position as one of the leading companies in the MVPD industry. Our
satellite-based service provides us with many advantages over ground-based cable television services. We have the ability to
distribute hundreds of channels to millions of recipients nationwide with minimal incremental infrastructure cost per
additional subscriber. In addition, we have comprehensive coverage to areas with low population density in the United States
and the ability to quickly introduce new services to a large number of subscribers.

        We hold licenses in three orbital slots (99° west longitude, or WL, 101° WL, and 103° WL) in the Ka-Band spectrum. The satellites that
have been launched into these orbital slots have substantially increased our channel capacity, allowing us to provide one of the most extensive
HD channel offerings currently available across the United States. In addition, we hold licenses to broadcast our services from 46 of 96 Ku-band
DBS frequencies spread over three orbital slots (101° WL, 110° WL and 119° WL). The FCC is currently considering licensing additional DBS
slots for satellites that are sometimes referred to as "tweeners" which would provide CONUS coverage. See "Government Regulation�FCC
Regulation Under the Communications Act and Related Acts" and "Risk Factors�The ability to maintain FCC licenses and other regulatory
approvals is critical to our business" for more information related to these types of slots and satellites.

�
Strong Balance Sheet.  We believe our cash position and borrowing capacity combined with our current and expected future
cash generation capability provides us with significant financial flexibility to improve stockholder value. As of
December 31, 2012, we have repurchased approximately $25.7 billion of our common stock over the last seven years,
retiring approximately 60% of our then-outstanding shares, and have announced a new $4 billion share repurchase program.

Business Strategy

        Our vision is to provide customers with the best video experience in the United States both inside and outside of the home by offering
subscribers unique, differentiated and compelling programming through leadership in content, technology and customer service. Due to the
rising cost of programming as well as higher costs to acquire new subscribers in an increasingly mature and competitive industry, it is even more
important to distinguish and elevate the DIRECTV experience with a focus on delighting our new and existing customers. To fulfill our goals in
a profitable and sustainable way we developed a strategy to (1) transform the customer service experience, (2) advance the entertainment
experience both inside and outside of the home and (3) strike a balance between growth and profitability.

�
Transform the Customer Service Experience.  The greatest opportunity we have to create value is to delight and earn the
enthusiastic loyalty of our approximately 20.1 million subscribers in the United States. We have implemented systems to
measure and monitor our customer feedback regularly to continuously improve customer satisfaction. One way we do so is
by measuring our Net Promoter Score, or NPS, which is a standard metric that surveys our customers' willingness to
recommend DIRECTV to a friend or family member by sorting them into promoters, neutrals and detractors. Our goal is to
make the customer experience a hallmark of the DIRECTV brand, drive higher loyalty levels and meaningfully differentiate
DIRECTV from competitors. Our strategy involves (1) identifying improvement opportunities, (2) increasing our investment
in existing
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customers, (3) simplifying the sales process and (4) strengthening our bundled offers and capabilities.

�
Identify Improvement Opportunities.  We believe developing a system for discovering improvement opportunities
in products, policies and procedures is strategically important. In 2012, we built a learning lab where we have a
dedicated team focused on surfacing and resolving issues that cause negative experiences and testing ideas that
could create more satisfaction for our customers through all service interactions including the initial installation as
well as any subsequent communications, service or upgrade transactions. We are testing and refining solutions for
customers that heighten the focus on resolving problems the first time they contact us, minimizing hand-offs,
valuing the customer's time and providing in-home education on our products and services. In 2013, we will
continue to empower our front line employees to go above and beyond our customers' expectations at every single
point of interaction as well as identify new ways to improve customers' satisfaction while simultaneously
improving productivity by reducing service calls.

�
Increase Our Investment in Existing Customers.  Investing in our valuable customers is strategically important. For
this reason, in 2013, we expect to launch a transparent upgrade program, which will provide additional value to
our existing customers, including the ability to receive upgrades to our latest product features and functionality
every two years. We also believe it is critical to re-affirm our appreciation for our most tenured loyalists and plan
on continuing to recognize and reward these subscribers through segmented retention offers. Transitioning our
investment away from providing new customers with the best deals to thoughtful economic investments in our
existing subscriber base is expected to yield even higher levels of customer satisfaction and financial returns.

�
Simplify the Sales Process.  Making a great first impression is important, as it sets the tone for the relationship
interactions that follow. Therefore, we have decided to streamline the sales and on-boarding process through the
elimination of the programming rebate redemption process. By simplifying the sales process with this new instant
rebate, we have not only improved the customer experience, we have also reduced the complexity for our
front-line sales and service workforce. We have plans to launch a new simplified bill as well as make it easier and
more intuitive for customers to manage their account and understand features of the DIRECTV service on
directv.com. We expect these solutions to reduce customer call volumes to our call centers.

�
Strengthen Our Bundled Offers and Capabilities.  Bundled video, telephone and broadband services continue to
grow in popularity as consumers look for ways to reduce costs in a challenging economy. To better serve the
segment of consumers who are attracted to the convenience and value of bundle offerings, we have agreements in
place with most of the major telco companies nationwide to offer digital subscriber line, or DSL, and fiber bundles
which include the DIRECTV service. In 2012, we completed the implementation of an integrated broadband
ordering tool that enables us to offer DSL and fiber bundles through a more seamless process. We believe it is
important that we continue to work closely with broadband providers to further streamline the bundle process,
offer broadband services with higher speeds and improve joint marketing efforts so that a greater percentage of our
customers can enjoy the benefits of a bundle.

�
Advance the Entertainment Experience Both Inside and Outside of the Home.  We believe it is critical that we continue to
extend our brand leadership as the premium pay-TV provider in the marketplace by providing the best and most compelling
video experience both inside and outside of the home. To fulfill our goals, we have developed a robust product roadmap to
advance the entertainment experience across multiple platforms by (1) enhancing our Whole-Home DVR and time-shifting
capabilities, (2) expanding DIRECTV Everywhere capabilities and (3) delivering a seamless best-in-class user interface that
unifies search and discovery across multiple screens.

�
Enhance Whole-Home DVR and Time-Shifting Capabilities.  We believe that consumers are looking for more
features and functionality in their TV viewing, particularly in terms of place and time shifting. For this reason, in
2012 we introduced the DIRECTV Genie, a premium HD whole-home DVR service with a terabyte hard drive that
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an opt-in feature that will recommend personalized programming available to watch instantly. The DIRECTV
Genie is RVU capable and allows multiple screens within the home to connect to one central set-top receiver
which enables the television viewer to watch live or recorded programs on every TV in the home without the need
for an additional DVR receiver at every location. In 2013, we expect to introduce the next generation of this
advanced receiver with faster processing power, new interactive features and greater functionality at a reduced
cost. In addition, we plan on expanding our time and place shifting capabilities with new services as well as
extending our pay-per-view and VOD movie offerings.

�
Connect Customer HD-DVRs to the Internet.  Connecting our customers' receivers to broadband service is
strategically important because it greatly enhances the video experience while facilitating access of DIRECTV�
programming services on mobile devices. For example, a connected receiver provides our customers with the
ability to (1) access over 10,000 additional movies and shows including the ability to search and watch web-based
videos on YouTube®, (2) stream live authorized DIRECTV programming on their iPad®, iPhone® and Android
phone anywhere both inside and outside of their home, (3) engage interactive "TV Apps" that provide real-time
information such as favorite sports teams, local traffic or weather reports as well as a connection that enables
customers to interact with friends on their Twitter® or Facebook® account via their television or portable devices
and (4) use the Pandora® audio service. In the future, we expect to expand the recent programming selection
available through broadband connected receivers, with a focus on quality, as well as provide access to more
applications and features.

�
Expand DIRECTV Everywhere capabilities.  Enhancing the accessibility of subscription TV content on any device
inside and outside of the home is strategically important because it augments our customers' video experiences
while meeting their desire to view quality content when and where they want it most. DIRECTV Everywhere
offers our customers video streaming capabilities of authorized cable and broadcast network content, as well as the
ability to search and record all of their favorite shows whenever they are connected to the Internet. Today,
customers with premium subscriptions have the ability to stream content through directv.com as well as through
offerings such as HBO GO®, MAX GO®, Showtime Anytime®, Starz Play® and Encore Play�. In addition,
subscribers can access pay-per-view and VOD programming through their laptop, tablet, smartphone or computer.
During 2013, we expect to expand the video streaming capabilities of live and recorded content offerings across
multiple screens and applications. We also expect to introduce the ability to stream content stored on our
customers HD-DVR to mobile devices inside and outside of the home.

�
Deliver a Seamless Best-in-Class User Interface that Unifies Search and Discovery Across Multiple
Screens.  Providing our customers with a consistent user experience as they access their subscription television
content on any device inside or outside of the home is strategically important. Therefore in 2012, we expanded the
availability of our new HD UI to the majority of our customers leasing HD products as well as developed
applications with a similar look and feel for mobile devices and tablets. This new HD UI is significantly faster than
our previous UI and is displayed in a crisp, easy-to-read HD format using more graphical poster art, providing our
customers with a friendly and fun way to navigate through hundreds of channels. In addition, the HD UI
incorporates our industry-leading Smart Search capabilities. In 2013, we plan to continue to unify the way our
subscribers navigate content across three distinct platforms of the DIRECTV Entertainment Experience�large
screen, dual screen and portable screen�to drive deeper engagement with the customer. We expect to launch faster
channel navigation, interactive TV applications with HD clarity, as well as improved discovery and enhanced
personalization with social and editorial curation. In addition, we plan to introduce Voice Search, which will
enable subscribers to use natural language voice interaction to navigate the DIRECTV experience. We are also
developing applications for mobile devices and tablets to increase the features and functionalities available to our
customers both inside and outside of the home.

�
Strike a Balance Between Growth and Profitability.  Maintaining a strong financial foundation is vital to achieving our
plans for profitable growth. To fulfill our strategic objectives, we believe we must balance top line sales and bottom line
profitability. Our strategy involves (1) growing revenue streams,
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(2) the optimization of acquisition and retention spending and (3) enhancing productivity and cost containment.

�
Grow Revenue Streams.  Due to the rising cost of programming in the maturing pay television marketplace,
driving top line sales has become increasingly critical to maintaining strong profit margins. In order to achieve this
objective we must grow revenues through (1) responsible pricing and (2) maximizing ancillary and non-residential
revenue opportunities.

�
Responsible Pricing.  We believe our ability to generate the industry's highest average revenue per unit,
or ARPU, demonstrates the value our best-in-class video experience delivers to our customers. It is
imperative that we maintain appropriate price increases on our differentiated service offerings, while
simultaneously expanding the value proposition by advancing the customer service and entertainment
experiences. It is also critical that we remain disciplined in the management of subscriber credits and
promotions. For example, in 2012 we introduced an Advanced Receiver Service fee on our customers'
bills eliminating "Free HD for Life" as well as a lower cost programming "Entertainment" package to
better fit the needs of our more value conscious consumers. These actions have reduced customer credits
and are expected to increase ARPU over the coming years.

�
Maximize Ancillary and Non-Residential Revenues.  We believe we have an opportunity to drive top line
growth through ancillary and non-residential revenue opportunities, including DIRECTV CINEMA,
addressable and local advertising and the commercial property market. In 2013, we expect to continue
generating incremental VOD revenues by "pushing" top-rated movies, including many available on the
same day of the DVD release, onto customers DVRs for instant viewing and by expanding the video
library of our enhanced movie service called DIRECTV CINEMA. We are also looking to significantly
increase our advertising revenues over the coming years with a new technology that provides us the
capability to insert ads into individual DVRs enabling advertisers to target customers in local regions
and eventually in the individual home. In addition, we believe commercial properties represent another
incremental revenue opportunity for DIRECTV. For example, although historically we have competed
effectively in the higher-end hotel market, we expect that in the coming years, hotels will be upgrading
their television service from standard-definition to HD which will present us with opportunities for
growth. In the future, we will introduce new features, applications and package enhancements that will
provide an integrated residential television experience for our hotel customers to offer to their patrons.
We also currently have low market share in the private businesses and smaller bars and restaurants
segments and we intend to grow our share in these markets by developing an integrated bundling
solution, as well as from improved management, targeting, billing, pricing and packaging.

�
Optimize Acquisition and Retention Spending.  Although we continue to invest in new subscribers with a
disciplined focus on driving value through quality, attaining strong financial returns on new subscribers has been
increasingly difficult in this maturing industry where programmers are seeking even higher rates for their content.
Therefore, in 2012 we transitioned to a new customer acquisition strategy that reduced our promotional discounts
for new customers and shifted our investment towards increasing our upgrade efforts for tenured and high-value
existing subscribers, which yield stronger returns. Our revised upgrade policy is expected to improve customer
satisfaction, reduce churn and increase profitability by driving greater penetration of advanced services such as
DIRECTV Genie and the Connected Home.

�
Enhance Productivity and Manage Costs.  Improving our productivity is a critical element of our goal to maintain
strong margins particularly given rising programming costs and the competitive nature of our industry. In
particular, we plan to focus our efforts on (1) effectively managing our programming costs and (2) capturing
enterprise-wide productivity improvements.

�
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and as a result, we must manage these costs as effectively as possible particularly considering that we
expect programming costs to grow faster than ARPU primarily due to higher sports costs (including the
NFL SUNDAY TICKET) and higher retransmission fees for the carriage of local
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channels. In addition, due to competitive pressures, there is a risk that we will be unable to pass such
increases through to our subscribers. Therefore, we must minimize the cost increases by leveraging our
size, growth and attractive subscriber demographics to attain competitive terms and conditions. We must
also work to closely align a channel's value with the costs we pay and obtain rights for value-added
video services, such as mobile and streaming rights, in every negotiation. Another way we expect to
reduce the rate of cost growth is by packaging channels to better align the programming that our
customers want to watch with what they are willing to pay for and by securing greater flexibility
regarding tiering and packaging of content and/or channels. In addition, we may discontinue carrying
less popular channels if we are unable to negotiate fair terms and conditions.

�
Capture Enterprise-Wide Productivity Improvements.  Our objective is to deliver the best video
experience at the lowest possible cost. Our goal is to manage our costs and make strategic investments
that will deliver future benefits, preserve a sustainable cost structure and drive efficiency. In particular,
we are looking to capture productivity improvements which will not only reduce costs, but also improve
call center performance, field operations such as installations and repairs, retention and customer
satisfaction. Our strategy also includes improving the reliability of our set-top receivers and increasing
the effectiveness of our customers' self-care options to reduce call volumes and truck rolls. We will
strive to get it "right the first time" especially during the critical first 90 days of a customer's lifecycle
with improved work order accuracy and installation. We are utilizing technology to optimize our
technicians' installation and service routes to help our front-line be more effective and efficient. We are
also investing in technology called Active Decisioning, which increases the information available to our
agents and helps them effectively and profitably close deals faster.

Infrastructure

        Satellites.    We currently have a fleet of twelve geosynchronous satellites, including eleven owned satellites and one leased satellite. We
have seven Ku-Band satellites at the following orbital locations: 101° WL (three), 110° WL (one), 119° WL (one), 95° WL (one-leased) and one
spare satellite that is currently being leased by a third party and is operating at 56° EL. We also have five Ka-Band satellites at our 99° WL (two)
and 103° WL (three) orbital locations.

        We have entered into contracts for the construction and launch of two new satellites: D14, which we expect to launch in the first quarter of
2014, and D15, which we expect to launch in the fourth quarter of 2014. D14 and D15 are expected to provide additional HD, replacement and
backup capacity.

        Satellite Risk Management.    We may purchase in-orbit and launch insurance to mitigate the potential financial impact of in-orbit and
satellite launch failures unless the premium costs are considered to be uneconomical relative to the risk of satellite failure. The insurance
generally covers the unamortized book value of covered satellites. We do not insure against lost revenues in the event of a total or partial loss of
the capacity of a satellite. We generally rely on in-orbit spare satellites and excess transponder capacity at key orbital slots to mitigate the impact
a satellite failure could have on our ability to provide service. However, programming continuity cannot be assured in all instances or in the
event of multiple satellite losses. Launch insurance typically covers the time frame from ignition of the launch vehicle through separation of the
satellite from the launch vehicle. In the past, we have launched satellites without insurance. As of December 31, 2012, the net book value of
DIRECTV U.S.' in-orbit satellites was $1,344 million, all of which was uninsured.

        Digital Broadcast Centers.    To gather programming content, ensure its digital quality, and transmit content to our satellites, we have two
digital broadcast centers, located in Castle Rock, Colorado and Los Angeles, California and six uplink facilities. These broadcast centers and
uplink facilities provide our national and local standard-definition and HD programming to our customers. We receive programming at the
broadcast centers and uplink facilities from content providers via satellite, fiber optic cable and/or special tape. Most satellite-delivered
programming is then digitized, encoded and transmitted to our satellites. We designed each broadcast center and uplink facility with redundant
systems to minimize service interruptions.

        Installation Network.    The DIRECTV Home Service Provider, or HSP, network performs customer installation, upgrade, and service call
work for us. From 2008 to 2010, we completed several transactions that brought a significant portion of this HSP network activity in-house. We
now directly employ over 4,000
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technicians. We also utilize an additional 10,000 technicians from four major outsourced companies who have assigned territories and a number
of smaller subcontractors around the United States. The combined workforce completed approximately 91% of all in-home visits in 2012. We
set quality standards for all installation, upgrade, and service work, perform quality control procedures against those standards, manage network
inventory levels, and monitor overall network performance for nearly all of the installation and service network.

        Customer Service Centers.    As of December 31, 2012, we utilized 50 customer service centers employing over 18,000 customer service
representatives. Most of these customer service centers are operated by Convergys Customer Management Group, Inc., Alorica, Inc., Sitel
Operating Corporation, N.E.W. Customer Service Companies, Inc., VXI Global Solutions, Inc. and Teleperformance. We currently own and
operate six customer service centers located in: Boise, Idaho; Tulsa, Oklahoma; Huntsville, Alabama; Missoula, Montana; Huntington, West
Virginia; and Denver, Colorado that employ approximately 4,000 customer service representatives. Potential and existing subscribers can call a
single telephone number 24 hours a day, seven days a week, to request assistance for hardware, programming, installation, technical and other
support. We continue to increase the functionality of telephone-based and web-based self-care features in order to better manage customer
service costs and improve service levels.

Competition

        We face substantial competition in the MVPD industry and from emerging digital media distribution providers. Our competition includes
companies that offer video, audio, interactive programming, telephony, data and other entertainment services, such as cable television, other
DTH companies, telcos, wireless companies and companies that are developing new technologies, including online video distributors, or OVDs.
Many of our competitors have access to substantially greater financial and marketing resources. We believe our brand, the quality and variety of
video, audio and interactive programming, quality of picture, access to service, availability of HD and DVR services, customer service and price
are the key elements for attaining and retaining subscribers. Our approximately 20.1 million subscribers represent approximately 20% of MVPD
subscribers at December 31, 2012.

�
Cable Television.  We encounter substantial competition in the MVPD industry from cable television companies. According
to the National Cable & Telecommunications Association, 131.2 million U.S. housing units are passed by cable,
representing 99% of total U.S. homes. Most cable television operators have a large, established customer base, and some
have significant investments in companies that provide programming content. Approximately 100 million households
subscribe to an MVPD service and approximately 57% of MVPD subscribers receive their programming from a cable
operator. In addition, most cable providers have completed network upgrades that allow for enhanced service offerings such
as digital cable, HD channels, broadband Internet access and telephony services. Cable companies bundle these services,
offering discounts and providing one bill to the consumer. In addition, Verizon Wireless has entered into a joint marketing
agreement with Comcast, Time Warner Cable, Cox and Brighthouse Networks to sell their products and services in
storefronts and over the Internet. These promotions are widely available across the United States.

�
Telephone Companies.  Several telcos have upgraded a significant portion of their infrastructure by replacing their older,
copper wire telephone lines with high-speed fiber optic lines. These fiber lines provide the telcos with significantly greater
capacity enabling them to offer new and enhanced services, such as broadband Internet access at much greater speeds and
digital-quality video. For example, Verizon announced that at the end of 2012, it had the capability to serve approximately
17.6 million homes with fiber optic lines with the goal of having the capability to serve 18 million homes. In addition, as of
year-end 2012, AT&T had deployed fiber optic lines with the capability to serve approximately 30 million homes. In
November 2012, AT&T announced plans to extend their fiber optic line capability to serve 33 million homes by year end
2015. As of year-end 2012, Verizon had approximately 4.7 million video subscribers and AT&T had approximately
4.5 million video subscribers, representing approximately 9% of MVPD subscribers. Similar to the cable companies, the
telcos expect to offer their customers multiple services at a discount on one bill.

�
Other Direct Broadcast Satellite and Direct-To-Home Satellite System Operators.  We also compete with DISH Network
Corporation, or DISH, which had approximately 14 million subscribers at the end of 2012, representing approximately 14%
of MVPD subscribers. On April 26, 2011, DISH Network acquired certain assets of Blockbuster. Currently, DISH uses
Blockbuster® and the Blockbuster@HomeTM service to offer video content through multiple distribution channels such as
mail and through streaming
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services via the Internet. On September 27, 2012, DISH launched a high-speed satellite Internet service called dishNETTM.
In addition to marketing and selling dishNET services on a stand-alone basis, they bundle dishNET services with their DISH
branded pay-TV service to offer customers a single bill, payment and customer service option, which includes a bundle
discount. In addition, on December 11, 2012 the FCC granted DISH full terrestrial use of its AWS-4 spectrum and
established build-out requirements. Other domestic and foreign satellite operators also have proposed to offer DTH satellite
service to U.S. customers using U.S.-licensed satellite frequencies or foreign-licensed frequencies that have the ability of
covering the United States.

�
Video via the Internet.  With the large increase in the number of consumers with broadband service, a significant amount of
video content has become available on the Internet for users to download and view on their personal computers, televisions
and other devices. For example, Apple offers thousands of television shows and movies for rental, some in high-definition,
on the online iTunes® Store and with their iCloud® service, all of a user's content could be shared wirelessly across Apple
devices. In addition, Hulu® is an online video distributor which provides free movies and TV shows from 430 content
providers including FOX, NBC Universal, ABC, Lionsgate, MGM, Univision, National Geographic, Paramount, A&E
Television Networks, Sony Pictures and Warner Bros. This content can be accessed on demand through its website and those
of its partners: AOL, IMDb, MSN, Yahoo! and TV Guide. Hulu also provides a monthly streaming subscription service to
more than 3 million paying Hulu Plus subscribers that offers current and past season shows from ABC, Comedy Central,
The CW, FOX, NBC, MTV and Univision. In addition, Netflix and Amazon through Amazon Prime® offer Subscription
Video on Demand (SVOD) services for a flat monthly fee. For example, Netflix has a library of thousands of movies and TV
shows available for streaming to its over 33 million subscribers in the U.S., Canada, Latin America and the United Kingdom.
Verizon has announced plans to offer an SVOD service through a partnership with Redbox and expects to launch Redbox
InstantTM in 2013. Additionally, several companies, such as Vudu, Google through Google Play and Amazon through
Amazon Instant Video sell or rent movies or other shows via Internet download or streaming media. There are also several
similar initiatives by companies such as Intel, Microsoft and Sony to make it easier to view Internet-based video on
television and personal computer screens. Many television models, Blu-Ray Disc® players and gaming consoles like
Nintendo's Wii®, Sony's PS3® and Microsoft's Xbox® can be directly connected to the Internet and have the capacity to
stream video to a television.

�
Mobile Video.  Many companies are beginning to offer mobile video applications due to consumers' increasing desire to
view content outside of the home. For example, AT&T offers AT&T mobile TV� which provides users the ability to watch
full-length TV shows from ABC, CBS, Disney, ESPN, Fox, MTV and other programmers on their cell phones. AT&T also
introduced the AT&T U-verse Mobile application providing iPhone customers the ability to download and watch authorized
content from their DVRs on the go. Verizon Wireless offers Viewdini® which aggregates content from several providers
into one location. In addition, Verizon offers FiOS Flex View which provides FiOS customers access to download and
stream OnDemand and rented VOD titles for viewing inside and outside of the home. Comcast introduced the XFINITY� TV
Application which also allows customers to download and stream OnDemand video content to laptops, tablets and mobile
devices. Other cable and satellite distributors are also focused on distributing their content to their customers' mobile
devices. For example, Time Warner Cable, Cablevision and Cox allow streaming of live linear TV inside the home via iPad
applications. Other mobile applications and services are also becoming available.

�
Small and Rural Telephone Companies and Google Fiber.  Other telephone companies are also finding ways to deliver
video programming services over their wireline facilities or in a bundle with other MVPD providers. For example, DISH
Network has agreements with Embarq, Windstream, TDS, Frontier, and ViaSat to bundle their individual DSL or satellite
broadband (in the case of ViaSat), and telephony services with DISH Network's video service. Google has also deployed its
own fiber network in Kansas City and offers the highest broadband speeds in the country. Google has announced that it
plans to expand its fiber service to more cities during 2013.

�
Local Broadcasters.  Most areas of the United States can receive traditional terrestrial television broadcasts of numerous
broadcast channels, with more stations available in larger markets. These include full-power broadcasters transmitting digital
signals as well as low-power broadcasters transmitting in analog. Broadcasters provide local, network and syndicated
programming. Viewers can receive this programming free of charge using off-air antennas,
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although broadcast signals typically cannot reach the entire local market to which the broadcaster is assigned. Full-power
broadcasters transmitting in digital can offer both programming in high-definition and multiple programming services per
channel.

DIRECTV LATIN AMERICA

        DIRECTV Latin America is a leading provider of DTH digital television services throughout Latin America. DIRECTV Latin America
provides a wide selection of local and international digital-quality video entertainment and audio programming under the DIRECTV and SKY
brands to approximately 5.3 million subscribers in PanAmericana and approximately 5.0 million subscribers in Brazil. Our affiliate, Sky
Mexico, has approximately 5.2 million subscribers. Including Sky Mexico, DIRECTV and SKY provide service to more than 15.5 million
subscribers throughout the region.

        We own 100% of PanAmericana, which provides services in Argentina, Chile, Colombia, Ecuador, Puerto Rico, Venezuela and certain
other countries in the region, 93% of Sky Brasil, which operates in Brazil, and 41% of Sky Mexico, which operates in Mexico, certain countries
in Central America and the Dominican Republic. Globo Comunicações e Participações S.A., or Globo, owns the other 7% of Sky Brasil and
Grupo Televisa, S.A., or Televisa, owns the other 59% of Sky Mexico. The results of PanAmericana and Sky Brasil are consolidated in our
results, and we account for our interest in Sky Mexico under the equity method of accounting.

        We believe we provide one of the most extensive collections of programming available in the Latin America pay television market,
including HD sports video content and the most innovative interactive technology across the region. In addition, we have the unique ability to
sell superior offerings of our differentiated products and services on a continent-wide basis at a lower cost compared to our competition. As of
December 31, 2012, we provided service to 24% of pay television households in PanAmericana, 31% of pay television households in Brazil and
37% of pay television households in Mexico.

        To subscribe to the DIRECTV or SKY service, customers sign up for our video service directly through us or our regional retailers, or
independent satellite television retailers or dealers. We tailor our offers and products to profitably and effectively provide our service to various
customer segments across the region that have the need and desire for our brand and service. We offer post-paid products and services to
customers who meet our standard requirements. For these customers, dealers or one of our home service providers install the receiving
equipment. The receiving equipment consists of a small receiving satellite dish antenna, one or more digital set-top receivers, which are typically
leased to the subscriber, and remote controls. In addition, we offer prepaid service for customers that desire payment and commitment flexibility.
These customers may purchase a standard-definition receiver and antenna at a regional retailer and pre-pay their DIRECTV service typically
through one or more means, such as the purchase of a rechargeable card that they can acquire at a retailer or local kiosk. The video service will
automatically disconnect once the credit on the card runs out.

Key Strengths

�
Large Subscriber Base and Pan-Regional Scale of Service.  On a regional basis, we are a leading provider of pay television
services in Latin America. We believe that our large subscriber base, scale and relationship with DIRECTV U.S. provides us
with the opportunity to obtain programming on favorable terms and secure unique content and features. We also believe that
our large subscriber base contributes to achieving economies of scale in areas such as equipment and technology purchasing,
customer service and broadcast operations.

�
Leading Brands.   DIRECTV and SKY brands in Latin America are positioned as the leader in digital video entertainment,
offering the best quality content, technology and customer service available. We believe the strength of our brands is an
important factor in our ability to attract and retain subscribers. In addition, we believe our recognized brand name enhances
our ability to secure strategic alliances with programmers and distributors.

�
Relationship with DIRECTV U.S.  We believe that our ability to leverage the advanced technologies and best practices
developed and followed by DIRECTV U.S. enables us to take advantage of its economies of scale, intellectual property and
financial flexibility. Our platforms have set-top receiver specifications and middleware technologies that are aligned with
DIRECTV U.S., which allows for the launch of new technologies, innovative features and services in advance of our
competitors in the region and at a lower cost.
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�
High-Quality Digital Picture and Sound.  Our video and audio programming is 100% digitally delivered, providing
subscribers with digital-quality video and audio, as well as interactive features and functionality. We believe this compares
favorably with many cable providers in Latin America, which typically continue to broadcast to a large percentage of their
subscribers in analog format.

�
Unique and Differentiated Content.  As a result of our leading brands and leveraging our greater scale, we believe we are
able to offer unique and compelling content to subscribers. For example, in PanAmericana we delivered extensive coverage
of the 2012 London Olympics by offering multiple live and simulcast feeds, all of which were in HD. We also offered live
broadcasts of most of the events that included a Latin American athlete. In addition, we were the only provider of television
services where subscribers could see all of the UEFA 2012 Euro Cup games. Similarly, Sky Brasil, PanAmericana and Sky
Mexico have licensed exclusive and non-exclusive rights through the 2015 season to the Spanish soccer league, which in
most countries is the second most popular soccer league behind the local country leagues.

�
Sales and Marketing.  We sell DIRECTV and SKY through a number of distribution channels, including direct sales,
online, regional sales providers and local sales providers. We believe this variety of distribution alternatives coupled with
segmented marketing programs, have enabled us to continue to grow our subscriber base and benefit from favorable market
conditions by extending our leadership with advanced products as well as by continuing to penetrate the middle market
segment with tailored package offerings.

�
Strong Customer Satisfaction.  We have attained top rankings in customer satisfaction studies for the pay television industry
across the region. For example in 2012, the Brazilian equivalent to J.D. Power, Consumidor Moderno, awarded SKY "Best
of the Best" in the Customer Service Category as well as Company of the Year. SKY won these accolades by both the
popular vote and technical criteria. For the second consecutive year, DIRECTV was recognized in Chile with the "Calidad
del Servicio ProCalidad 2012" award in the pay-TV category. DIRECTV Chile also received the "2012 Consumer Loyalty
NPS" (Net Promoter Score) award. In addition, our regional call center operation in Colombia received two first place
awards for "Best Social Responsibility" and "Best HR Administration." We believe that providing high-quality customer
service is an important element in minimizing churn and attracting new subscribers. In addition, our ability to implement
best practices in customer service from across the region, and from DIRECTV U.S., allows us to adapt quickly and
efficiently to changes that we face.

Business Strategy

        Our vision is to provide customers across Latin America with the best video experience by leveraging DIRECTV Latin America's key
strengths while continuing to distinguish our service from our competitors by offering subscribers unique, differentiated and compelling
programming through leadership in content, technology, customer service and targeted marketing strategies. Our strategy involves (1) profitably
expanding our leadership position across all demographic segments, (2) enhancing productivity and effectively managing costs and
(3) leveraging DIRECTV Latin America's brands and customer base to introduce complementary services.

�
Profitably Expand Leadership Position Across All Demographic Segments.  To achieve our goals, we believe we have to
profitably expand our leadership position in several key areas including (1) strengthening our leadership position in the
higher end markets with a particular focus on DVR and HD excellence, (2) leveraging scale to profitably serve the middle
market segment while expanding penetration as well as (3) establishing Colombia as the third major country in
PanAmericana.

�
Increase DVR Penetration.  We believe that consumers at the higher end of the market are looking for more
features and functionality in their TV viewing, particularly in terms of place and time shifting. Therefore in 2012,
we obtained high-quality DVRs that are more functional and less costly than those of our competitors to
distinguish our service from the competition. In most countries in which we operate, our competitors either do not
offer DVRs or make them available on terms that have significantly limited their penetration. In 2013, we plan to
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introducing an advanced whole-home DVR. As of December 31, 2012, approximately 28% of our subscribers had
advanced products.

�
Strengthen Our Position in HD.  Although we expect that the HD content offerings will be more limited in Latin
America than in the United States for the next several years and the uptake of HD services in Latin America will
be slower than in the United States, we believe that continuing to expand our HD offerings provides us with a
significant competitive advantage across market segments that are expected to experience continued growth. As of
December 31, 2012, Sky Brasil offered its customers 47 HD channels and PanAmericana offered its customers on
average 17 HD channels. We believe that we currently have a leading HD channel offering in Brazil and are
looking to establish leadership in PanAmericana by increasing the capacity of our current satellite servicing the
region by completing the migration of our business in Puerto Rico to the U.S. satellite platform and upgrading our
broadcast ground facilities during 2013. We also expect to extend our advantage with the anticipated launch of our
new leased satellites starting in 2014.

�
Profitably Increase Penetration in Middle Market Segment.  Based on generally low pay television penetration
rates and favorable economic and demographic trends in the region, we believe the rapidly growing middle market
continues to represent a significant opportunity for growth. In 2012, we continued to tailor our offers and products
to profitably and effectively provide our service to value-focused customers who had the need and desire for
affordable access to our brands and service. Typically, these offers and products are similar to our traditional ones
except they allow customers access to significantly fewer channels and limit the number of set-top receivers
customers may have in their homes. Our SKY service in Brazil offers these products and services to customers
who meet our standard requirements on a traditional post-paid basis. In PanAmericana, we offer our DIRECTV
service on a pre-paid basis to the middle market segment. Pre-paid subscribers purchase a set-top receiver and
antenna at a regional retailer and pre-pay their DIRECTV service through various means, such as purchasing a
rechargeable card that they can acquire at a retailer or local kiosk. The video service automatically disconnects
once the credit on the card runs out. Looking ahead at 2013 and beyond, we plan on continuing to serve the
value-focused customers in Brazil and PanAmericana through targeted marketing and distribution strategies, as
well as leveraging our relationship with DIRECTV U.S. to obtain lower cost set-top receivers.

�
Establish Colombia as the Third Major Country in PanAmericana.  In terms of total households, Colombia is the
largest country in which we operate in PanAmericana. Due to continuous improvements in the business operating
environment, favorable economic trends and relatively low pay television penetration rates in the marketplace, we
believe Colombia presents a significant growth opportunity. In 2012, we established a goal to make Colombia our
third largest market. To fulfill our objective we introduced tailored offers to profitably provide our service to
higher-end markets as well as value-focused customers. We also expanded our dealer network and acquired
programming rights for the Colombia soccer league. We plan on continuing to profitably expand our position in
Colombia during 2013 through targeted marketing and distribution strategies that increase awareness and
association with Colombian sports.

�
Enhance Productivity and Manage Costs.  Improving productivity and identifying efficiencies are critical to our goal to
maintain strong margins particularly given the rapid growth of our subscriber base and regional scale of our operations. In
particular, we plan to focus our efforts on productivity initiatives aimed at improving overall customer service levels. For
example, we expect to utilize technology to implement process improvements in our call centers and other areas, such as
upgrading our billing systems and informational technology systems. During 2012, we began investing in new customer
relationship management systems and plan to continue centralizing our network management structure in 2013 to ensure
superior service levels across customer segments while simultaneously improving productivity. We will also continue
leveraging cost containment best practices from DIRECTV U.S. We expect initiatives like these to enhance operations
across the various countries and regions where we offer service under the DIRECTV and SKY brands.

�
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subscriber base, minimize churn and extend the value of our brand. Our strategy involves (1) offering a fixed wireless
broadband service and (2) extending our presence by establishing an over-the-top, or OTT, distribution platform.

�
Offer Fixed Wireless Broadband.  Connecting our customers to a broadband service is strategically important
because we expect it will minimize churn and attract new subscribers. We are focused on selectively pursuing
opportunities to acquire spectrum and expand a technologically robust and profitable fixed wireless broadband
service in areas where our existing subscriber base has a weak competitive wireline offering or access to
broadband is limited. We currently provide fixed wireless service in Mendoza, Argentina and Brasilia, Brazil. The
fixed wireless service offered benefits to our core business through increased pay-TV sales, improved customer
satisfaction from bundled subscribers as well as lowered monthly churn. We plan to expand our fixed wireless
service to several cities in Brazil.

�
Establish OTT Distribution Platform.  Extending our premium video experience to our customers who desire
content that can be accessed on demand is important as the penetration of pay television households with Internet
access increases across the region. Given the strength of our brands, the scale of our subscriber base and our strong
relationships with programmers and distributors, we began to complement our traditional video subscription
service by establishing a premium OTT distribution platform in the region. Since late 2011, we have offered SKY
Online, which enables customers to download and stream OnDemand video content to laptops, tablets and mobile
devices. SKY Online also offers an option for Subscription Video on Demand service (SVOD) for a flat monthly
fee.

Infrastructure

        We currently provide services in PanAmericana and Brazil from leased transponders on two geosynchronous satellites. Sky Mexico
provides its services from leased transponders on a separate satellite. In addition, we lease a backup satellite that serves Sky Brasil and Sky
Mexico.

        We have entered into a contract for the lease of two additional satellites for PanAmericana: ISDLA-1, which we expect to be launched in
the fourth quarter of 2014 and ISDLA-2, which we expect to be launched in the fourth quarter of 2015. ISDLA-1 will become the primary
satellite for PanAmericana with a substantial increase in channel capacity from the current satellite, and ISDLA-2 is expected to serve as an
in-orbit spare for ISDLA-1.

        Our principal digital broadcast centers are located in the United States and Brazil. We also have several smaller satellite uplink facilities in
the region.

        We typically have customer service centers in each of the countries where we operate. In addition, we operate two pan-regional centers
located in Colombia that provide primary and backup customer service support to most of the PanAmericana region.

Competition

        The pay television and other emerging broadband video and data markets in Latin America are highly competitive. In each of our markets,
we compete primarily with other providers of pay television, which distribute their programming by satellite, cable, terrestrial microwave
systems, traditional over-the-air broadcasting or the Internet. In addition, in certain markets we face significant competition from illegal and
informal sector pay television operations. We compete primarily on the basis of programming selection, price, technology and service.

        In most of the markets in which we operate, cable television is our principal competitor. Cable operators typically offer analog services for
lower monthly fees and with lower upfront installation and connection fees than we offer. In addition, the cable operators with which we
compete are in various stages of upgrading their networks in order to provide broadband and telephony services, and in some markets the major
cable operators are competing with us based principally on their offer of a "triple play" bundle of video, broadband and telephony services. In
most cases, they discount the value of their programming services in order to sell broadband and telephony services.

Edgar Filing: DIRECTV - Form 10-K

29



        In addition to competition from cable services, we face increasing competition from other providers of DTH services. Telefonica, the
Spanish telephone company, provides DTH services in Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Peru and Venezuela. Telmex provides DTH service in Chile and
Peru, and in 2009 it launched services in Brazil through its affiliate, Embratel, which has since been rebranded as Claro TV. Oi, the second fixed
line incumbent in Brazil (in addition to Telefonica), launched a DTH service in 2009. Also, in Mexico a joint venture of EchoStar Corp. and
MVS

14

Edgar Filing: DIRECTV - Form 10-K

30



Table of Contents

DIRECTV

Comunicaciones launched a DTH service in 2009, with substantial commercial support and cooperation from Telmex, which, due to regulatory
restrictions, is not currently permitted to provide its own video services in Mexico. These competitors have significant resources and have
proven their ability to grow their businesses rapidly. They typically focus on offering lower-cost, limited services packages in support of their
telephony and broadband offerings, which can increase our churn and put pressure on our margins. Also, the existence of multiple DTH
operators in a single market dilutes our ability to market our DTH service as an alternative to cable, traditionally our principal competition.

        In a number of markets, existing wireline telephony operators have announced their intention to upgrade their infrastructure in order to
provide new and enhanced services, including IPTV video programming. However, to date only a very small number of such upgrades and build
outs have been actively pursued on other than a test basis.

ACQUISITIONS, STRATEGIC ALLIANCES AND DIVESTITURES

        We review our competitive position on an ongoing basis and, from time to time, consider various acquisitions, strategic alliances and
divestitures, including potential wireless broadband investments or alliances, in order to continue to compete effectively, improve our financial
results, grow our business and allocate our resources efficiently. We also consider periodically making equity investments in companies with
which we can jointly provide services to our subscribers.

        For a further discussion of our mergers and acquisitions, see Note 4 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8, Part II
of this Annual Report, which we incorporate herein by reference.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION

        We are subject to government regulation in the United States, primarily by the FCC, and similar regulatory agencies in Latin America, and
by other federal, state and local authorities. We are also subject to the rules and procedures of the International Telecommunications Union, a
specialized agency of the United Nations, which coordinates global telecommunications networks and services.

        The following is a summary of relevant regulatory issues and is not intended to describe all present and proposed government regulation
and legislation affecting our business.

        FCC Regulation Under the Communications Act and Related Acts.    The Communications Act and other related acts give the FCC broad
authority to regulate the operations of DIRECTV U.S.

        FCC regulations govern, among other issues:

�
the licensing of DBS and DTH satellites, earth stations and ancillary authorizations;

�
the assignment of frequencies and orbital slots, the relocation of satellites to different orbital locations, the extension of
licenses for existing satellites, and the replacement of an existing satellite with a new satellite;

�
terms and conditions of assignments and authorizations, including required timetables for construction and operation of
satellites; and

�
avoidance of interference by and to DBS/DTH operations with operations of other entities that make use of the radio
spectrum.

        All of our satellites and earth stations are licensed by the FCC. The FCC generally issues DTH space station licenses for a fifteen-year term
and DBS space station and earth station licenses for a ten-year term, which is less than the useful life of a healthy direct broadcast satellite. Upon
expiration of the initial license term, the FCC has the option to extend a satellite operator's license, authorize operation for a period of time on
special temporary authority, or decline to extend the license.
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        Currently, we have several applications pending before the FCC, including applications to launch and operate future satellites. In general,
the FCC's approval of these applications is required for us to continue to expand our range of service offerings while increasing the robustness of
our satellite fleet. We may not obtain these approvals in a timely fashion or at all.

        As a DBS/DTH licensee and operator we are also subject to a variety of Communications Act requirements, FCC regulations and copyright
laws that could materially affect our business. They include the following:

�
Local-into-Local Service and Limitation on Retransmission of Distant Broadcast Television Signals.  The Satellite Home
Viewer Act ("SHVA," which in this Annual Report includes its progeny legislation, the Satellite Home Viewer Improvement
Act of 1999; the Satellite Home Viewer Extension and Reauthorization Act of 2004; and the Satellite Television

15

Edgar Filing: DIRECTV - Form 10-K

32



Table of Contents

DIRECTV

Extension and Localism Act of 2010) allows DIRECTV U.S. to retransmit the signals of local broadcast television stations
in the stations' local markets without obtaining authorization from the holders of copyrights in the individual programs
carried by those stations. Another portion of SHVA also permits satellite retransmission of distant network stations
(e.g., those that originate outside of a satellite subscriber's local television market) only to "unserved households." A
subscriber qualifies as an "unserved household" if he or she cannot receive, over the air, a signal of sufficient intensity from
a local station affiliated with the same network, or falls into a few other very limited exceptions. SHVA also prohibits
DIRECTV U.S. from signing up a new subscriber to distant signals if that subscriber lives in a local market where
DIRECTV U.S. makes available the same-network local signal. The FCC has required DIRECTV U.S. to delete certain
programming, including sports programming, from the signals of certain distant stations. In addition, the FCC's continuing
interpretation, implementation and enforcement of other provisions of SHVA and judicial decisions could hamper the ability
of DIRECTV U.S. to retransmit local and distant network and superstation signals, reduce the number of our existing or
future subscribers that can qualify to receive these signals, impose compliance costs on us, or subject us to fines, monetary
damages or injunctions. The distant signal provisions are set to expire in 2014. Congress may decline to renew those
provisions, which could severely restrict our ability to retransmit distant signals.

�
Must Carry Requirement.  SHVA imposes a must carry obligation on DIRECTV U.S. This requires satellite carriers that
choose to take advantage of the statutory copyright license in a local market to carry upon request the signals of all
qualifying television broadcast stations within that local market, subject to limited exceptions. The FCC has adopted further
detailed rules covering our carriage of both commercial and non-commercial broadcast television stations. These rules
generally require us to carry all of the local broadcast stations properly requesting carriage in markets in which we retransmit
the signals of local broadcast stations. The projected number of markets in which we can deliver local broadcast
programming will continue to be constrained because of the must carry requirement and may be reduced depending on the
FCC's interpretation of its rules and judicial decisions. For example, the FCC issued an order requiring mandatory carriage
of high-definition digital signals in an increasing number of markets each year, requiring so-called "HD carry-one, carry-all"
in all local markets served by 2013. We may not be able to comply with these rules, or may be required to use capacity that
could otherwise be used for additional local or national programming.

�
Retransmission Consent.  For those local television broadcast stations that do not elect must carry, SHVA also requires
DIRECTV U.S. to obtain consent prior to retransmitting their signals to viewers. Television broadcast stations may withhold
this consent (subject to a requirement to negotiate in good faith), and other provisions of copyright and communications law
prevent DIRECTV from providing duplicate out-of-market programming in many instances. Thus, where consent is
withheld, DIRECTV U.S. subscribers may lose access to popular programming.

�
Public Interest Requirement.  The FCC has imposed certain public interest obligations on DBS operators, including a
requirement that such providers set aside four percent of channel capacity exclusively for noncommercial programming of
an educational or informational nature, for which we must charge programmers below-market rates and may not impose
additional charges on subscribers. FCC rules also require DIRECTV U.S. to comply with a number of political broadcasting
requirements and limits on the commercialization of children's programming. We believe that DIRECTV U.S. is in
compliance with all of these requirements, but some require our interpretations, which we believe are reasonable and
consistent with industry practice. However, the FCC may not agree.

�
Emergency Alert System.  The Emergency Alert System, or EAS, requires participants to interrupt programming during
nationally declared emergencies and to pass through emergency information. The FCC has adopted rules that require
satellite carriers to comply with this requirement. It may also mandate that satellite carriers interrupt programming for local
emergencies and weather events. Any such requirement would be very difficult to implement, would require costly changes
to our DBS/DTH system, and, depending on how it is implemented, could inconvenience or confuse our viewers. The FCC
is also considering whether to require that EAS alerts be provided in multiple languages or via text messages, which could
also prove difficult and costly.

�
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licenses. DBS frequencies and available DBS orbital locations capable of supporting our business have become increasingly
scarce. While we continue to explore new sources of DBS/DTH capacity, there can be no assurance that we will obtain
further capacity.

In 2007, the FCC adopted new service and licensing rules for broadcasting satellite services in the 17.3-17.8 GHz and
24.75-25.25 GHz bands, or 17/24 GHz BSS. This spectrum, also known as the "reverse band" (in that transmissions from
these satellites to consumers would occur in spectrum currently used for uplinking programming to traditional DBS
satellites), could provide a new source of additional DTH capacity. DIRECTV currently holds authorizations for satellites in
this band at two orbital locations. However, foreign operators who may have international priority have recently brought into
use conflicting ITU network filings at the two orbital locations at which we are licensed. Depending upon the ultimate
disposition of those filings, our use of one or both of these licenses may be limited or precluded entirely.

�
Rules Governing Co-Existence With Other Satellite and Terrestrial Services and Service Providers in the MVPD
Industry.  The FCC has adopted rules to allow non-geostationary orbit fixed satellite services to operate on a co-primary
basis in the same frequency band as the one used by direct broadcast satellite and Ku-Band-based fixed satellite services. In
the same proceeding, the FCC concluded that multi-channel video and data distribution services, or MVDDS, can share
spectrum with DBS operators on a non-interference basis, and adopted rules and a method for assigning licenses in that
service. While the FCC has established service and technical rules to protect DBS operations from harmful interference,
these rules may not be sufficient to prevent such interference, and such services may have a material adverse impact on our
operations. In addition, one MVDDS operator has received a conditional waiver of the applicable rules so that it could
operate its system in Albuquerque, New Mexico at substantially higher power levels, which may have a material adverse
impact on our operations in that market.

In 2006, the FCC released a notice of proposed rulemaking regarding the possible operation of "tweener" or "short spaced"
satellites that would operate in the same DBS uplink and downlink frequency bands as DIRECTV U.S., from orbital
positions located in between those now assigned to the DBS service. Under rules that the FCC is considering, a provider
could operate a satellite in between two orbital locations where we have already positioned DIRECTV U.S. satellites without
completing coordination of its operations and without demonstrating that such operations would not "affect" the DIRECTV
service. We have opposed this proposal, and believe that tweener satellites as proposed by applicants would cause
interference to current and planned operations and impose a significant constraint on the further growth of our DIRECTV
U.S. service. We cannot predict what if any action the FCC may take or the effect of such a proceeding on our business.

The FCC has also adopted rules that require satellite operators to take certain measures to mitigate the dangers of collision
and orbital debris. Among other things, these rules impose certain requirements for satellite design and end-of-life disposal
maneuvers, which apply to eight of our in-orbit satellites and may in the future be applied to others. We believe that we are
in compliance with all of these requirements, but the requirements could result in a slight reduction in the operational life of
each new satellite.

�
Geographic Service Rules.  The FCC requires DBS and 17/24 GHz BSS licensees to comply with certain geographic service
obligations intended to foster the provision of DTH service to subscribers residing in Alaska and Hawaii. We believe that we
are in compliance with these rules. The FCC has not acted on petitions filed several years ago by the State of Hawaii and an
Alaska satellite television dealer claiming a violation of those rules. We cannot be sure that the FCC will not require us to
make potentially cumbersome and costly changes to our business.

�
FCC Conditions Imposed In Connection With the Liberty Media and News Corporation Transactions.  In approving
Liberty Media's 2008 acquisition of News Corporation's equity investment in us, the FCC imposed a number of regulatory
conditions on us, some of which affected our business. In granting authority for subsequent transactions in 2009 and 2010,
the FCC conditioned its approval on continued compliance with those conditions. Accordingly, the FCC has imposed on us
program carriage conditions intended to prevent discrimination against all forms of unaffiliated programming; and
conditions intended to ensure non-discriminatory access to programming affiliated with DIRECTV. In
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particular, we may be required to submit to "baseball style" arbitration if we cannot arrive at terms for carriage of our
regional sports network programming with an MVPD.

�
Potential Regulation of Set-Top Receivers.  Cable operators are subject to a wide variety of regulation of their set-top
receivers, including a prohibition on "integrated" security and non-security functions. The FCC has exempted DTH satellite
operators from such rules, but has been urged to eliminate that exemption. Were it to do so, DIRECTV U.S. may be required
to redesign its set-top receivers and, conceivably, replace existing receivers. The D.C. Circuit recently vacated FCC rules
that limited cable and satellite operators' ability to encode programming to restrict copying and to use selectable output
control, which could give DIRECTV U.S. additional flexibility. The FCC has adopted accessibility requirements, such as the
pass-through or rendering of closed captioning and video description, and is considering additional requirements which
could require the redesign of DIRECTV's set-top receivers. The FCC is also considering an alternate regime under which all
MVPDs, including DIRECTV U.S, would be required to offer "All Vid interfaces" instead of their existing set-top receiver
arrangements. Such interfaces would be designed according to government specifications to deliver the DIRECTV U.S.
programming stream and related data for manipulation by third-party electronic equipment. DIRECTV U.S. believes such a
requirement would significantly hinder its ability to offer new and innovative services, and could complicate its customer
service efforts.

        International Telecommunications Union Rules.    We are required by international rules to coordinate the use of the frequencies on our
satellites with other satellite operators who may interfere with us or who may suffer interference from our operations.

        Export Control Regulation.    The delivery of satellite-related technical information for use by foreign manufacturing companies and of
satellites and related technical information for the purpose of launch by foreign launch services providers are subject to strict export control and
prior approval requirements.

        Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements.    DBS/DTH providers are subject to other federal and state regulatory requirements, such as
telemarketing and advertising rules, and subscriber privacy rules similar to those governing other MVPDs. We have agreed with the Federal
Trade Commission, or FTC, to (1) review and monitor compliance with telemarketing laws by any companies we authorize to do telemarketing
and by independent retailers, (2) investigate and respond to complaints about alleged improper telemarketing and (3) terminate our relationship
with marketers or retailers found in violation. Similarly, we have agreed with certain state attorneys general to comply with advertising
disclosure requirements and monitor compliance by independent retailers.

        We are also subject to state and federal rules and laws regarding information security. Most of these rules and laws apply to customer
information that could be used to commit identity theft. Substantially all of the U.S. states and the District of Columbia have enacted security
breach notification laws. These laws generally require that a business give notice to its customers whose financial account information has been
disclosed because of a security breach.

        In addition, aspects of DBS/DTH service remain regulated at the state and local level. For example, the FCC has promulgated rules
prohibiting restrictions by local government agencies and private organizations on the placement of DBS receiving antennas. Local governments
and homeowners associations, however, may continue to regulate the placement of such antennas if necessary to accomplish a clearly defined
public safety objective or to preserve a recognized historic district, and may also apply to the FCC for a waiver if there are other local concerns
of a special or unusual nature. In addition, a number of state and local governments have attempted to impose consumer protection, customer
service and other types of regulation on DBS operators. Also, while Congress has prohibited local taxation of DBS service, state taxation is
permissible, and many states have imposed such taxes, and additional states have attempted to do so recently. Incident to conducting a consumer
directed business, we occasionally receive inquiries or complaints from authorities such as state attorneys general and state consumer protection
offices or the FTC. These matters are generally resolved in the ordinary course of business, and DIRECTV recently agreed to implement a
restitution program for consumers who send eligible complaints related to consumer protection practices.

        In Latin America, DIRECTV Latin America and its subsidiaries are subject to laws and regulations in each country in which we operate
that govern many of the same aspects of our operations as in the United States, such as landing rights for satellites; spectrum, earth station and
other licenses; must carry and other requirements with respect to the channels we carry; and regulations governing telemarketing and customer
service. Regulatory regimes in Latin America are
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generally less developed than in the United States, and the application of existing laws and regulations to DBS/DTH providers is at times
uncertain. In addition, there are certain areas where regulations in Latin America are stricter than in the United States, such as regarding labor
and consumer protection laws. Foreign exchange laws in some countries can have a material impact on our ability to repatriate funds to the
United States. Also, several countries such as Venezuela, Argentina and Brazil have passed or proposed laws imposing certain "national" content
requirements, advertising limitations and other requirements on the content we distribute. Such laws can have an adverse impact on the business
of our subsidiaries.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

        All DIRECTV companies maintain active programs for identifying and protecting our important intellectual property. We believe that our
growing portfolio of pending and issued patents are important assets. We presently hold over 2,000 issued patents worldwide relating to our past
and present businesses, including over 500 patents developed by, or otherwise relating to, the businesses of DIRECTV U.S. We hold a
worldwide portfolio of over 900 trademarks related to the DIRECTV brand, the Cyclone Design and DIRECTV products and services. In
particular, DIRECTV U.S. holds trademark registrations relating to its business, including registrations of the primary "DIRECTV" and the
DIRECTV Cyclone Design trademarks. In many instances, these trademarks are licensed royalty-free to third parties for use in support of the
DIRECTV U.S. business. We actively protect our important patents, trademarks and other intellectual property rights against unauthorized or
improper use by third parties.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION

        We are subject to requirements of federal, state, local and foreign environmental laws and regulations. These include laws regulating air
emissions, water discharge, employee safety, and universal and hazardous waste management activities. We have an environmental management
function designed to track, facilitate and support our compliance with these requirements and attempt to maintain compliance with all such
requirements. We have made and will continue to make, as necessary, capital and other expenditures to comply with environmental
requirements. We do not, however, expect capital or other expenditures for environmental compliance to be material in 2013. In addition, we
periodically review environmental stewardship concepts (such as green initiatives and energy conservation strategies) and implement these
whenever feasible. We have been selected by the Environmental Protection Agency as a 2010, 2011 and 2012 Energy Star award winner for
excellence in energy efficient product design and recognized for our "leadership in advancing technology" to reduce energy while continuing to
deliver our service. Environmental requirements are complex, change frequently and have become increasingly more stringent over time.
Accordingly, we cannot provide assurance that these requirements will not change or become more stringent in the future in a manner that could
have a material adverse effect on our business.

        We are also subject to environmental laws requiring the investigation and cleanup of environmental contamination at facilities we formerly
owned or operated or currently own or operate or to which we sent hazardous wastes, including specified universal wastes, for treatment,
service, disposal or recycling. We are aware of contamination at one of our former sites. We are in the process of complying with the
requirements stipulated by the government agency overseeing the site cleanup and have allocated the funds to achieve the decontamination
goals.

SEGMENT REPORTING DATA

        Operating segment and principal geographic area data for 2012, 2011 and 2010 are summarized in Note 20 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements in Item 8, Part II of this Annual Report.

EMPLOYEES

        As of December 31, 2012, DIRECTV U.S. had approximately 15,000 full-time and 500 part-time employees, DIRECTV Latin America had
approximately 12,000 full-time and 2,000 part-time employees and Sports Networks and Other had approximately 200 full-time employees.

ACCESS TO COMPANY REPORTS

        Our website address is www.directv.com. Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on
Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished, if any, pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
are available free of charge through our website as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the
SEC. We are not incorporating by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K any information on our website.
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        DIRECTV, DIRECTV Cinema and the DIRECTV Cyclone Design are trademarks of The DIRECTV Group, Inc. and/or its related entities.
Other trademarks, service marks and trade names appearing in this Annual Report are the property of their respective holders.

 ITEM 1A.    RISK FACTORS

        You should carefully consider the following risk factors. The risks described below are not the only ones facing our company. Additional
risks not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our business, financial conditions or results of operations.

        Our business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially and adversely affected by the following:

We compete with other MVPDs, some of whom have greater resources than we do and levels of competition are increasing.

        We compete in the MVPD industry against cable television, telcos and wireless companies and other land-based and satellite-based system
operators with service offerings including video, audio and interactive programming, broadband and other entertainment services and telephony
service. Some of these competitors have greater financial, marketing and other resources than we do.

        Some cable television operators have large, established customer bases and many cable operators have significant investments in, and
access to, programming. Cable television operators have advantages relative to our U.S. operations, including or as a result of:

�
being the incumbent MVPD operator with an established subscriber base in the territories in which DIRECTV U.S.
competes;

�
access or telephone service on upgraded cable systems;

�
having legacy arrangements for exclusivity in certain multiple dwelling units and planned communities.

        In addition, certain cable companies and telcos in the U.S. and Latin America are capable of offering bundled video, broadband and
telecommunications services. In some cases, it appears that the video component of such bundled offerings is significantly underpriced and, in
effect, subsidized by the rates charged for broadband and telephony services. In Latin America, this practice of cross-subsidization is sometimes
incentivized by higher taxes on pay TV services than on telecommunication and broadband services. These pricing practices can influence
customers' willingness to subscribe to our service at rates we consider appropriate.

        Mergers, joint ventures and alliances among wireless or private cable television operators, telcos, broadband service providers and others
may result in an increase in the number of providers capable of offering such bundled services. For example, last year the FCC approved a
commercial arrangement under which four of the nation's largest cable operators and Verizon Wireless would act as agents selling one another's
services and engage in ongoing development of ways to integrate their wireless and wireline services.

        We have been unable to secure certain international programming, due to exclusive arrangements of programming providers with certain
competitors, which has constrained our ability to compete for subscribers who wish to obtain such programming. And as discussed below,
certain cable-affiliated programmers have withheld their programming from us in certain markets, which has further constrained our ability to
compete for subscribers in those markets.

        In the United States, various telcos and broadband service providers have deployed fiber optic lines directly to customers' homes or
neighborhoods to deliver video services, which compete with the DIRECTV service. It is uncertain whether we will be able to increase our
satellite capacity, offer a significant level of new services in existing markets in which we compete or expand to additional markets as may be
necessary to compete effectively. Some of these various telcos and broadband service providers also sell the DIRECTV service as part of a
bundle with their voice and data services. A new broadly-deployed network with the capability of providing video, voice and data services could
present a significant competitive challenge and, in the case of the telcos currently selling the DIRECTV service, could result in such companies
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focusing less effort and resources selling the DIRECTV service or declining to sell it at all. We may be unable to develop other distribution
methods to make up for lost sales through the telcos.

        As a result of these and other factors, we may not be able to continue to expand our subscriber base or compete effectively against cable
television or other MVPD operators in the future.
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Emerging digital media competition could materially adversely affect us.

        Our business is focused on video, and we face emerging competition from other providers of digital media, some of which have greater
financial, marketing and other resources than we do. In particular, programming offered over the Internet has become more prevalent as the
speed and quality of broadband networks have improved. Online video distributors and providers such as Hulu, Roku, Netflix, Apple, Amazon,
Blockbuster and Google, as well as gaming consoles such as Microsoft's Xbox, Sony's PS3 and Nintendo's Wii, are aggressively working to
become alternative providers of video services. Such services and the growing availability of online content, coupled with an expanding market
for connected devices and Internet-connected televisions, as well as wireless and other emerging mobile technologies that provide for the
distribution and viewing of video programming, pose a competitive challenge to traditional MVPDs, as a number of consumers may decide to
drop or reduce their traditional MVPD subscription package. Some of these services charge a nominal fee or no fee for access to their content,
which could adversely affect our business.

        Significant changes in consumer behavior with regard to how they obtain video entertainment and information in response to this emerging
digital media competition could materially adversely affect our revenues and earnings or otherwise disrupt our business.

We depend on others to produce programming and programming costs are increasing.

        Almost all of our programming is provided by unaffiliated third parties. Typically our programming agreements are multiple-year
agreements and contain annual price increases. Upon renewal of expiring contracts, programming suppliers have historically increased the rates
they charge us for programming. Often these increases are greater than the rate of inflation. We expect this practice to continue and the
negotiations over such increases to become more difficult and disruptive. Programming expenses will continue to be our largest single expense
item in the foreseeable future. Our industry has continued to experience an increase in the cost of programming, especially sports programming.
Continued increases in programming costs, including retransmission costs for broadcast programming, will cause us to increase the rates that we
charge our subscribers, which could in turn, especially in a difficult economic environment, cause subscribers to terminate their subscriptions or
potential new subscribers to refrain from subscribing to our service. Furthermore, due to the economy and other factors, we may be unable to
pass programming cost increases on to our subscribers. Alternatively, to attempt to mitigate the effect of price increases, we may refuse to carry
certain channels, which could adversely affect subscriber growth or result in higher churn.

        In addition, a limited number of cable-affiliated programmers have in the past denied us access to their programming. As discussed below,
the FCC's prohibition on most exclusive distribution arrangements involving cable operators and cable-affiliated programmers expired last year,
replaced by a case-by-case complaint procedure in which the burden rests with the complainant. Our ability to compete successfully will depend
on our ability to continue to obtain desirable programming and deliver it to our subscribers at competitive prices. We may not be able to renew
these agreements on favorable terms, or at all, or these agreements may be canceled prior to expiration of their original terms. If we are unable to
renew any of these agreements or the other parties cancel the agreements, we may not be able to obtain substitute programming, or what we
obtain may not be comparable in quality or cost to our existing programming.

        If we are unable to obtain rights to programming or to pass additional costs on, the potential loss of subscribers and the need to absorb some
or all of the additional costs could have a material adverse effect on our earnings or cash flow.

Increased subscriber churn or subscriber upgrade and retention costs could materially adversely affect our financial performance.

        Subscriber service cancellations, or churn, have a significant financial impact on the results of operations of any subscription television
provider, as does the cost of upgrading and retaining subscribers. Any increase in our upgrade and retention costs for our existing subscribers or
increased programming costs may adversely affect our financial performance or cause us to increase our subscription rates, which could increase
churn. Churn may also increase due to factors beyond our control, including churn by subscribers who are unable to pay their monthly
subscription fees, a slowing economy, significant signal theft, consumer fraud, a maturing subscriber base and competitive offers. Any of the
risks described in this Annual Report that could potentially have a material adverse impact on our costs or service quality or that could result in
higher prices for our subscribers could cause an increase in churn and consequently have a material adverse effect on our earnings and financial
performance.
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Our subscriber acquisition costs could materially increase.

        We incur costs for subscribers acquired by us and through third parties. These costs are known as subscriber acquisition costs and include
the cost of set-top receivers and other equipment, commissions we pay to third parties, and the cost of installation, advertising, marketing and
customer call center expenses associated with the acquisition of new subscribers. Our subscriber acquisition costs may materially increase if we
offer more costly advanced equipment or services, including connecting our receivers to the customers' broadband service, continue or expand
current sales promotion activities or introduce more aggressive promotions. Any material increase in subscriber acquisition costs from current
levels would negatively impact our earnings and could materially adversely affect our financial performance.

Results are impacted by the effect of, and changes in, economic conditions and weakening economic conditions may reduce subscriber
spending and our rate of growth of subscriber additions and may increase subscriber churn.

        Our business may be affected by factors that are beyond our control, such as downturns in economic activity, or in the MVPD industry.
Factors such as interest rates and the health of the housing market may impact our business. A substantial portion of our revenues comes from
residential customers whose spending patterns may be affected by prevailing economic conditions. Our market share in multiple dwelling units
such as apartment buildings is lower than that of many of our competitors. If unemployment and foreclosures of single family residences
increase, our earnings and financial performance could be negatively affected more than those of our competitors. In addition, if our customers
seek alternative means to obtain video entertainment, they may choose to purchase fewer services from us or may discontinue receiving our
services. Due to the economic and competitive environment, we may need to spend more, or we may provide greater discounts or credits, to
acquire and retain customers who in turn spend less on our services. If our ARPU decreases or does not increase commensurate with increases in
programming or other costs, our margins could become compressed and the long-term value of a customer would then decrease. The weak
economy may affect our net subscriber additions and reduce subscriber spending and, if these economic conditions continue or deteriorate,
subscriber growth could decline and churn could increase which would have a material adverse effect on our earnings and financial
performance.

DIRECTV Latin America is subject to various additional risks associated with doing business internationally, which include political
instability, economic instability and foreign currency exchange rate volatility.

        All of DIRECTV Latin America's operating companies are located outside the continental United States. DIRECTV Latin America
operates and has subscribers located throughout Latin America and the Caribbean, which makes it vulnerable to risks of conducting business in
foreign markets, including:

�
difficulties and costs associated with complying with a wide variety of complex laws, treaties and regulations;

�
unexpected changes in political or regulatory environments;

�
earnings and cash flows that may be subject to tax withholding requirements or the imposition of tariffs, exchange controls
or other restrictions;

�
restrictions on, or difficulties and costs associated with, the repatriation of cash from foreign countries to the United States;

�
political and economic instability;

�
import and export restrictions and other trade barriers;

�
difficulties in maintaining overseas subsidiaries and international operations;
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�
difficulties in obtaining approval for significant transactions;

�
government imposition of limitations on foreign ownership;

�
government takeover or nationalization of business; and

�
government mandated price controls.

        In the past, the countries that constitute some of DIRECTV Latin America's largest markets, including Brazil, Argentina, Colombia and
Venezuela have experienced economic crises, characterized by exchange rate instability, currency devaluation, high inflation, high interest rates,
economic contraction, a reduction or cessation of international capital flows, a reduction of liquidity in the banking sector and high
unemployment. These economic conditions have often been related to political instability. If these economic conditions recur, they could
substantially reduce the purchasing power of the population in our markets, including the middle-markets which we are targeting, and materially
adversely affect our business. Also, foreign currency exchange controls are currently in effect in Venezuela and
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Argentina, and have adversely affected our ability to repatriate cash balances from those countries.

        Because DIRECTV Latin America offers premium pay television programming, its business may be particularly vulnerable to economic
downturns. DIRECTV Latin America has in the past experienced, and may in the future experience, decreases or instability in consumer demand
for its programming and increases in subscriber credit problems. DIRECTV Latin America's inability to adjust its business and operations to
address these issues could materially adversely affect its revenues and ability to sustain profitable operations.

Our ability to keep pace with technological developments is uncertain.

        In our industry, changes occur rapidly as new technologies are developed, which could render our services and products obsolete. We may
not be able to keep pace with technological developments. If new technologies on which we focus our investments fail to achieve acceptance in
the marketplace or our technology does not work and requires significant cost to replace or fix, we could suffer a material adverse effect on our
future competitive position, which could cause a reduction in our revenues and earnings. Further, after incurring substantial costs, one or more of
the technologies under development by us or any of our strategic partners could become obsolete prior to its introduction.

        Technological innovation depends, to a significant extent, on the work of technically skilled employees. Competition for the services of
these employees has been vigorous. We may not be able to continue to attract and retain such employees.

        To access technologies and provide products that are necessary for us to remain competitive, we may make future acquisitions and
investments and may enter into strategic partnerships with other companies. Such investments may require a commitment of significant capital
and human and other resources. The value of such acquisitions, investments and partnerships and the technology accessed may be highly
speculative. Arrangements with third parties can lead to contractual and other disputes and dependence on others for the development and
delivery of necessary technology that we may not be able to control or influence. Such relationships may commit us to technologies that are
rendered obsolete by other developments or preclude the pursuit of other technologies which may prove to be superior.

Our business relies on intellectual property, some of which is owned by third parties, and we may inadvertently infringe patents and
proprietary rights of others.

        Many entities, including some of our competitors, have or may obtain patents and other intellectual property rights that cover or affect
products or services related to those that we currently offer or may offer. If a court determines that one or more of our services or the products
used to transmit or receive our services infringes on intellectual property owned by others, we and the applicable manufacturers or vendors may
be required to cease developing or marketing those services and products, to obtain licenses from the owners of the intellectual property or to
redesign those services and products in such a way as to avoid infringing the intellectual property rights. If a third party holds intellectual
property rights, it may not allow us or the applicable manufacturers to use its intellectual property at any price, which could materially adversely
affect our competitive position.

        We may not be aware of all intellectual property rights that our services or the products used to transmit or receive our services may
potentially infringe. U.S. patent applications are generally confidential until the Patent and Trademark Office issues a patent. Therefore, we
cannot evaluate the extent to which our services or the products used to transmit or receive our services may infringe claims contained in
pending patent applications. Further, without lengthy litigation, it is often not possible to determine definitively whether a claim of infringement
is valid.

        We cannot estimate the extent to which we may be required in the future to obtain intellectual property licenses or the availability and cost
of any such licenses. Those costs, and their impact on our earnings, could be material. Damages in patent infringement cases may also include
treble damages. If we are required to pay royalties to third parties, these increased costs could materially adversely affect our operating results.
We are currently being sued in patent infringement actions related to use of technologies in our DTH business. There can be no assurance that
the courts will conclude that our services or the products used to transmit or receive our services do not infringe on the rights of third parties,
that we or the manufacturers would be able to obtain licenses from these persons on commercially reasonable terms or, if we were unable to
obtain such licenses, that we or the manufacturers would be able to redesign our services or the products used to transmit or receive our services
to avoid infringement. The final disposition of these claims is not expected to have a material adverse effect on our consolidated
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financial position, but could possibly be material to our consolidated results of operations for any one period. Further, no assurance can be given
that any adverse outcome would not be material to our consolidated financial position. See "Legal Proceedings-Intellectual Property Litigation"
in Part I, Item 3 which is incorporated by reference herein.

We rely on key personnel.

        We believe that our future success will depend to a significant extent upon the performance of certain of our key executives. The loss of
certain of our key executives could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Construction or launch delays on satellites could materially adversely affect our revenues and earnings.

        A key component of our business strategy is our ability to expand our offering of new programming and services, including HD
programming. In order to accomplish this goal, we need to construct and launch new satellites. The construction and launch of satellites are
often subject to delays, including construction delays, unavailability of launch opportunities due to competition for launch slots, weather, general
delays when a launch provider experiences a launch failure, and delays in obtaining regulatory approvals. A significant delay in the delivery of
any satellite would materially adversely affect the use of the satellite and thus could materially adversely affect our anticipated revenues and
earnings. If satellite construction schedules are not met, there can be no assurance that a launch opportunity will be available at the time a
satellite is ready to be launched. Certain delays in satellite construction could also jeopardize a satellite authorization that is conditioned on
timely construction and launch of the satellite.

Satellites are subject to significant launch and operational risks.

        Satellites are subject to significant operational risks relating to launch and while in orbit. These risks include launch failure, incorrect orbital
placement or improper operation. Launch failures result in significant delays in the deployment of satellites because of the need both to construct
replacement satellites, which can take up to 36 months, and to obtain other launch opportunities. Any significant delays or failures in
successfully launching and deploying our satellites could materially adversely affect our ability to generate revenues. While we have
traditionally purchased insurance covering the launch and, in limited cases, operation of our satellites, such policies typically cover the loss of
the satellite itself or a portion thereof, and not the business interruption or other associated direct and indirect costs.

        In-orbit risks include malfunctions, commonly referred to as anomalies, and collisions with meteoroids, other spacecraft or other space
debris. Anomalies occur as a result of satellite manufacturing errors, problems with the power systems or control systems of the satellites and
general failures resulting from operating satellites in the harsh space environment. We work closely with our satellite manufacturers to determine
and eliminate the potential causes of anomalies in new satellites and provide for redundancies of critical components as well as having backup
satellite capacity. However, we cannot assure that we will not experience anomalies in the future, nor can we assure you that our backup satellite
capacity will be sufficient.

        Any single anomaly or series of anomalies could materially adversely affect our operations and revenues and our relationships with our
subscribers, as well as our ability to attract new subscribers for our services. Anomalies may also reduce the expected useful life of a satellite,
creating additional expenses due to the need to provide replacement or backup satellites and potentially reducing revenues if service is
interrupted. Finally, the occurrence of anomalies may materially adversely affect our ability to insure our satellites at commercially reasonable
premiums, if at all.

        Our ability to earn revenue also depends on the usefulness of our satellites. Each satellite has a limited useful life. A number of factors
affect the useful life of a satellite, including, among other things:

�
the design;

�
the quality of its construction;

�
the durability of its component parts;
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�
the insertion of the satellite into orbit;

�
any required movement, temporary or permanent, of the satellite;

�
the ability to continue to maintain proper orbit and control over the satellite's functions; and

�
the remaining on-board fuel following orbit insertion.
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        Generally, the minimum design life of the satellites in our fleet is between 12 and 16 years. The actual useful lives of the satellites may be
shorter or longer, in some cases significantly. Our operating results could be adversely affected if the useful life of any of our satellites were
significantly shorter than 12 years from the date of launch.

        In the event of a failure or loss of any of DIRECTV U.S.' satellites, DIRECTV U.S. may relocate another satellite and use it as a
replacement for the failed or lost satellite. In the event of a complete satellite failure, DIRECTV U.S.' services provided via that satellite could
be unavailable for several days or longer while backup in-orbit satellites are repositioned and services are moved. DIRECTV U.S. is not insured
for any resultant lost revenues. The use of backup satellite capacity for DIRECTV U.S. programming may require DIRECTV U.S. to
discontinue some programming services due to potentially reduced capacity on the backup satellite. Relocation of a DIRECTV U.S. satellite
may not require prior FCC approval if, among other things, the replacement satellite would operate within the authorized or coordinated
parameters of the failed or lost satellite. If that is not the case, prior FCC approval would be required. Such FCC approval may not be obtained.
DIRECTV U.S. believes we have in-orbit satellite capacity to expeditiously recover transmission of most of our programming in the event one
of our in-orbit satellites fails. However, programming continuity cannot be assured in the event of multiple satellite losses.

        DIRECTV Latin America provides its services in PanAmericana and Brazil using leased transponders on two satellites. Sky Mexico
provides its services from leased transponders on a separate satellite. Backup satellite capacity is available to serve Sky Brasil and Sky Mexico.
In the event of a failure of a satellite used to provide services to Sky Brasil or Sky Mexico, we believe DIRECTV Latin America has sufficient
in orbit back-up capacity to recover transmission of most of its programming distributed in those markets. However, in PanAmericana,
DIRECTV Latin America has no designated back up satellite capacity for the region and, therefore, programming continuity cannot be assured
in the event of a satellite loss.

        In addition, DIRECTV Latin America is dependent on third parties for the orbital slots in which its leased satellites are located. If those
third parties fail to adequately protect their rights to continued use of and other rights related to those orbital slots, or fail to take appropriate
steps to manage potential conflicts with rights holders for adjacent orbital slots, then DIRECTV Latin America could lose rights to operate from
those locations or may otherwise be required to modify or limit its operations from those locations which could materially adversely affect
DIRECTV Latin America's transmission capacity and its ability to compete in regions served from those orbital slots.

The loss of a satellite that is not insured could materially adversely affect our earnings.

        Any launch vehicle failure, or loss or destruction of any of our satellites, even if insured, could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition and results of operations, our ability to comply with FCC regulatory obligations and our ability to fund the construction or
acquisition of replacement satellites in a timely fashion, or at all. At December 31, 2012, the net book value of in-orbit satellites was
$1,664 million, none of which was insured.

DIRECTV U.S. depends on the Communications Act for access to cable-affiliated programming and changes impacting that access
could materially adversely affect us.

        DIRECTV U.S. purchases a substantial percentage of programming from programmers that are affiliated with cable system operators,
including key RSNs. Currently, under certain provisions of the Communications Act governing access to programming, cable-affiliated
programmers generally must sell and deliver their programming services to all MVPDs on non-discriminatory terms and conditions.

        Any change in the Communications Act or the FCC's rules that would permit programmers that are affiliated with cable system operators to
refuse to provide such programming or to impose discriminatory terms or conditions could materially adversely affect our ability to acquire
programming on a cost-effective basis, or at all. Most recently, the Communications Act prohibitions on certain cable industry exclusive
contracting practices with cable-affiliated programmers expired in October 2012. Under the remaining rules, DIRECTV may bring complaints
on a case-by-case basis alleging that a particular instance of exclusivity constitutes a prohibited "unfair practice" that has the purpose or effect of
significantly hindering or preventing DIRECTV from providing programming to consumers. The FCC is currently considering whether to adopt
additional safeguards, such as rebuttable presumptions in favor of complainants, but we cannot predict what if any action the FCC will take.
Regardless of the outcome of those considerations, the weakening of the program access rules may increase the ability of cable-affiliated
programmers to deny DIRECTV access to their programming.
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        In addition, certain cable providers have in the past denied us and other MVPDs access to a limited number of channels created by
programmers with which the cable providers are affiliated. In other cases, such programmers have denied MVPDs high-definition feeds of such
programming. The cable providers have asserted that they are not required by the Communications Act to provide such programming (or
resolution) due to the manner in which that programming is distributed. The FCC adopted rules to close this loophole. However, they require an
evidentiary showing by an MVPD seeking access to such programming and cable operators have vigorously contested such showings proffered
by other complainants. If we were not able to make the required evidentiary showing, we could be precluded from obtaining such programming,
which in turn could materially adversely affect our ability to compete in regions serviced by those cable providers.

        DIRECTV U.S. itself is subject to similar restrictions with respect to certain programmers affiliated with us. The FCC imposed a number of
conditions on its approval of Liberty Media's acquisition of News Corporation's interest in DIRECTV which continue to apply. Those conditions
require DIRECTV U.S. to offer national and regional programming services it controls to all MVPDs on non-exclusive and non-discriminatory
terms and conditions, and prohibits DIRECTV U.S. from entering into exclusive arrangements with affiliated programmers or unduly
influencing such programmers in their dealings with other MVPDs.

        We are subject to significant regulatory oversight and changes in applicable regulatory requirements could adversely affect our business.
You should review the regulatory disclosures under the caption "Item 1�Business�Government Regulation�FCC Regulation Under the
Communications Act and Related Acts" which is incorporated here by reference.

Changes to and implementation of statutory copyright license requirements may negatively affect our ability to deliver local and distant
broadcast stations, as well as other aspects of our business.

        We carry the signals of local and distant broadcast stations pursuant to statutory copyright licenses contained in SHVA, and our carriage of
these stations is governed by the FCC and Copyright Office implementing regulations. Any changes to such laws or regulations could limit our
ability to deliver local or distant broadcast signals. More generally, we have limited capacity, and the projected number of markets in which we
can deliver local broadcast programming will continue to be constrained because of the statutory "carry-one, carry-all" requirement and may be
reduced depending on the FCC's interpretation of its rules, as well as judicial decisions. We may not be able to comply with these must carry
rules, or compliance may mean that we are not able to use capacity otherwise for new or additional local or national programming services. In
addition, the FCC has issued an increasing obligation for carriage of local digital broadcast transmissions in HD format. We may be unable to
comply with this requirement in markets where we currently carry such signals without ceasing HD local service entirely in some markets, and
would be precluded from launching additional markets currently planned.

        The FCC has adopted rules requiring us to negotiate in good faith with broadcast stations seeking carriage outside of the mandatory
carriage regime described elsewhere. The rules for "retransmission consent" negotiations require us to negotiate in good faith with programming
providers. Failure to comply with these rules could subject us to administrative sanctions and other penalties. Moreover, the FCC is considering
changes to these and other rules related to retransmission consent, which could make negotiations more difficult, increase fees charged for
carriage, or result in the increased withholding of broadcast signals.

Satellite programming signals have been stolen and may be stolen, which could result in lost revenues and would cause us to incur
incremental operating costs that do not result in subscriber acquisition.

        The delivery of subscription programming requires the use of conditional access technology to limit access to programming to only those
who are authorized to view it. The conditional access system uses encryption technology to protect the transmitted signal from unauthorized
access. It is illegal to create, sell or otherwise distribute software or devices to circumvent that conditional access technology. However, theft of
cable and satellite programming has been widely reported, and the access cards used in our conditional access system have been, and could be
compromised in the future.

        We have undertaken various initiatives with respect to our conditional access system to further enhance the security of the DIRECTV
signal. We provide our subscribers with advanced access cards that we believe significantly enhance the security of our signal. We believe these
access cards have not been compromised. However, we cannot guarantee that these advanced access cards will prevent future
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theft of our satellite programming signals. There can be no assurance that we will succeed in developing the technology we need to effectively
restrict or eliminate signal theft. If our current access cards are compromised, our revenue and our ability to contract for programming could be
materially adversely affected. In addition, our operating costs could increase if we attempt to implement additional measures to combat signal
theft.

        In addition, particularly in Latin America, we also face other forms of signal theft, including illegal retransmission of our signal through
unauthorized cable head-ends and internet key sharing schemes. If we are not able to contain and combat these and other forms of signal theft,
such schemes could limit our growth and materially adversely affect our ability to generate revenue.

The ability to maintain FCC licenses and other regulatory approvals is critical to our business.

        If we do not obtain all requisite U.S. regulatory approvals for the construction, launch and operation of any of our existing or future
satellites, for the use of frequencies at the orbital locations planned for these satellites or for the provision of service, or the licenses obtained
impose operational restrictions on us, our ability to generate revenue and profits could be materially adversely affected. In addition, under
certain circumstances, existing licenses are subject to revocation or modification and upon expiration, extension or renewal may not be granted.
If existing licenses are not extended or renewed, or are revoked or materially modified, our ability to generate revenue could be materially
adversely affected.

        Other U.S. regulatory risks include:

�
the relocation of satellites to different orbital locations if the FCC determines that relocation is in the public interest;

�
the denial by the FCC of an application to replace an existing satellite with a new satellite, or to operate a satellite beyond
the term of its current authorization, or to operate an earth station to communicate with such satellite; and

�
the authorization by the United States or foreign governments of the use of frequencies by third party satellite or terrestrial
facilities that have the potential to interfere with communication to or from our satellites, which could interfere with our
contractual obligations or services to subscribers or other business operations.

        All of our FCC satellite authorizations are subject to conditions imposed by the FCC in addition to the FCC's general authority to modify,
cancel or revoke those authorizations. Use of FCC licenses and other authorizations are often subject to conditions, including technical
requirements and implementation deadlines. Failure to comply with such requirements, or comply in a timely manner, could lead to the loss of
authorizations and could have a material adverse effect on our ability to generate revenue. For example, loss of an authorization could
potentially reduce the amount of programming and other services available to our subscribers. The materiality of such a loss of authorization
would vary based upon, among other things, the orbital location at which the frequencies may be used.

        Moreover, some of our authorizations and future applications may be subject to petitions and oppositions, and there can be no assurance
that our authorizations will not be canceled, revoked or modified or that our applications will not be denied. The outcomes of any legislative or
regulatory proceedings or their effect on our business cannot be predicted. You should review "Item 1. Business�Government Regulation�FCC
Regulation Under the Communications Act and Related Acts," which is incorporated here by reference.

DIRECTV U.S. has significant debt.

        The carrying value of DIRECTV U.S.' debt, which is guaranteed by DIRECTV, totaled $17,528 million as of December 31, 2012. If we do
not have sufficient income or other sources of cash, it could affect our ability to service debt and pay other obligations.

We may not be able to obtain or retain certain foreign regulatory approvals.

        There can be no assurance that any current regulatory approvals held by us are, or will remain, sufficient in the view of foreign regulatory
authorities, or that any additional necessary approvals will be granted on a timely basis or at all, in all jurisdictions in which we operate, or that
applicable restrictions in those jurisdictions will not be unduly burdensome. The failure to obtain and maintain the authorizations necessary to
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We have an indemnity obligation to Liberty Media, which is not limited in amount, that could be triggered if parts of the Liberty
Transaction or Liberty's 2008 Transaction with News Corporation are treated as a taxable transaction.

        On November 19, 2009, The DIRECTV Group, Inc., or DIRECTV Group, and Liberty Media Corporation, which we refer to as Liberty
Media, obtained stockholder approval of and closed a series of related transactions which we refer to collectively as the Liberty Transaction. The
Liberty Transaction included the split-off of certain of the assets of the Liberty Entertainment group into Liberty Entertainment, Inc., or LEI,
which was then split-off from Liberty. Following the split-off, DIRECTV Group and LEI merged with subsidiaries of DIRECTV. As a result of
the Liberty Transaction, DIRECTV Group, which is comprised of the DIRECTV U.S. and DIRECTV Latin America businesses, and LEI, which
held Liberty's 57% interest in DIRECTV Group, a 100% interest in three regional sports television networks and a 65% interest in GSN, became
wholly owned subsidiaries of DIRECTV.

        Despite obtaining a private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue Service and an opinion of legal counsel to the effect that parts of the
Liberty Transaction qualified as a tax-free distribution for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the continuing validity of such ruling and opinion is
subject to the accuracy of factual representations and certain assumptions. Any inaccuracy in such representations could invalidate the ruling,
and failure to comply with any undertakings made in connection with such tax opinion could alter the conclusions reached in such opinion. Even
if parts of the Liberty Transaction otherwise qualify for tax-free treatment, it would result in a significant U.S. federal income tax liability to
Liberty Media if one or more persons acquire a 50% or greater interest in the DIRECTV common stock as part of a plan or series of related
transactions that includes the Liberty Transaction. The process for determining whether an acquisition is part of a plan under these rules is
complex, inherently factual and subject to interpretation of the facts and circumstances of a particular case. Liberty Media or DIRECTV might
inadvertently cause or permit a prohibited change in the ownership of DIRECTV to occur, thereby triggering a tax liability to Liberty Media.

        In addition, Liberty Media entered into a tax matters agreement with News Corporation in connection with its 2008 transaction with News
Corporation, pursuant to which Liberty Media agreed, among other things, to indemnify News Corporation and certain related persons for taxes
resulting from actions taken by Liberty Media or its affiliates that cause such transaction (or related restructuring transactions) not to qualify as
tax-free transactions. Liberty Media's indemnification obligations to News Corporation and certain related persons are not limited in amount.

        Under a Tax Sharing Agreement between Liberty Media and DIRECTV, in certain circumstances DIRECTV is obligated to indemnify
Liberty Media and certain related persons for any losses and taxes resulting from the failure of the Liberty Transaction to be tax-free transactions
and from any losses resulting from Liberty Media's indemnity obligations to News Corporation under the tax matters agreement between News
Corporation and Liberty Media. If DIRECTV is required to indemnify Liberty Media or certain related persons under the circumstances set forth
in the Tax Sharing Agreement, we may be subject to substantial liabilities not limited in amount. In such a circumstance, we may be required to
make payments or dividends to satisfy such liabilities that could either breach covenants in our credit facilities and bond indentures or require
additional or accelerated payments, which could materially adversely affect our financial position and short term operating results.

We may be required to forgo certain transactions in order to avoid the risk of incurring significant tax-related liabilities.

        We might be required to forgo certain transactions that might have otherwise been advantageous in order to preserve the tax-free treatment
of the Liberty Transaction. In particular, we might be required to forgo certain transactions, including asset dispositions or other strategic
transactions for some period of time following the Liberty Transaction so as not to trigger any liability under the tax indemnification obligations.

We rely on network and information systems and other technology, and a disruption or failure of such networks, systems or technology
as a result of, misappropriation of data or other malfeasance, as well as outages, natural disasters, accidental releases of information or
similar events, may disrupt our business.

        Because network and information systems and other technologies are critical to our operating activities, network or information system
shutdowns caused by events such as computer hacking on our network or our DIRECTV.com website, dissemination of computer viruses,
worms and other destructive or disruptive
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software, and other malicious activity including industrial espionage and malicious social engineering, as well as power outages, natural
disasters such as earthquakes, terrorist attacks and similar events, pose significant risks. Due to the fast-moving pace of technological
advancements, it may be difficult to detect, contain and remediate every such event. Such an event could have an adverse impact on our
operations, including service disruption, degradation of service, excessive call volume to call centers and damage to our broadcast centers, other
properties, equipment and data. Such an event also could result in large expenditures necessary to repair or replace such networks or information
systems or to protect them from similar events in the future. Third parties may also experience errors or disruptions that could adversely impact
our business operations and over which we have limited control. Significant incidents could result in a disruption of our operations, customer
dissatisfaction, or a loss of customers or revenues. The amount and scope of insurance we maintain against losses resulting from these events
may not be sufficient to cover our losses or otherwise adequately compensate us for any disruptions to our business that may result. Furthermore,
our operating activities could be subject to risks caused by misappropriation, misuse, leakage, falsification and accidental release or loss of
information maintained in our information technology systems and networks, including customer, personnel and vendor data. We could be
exposed to significant costs if such risks were to materialize, and such events could damage our reputation and credibility and have a negative
impact on our revenues. We also could be required to expend significant capital and other resources to remedy any such security breach. As a
result of the increasing awareness concerning the importance of safeguarding personal information, the potential misuse of such information and
legislation that has been adopted or is being considered regarding the protection, privacy and security of personal information, the liability
associated with information-related risks is increasing, particularly for businesses like ours that handle a large amount of personal customer data.
The occurrence of any such network or information systems related events or security breaches could have a material adverse effect on our
business and results of operations.

We face risks arising from the outcome of various legal proceedings.

        We are involved in various legal proceedings, including those arising in the ordinary course of business, such as consumer class actions and
those described under the caption "Legal Proceedings" in Part I, Item 3 incorporated by reference herein. Such matters include investigations and
legal actions by the FTC and state attorneys general where regulators may seek monetary damages and may also seek to require or prohibit
certain actions by us with regard to our current or potential customers. While we do not believe that any of these proceedings alone or in the
aggregate will have a material effect on our consolidated financial position, an adverse outcome in one or more of these matters or the
imposition of conditions by regulators on the conduct of our business could be material to our consolidated results of operations and cash flows
for any one period. Further, no assurance can be given that any adverse outcome would not be material to our consolidated financial position.

Our strategic initiatives may not be successfully implemented, may not elicit the expected customer response in the market and may
result in competitive reactions.

        The Company has identified a number of strategic initiatives that it intends to pursue which are discussed in more detail in the "Business
Strategy" section beginning in Part I, Item 1 of this Annual Report. The successful implementation of those strategic initiatives requires an
investment of time, talent and money and is dependent upon a number of factors some of which are not within our control. Those factors include
the ability to execute such initiatives in the market, the response of existing and potential new customers, and the reaction of competitors. If we
fail to properly execute or deliver products or services that do not address customers' expectations, it may have an adverse effect on our ability to
retain and attract customers and may increase our costs and reduce our revenues. Similarly, competitive reaction to our initiatives or
advancements in technology or competitive products or services could impair our ability to execute or could limit the effectiveness of those
strategic initiatives. There can be no assurance that we will successfully implement these strategic initiatives or that, if successfully pursued,
they will have the desired result on our business or results of operations.

We may face other risks described from time to time in periodic reports filed by us with the SEC.

        From time to time, we may disclose other relevant risks in other periodic reports that we file with the SEC. We urge you to consider the
above risk factors and any other risks disclosed in such periodic reports carefully in evaluating the forward-looking statements contained in this
Annual Report. The forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report are made only as of the date of this
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Annual Report and we undertake no obligation to publicly update these forward-looking statements to reflect subsequent events or
circumstances.

 ITEM 1B.    UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

        None.

 ITEM 2.    PROPERTIES

        As of December 31, 2012, we had approximately 216 owned and leased locations operating in the United States and Latin America. The
major locations of the DIRECTV U.S. segment include eight administrative offices, two broadcast centers and six call centers. The major
locations of the DIRECTV Latin America segment include 11 administrative offices, four broadcast centers and eight call centers. We consider
our properties adequate for our present needs.

 ITEM 3.    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

        (a)    Material pending legal proceedings, other than ordinary routine litigation incidental to the business, to which we became or were a
party during the year ended December 31, 2012 or subsequent thereto, but before the filing of the report, are summarized below:

        Pegasus Development Corporation and Personalized Media Communications L.L.C.    In December, 2000, Pegasus Development
Corporation, or Pegasus, and Personalized Media Communications L.L.C., or PMC, filed suit in the United States District Court for the District
of Delaware against DIRECTV, Inc., Hughes Electronics Corporation, Thomson Consumer Electronics, Inc., and Philips Electronics North
America Corporation. The suit alleged infringement of certain claims of seven United States patents and sought an injunction and a monetary
award including damages for infringement, interest, costs, and attorney's fees. In May, 2003, the suit was stayed pending reexamination by the
United States Patent and Trademark Office of certain claims of the asserted patents. The stay was lifted in November, 2011, and trial is presently
scheduled for November, 2013. The suit now involves claims of four of the seven patents originally asserted, all of which have expired, and the
validity and infringement of which are disputed by DIRECTV.

        Other Intellectual Property Litigation.    We are a defendant in several unrelated lawsuits claiming infringement of various patents relating
to various aspects of our businesses. In certain of these cases other industry participants are also defendants, and also in certain of these cases we
expect that any potential liability would be the responsibility of our equipment vendors pursuant to applicable contractual indemnification
provisions. To the extent that the allegations in these lawsuits can be analyzed by us at this stage of their proceedings, we believe the claims are
without merit and intend to defend the actions vigorously. We have determined the likelihood of a material liability in such matters is remote or
have made appropriate accruals and the final disposition of these claims is not expected to have a material effect on our consolidated financial
position. However, if an adverse ruling is made in a lawsuit involving key intellectual property, such ruling could possibly be material to our
consolidated results of operations of any one period. No assurance can be given that any adverse outcome would not be material to our
consolidated financial position.

        Early Cancellation Fees.    In 2008, a number of plaintiffs filed putative class action lawsuits in state and federal courts challenging the
early cancellation fees we assess our customers when they do not fulfill their programming commitments. Several of these lawsuits are pending,
some in California state court purporting to represent statewide classes, and some in federal courts purporting to represent nationwide classes.
The lawsuits seek both monetary and injunctive relief. While the theories of liability vary, the lawsuits generally challenge these fees under state
consumer protection laws as both unfair and inadequately disclosed to customers. Our motions to compel arbitration have been granted in all of
the federal cases, except as to claims seeking injunctive relief under California statutes. The denial of our motion as to those claims is currently
on appeal. We believe that our early cancellation fees are adequately disclosed, and represent reasonable estimates of the costs we incur when
customers cancel service before fulfilling their programming commitments.

        From time to time, we receive investigative inquiries or subpoenas from state and federal authorities with respect to alleged violations of
state and federal statutes. These inquiries may lead to legal proceedings in some cases. DIRECTV U.S. has received a request for information
from the FTC on issues similar to those resolved in 2011 with a multistate group of state attorneys general. We are cooperating with the FTC by
providing information about our sales and marketing practices and customer complaints.
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responsible for collecting performance rights fees under Brazilian law. Sky Brasil has been withholding payments to ECAD since 2004, and has
accrued amounts we and Sky Brasil believe are adequate to satisfy amounts owed to ECAD. In order to continue its opposition to ECAD's
claims, Sky Brasil has provided letters of credit in the amount of approximately $103 million. Sky Brasil's dispute with ECAD is currently
pending in the Superior Justice Tribunal, and there are other claims by the Brazilian pay television association, known as ABTA, against ECAD
before the Brazilian antitrust board, or CADE, which may affect ECAD or the rights fees it is attempting to collect.

        Waste Disposal Inquiry.    On August 20, 2012, DIRECTV U.S. received from the State of California subpoenas and interrogatories related
to our generation, handling, recordkeeping, transportation and disposal of hazardous waste, including universal waste, in the State of California,
and the training of employees regarding the same. The investigation is jointly conducted by the Office of the Attorney General and the District
Attorney for Alameda County and appears to be part of a broader effort to investigate waste handling and disposal processes of a number of
industries. We are diligently reviewing our policies and procedures applicable to all facilities and cooperating with the investigation. As this
inquiry is in its early stages, we are currently unable to reasonably estimate the outcome of this matter.

        Other.    We are subject to other legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of our business. The amount of ultimate
liability with respect to such actions is not expected to materially affect our financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

        (b)   No previously reported legal proceedings were terminated during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2012.

 ITEM 4.    MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

        Not applicable.
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 PART II

 ITEM 5.    MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Common Stock Price

        Our common stock is publicly traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol "DTV." The following table sets forth for
the quarters indicated the high and low sales prices for our common stock, as reported on the NASDAQ Global Select Market.

2012 High Low
Fourth Quarter $ 54.08 $ 48.00
Third Quarter 55.17 46.59
Second Quarter 50.35 42.87
First Quarter 49.99 41.92

2011 High Low
Fourth Quarter $ 48.60 $ 39.82
Third Quarter 53.40 40.22
Second Quarter 51.23 45.52
First Quarter 47.40 40.20
        As of the close of business on February 13, 2013, there were 46,169 holders of record of our common stock.

Dividend Rights and Other Stockholder Matters

        Holders of our common stock are entitled to such dividends and other distributions in cash, stock or property as may be declared by our
Board of Directors in its sole discretion, subject to the preferential and other dividend rights of any outstanding series of our preferred stock.
There were no shares of our preferred stock outstanding at December 31, 2012.

        No dividends on our common stock have been declared by our Board of Directors for more than five years. We have no current plans to pay
any dividends on our common stock. We currently expect to use our future earnings, if any, for the development of our businesses or other
corporate purposes, which may include share repurchases.

        Information regarding compensation plans under which our equity securities may be issued is included in Item 12 through incorporation by
reference to our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders scheduled to be held on May 2, 2013.

Share Repurchase Programs

        Since 2006 our Board of Directors has approved multiple authorizations for the repurchase of our common stock. In February 2013, our
Board of Directors terminated the remaining $857 million available under the 2012 authorization and authorized up to an additional $4 billion
for repurchases of our common stock. The authorizations allow us to repurchase our common stock from time to time through open market
purchases and negotiated transactions or otherwise. The timing, nature and amount of such transactions will depend on a variety of factors,
including market conditions and the program may be suspended, discontinued or accelerated at any time. The sources of funds for the purchases
are our existing cash on hand, cash from operations and potential additional borrowings. Purchases are made on the open market, through block
trades and other negotiated transactions. Repurchased shares are retired but remain authorized for registration and issuance in the future.

        A summary of the repurchase activity for the three months ended December 31, 2012 is as follows:

Period Total
Number

Average Price
Paid Per Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchased

Maximum Dollar
Value that May
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of Shares
Purchased

as Part of
Publicly

Announced Plans
or Programs

Yet Be Purchased
Under the Plans

or Programs

(Amounts in Millions, Except Per Share Amounts)
October 1 - 31, 2012 8 $ 51.45 8 $ 2,579
November 1 - 30, 2012 5 49.61 5 2,315
December 1 - 31, 2012 12 49.49 12 1,719

Total 25 50.12 25 1,719

        For additional information regarding our share repurchases see Note 15 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II,
Item 8 of this Annual Report.
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 ITEM 6.    SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(Dollars in Millions, Except Per Share Amounts)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenues $ 29,740 $ 27,226 $ 24,102 $ 21,565 $ 19,693
Total operating costs and expenses 24,655 22,597 20,206 18,892 16,998

Operating profit $ 5,085 $ 4,629 $ 3,896 $ 2,673 $ 2,695

Net income attributable to DIRECTV $ 2,949 $ 2,609 $ 2,198 $ 942 $ 1,515
Basic earnings attributable to DIRECTV common stockholders per common
share $ 4.62 $ 3.49 $ 2.31 $ 0.96 $ 1.36
Diluted earnings attributable to DIRECTV common stockholders per
common share $ 4.58 $ 3.47 $ 2.30 $ 0.95 $ 1.36
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) attributable to DIRECTV Class B common
stockholders per common share, for the period of November 19, 2009
through June 16, 2010, including $160 million exchange inducement value
for the Malone Transaction $ � $ � $ 8.44 $ (0.02) $ �
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding (in millions):
Basic 638 747 870 982 1,110
Diluted 644 752 876 989 1,114
Weighted average number of Class B common shares outstanding, for the
period of November 19, 2009 through June 16, 2010 (in millions) :
Basic � � 22 22 �
Diluted � � 22 22 �
Weighted average number of total common shares outstanding (in millions):
Basic 638 747 880 985 1,110
Diluted 644 752 886 992 1,114

As of December 31,

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(Dollars in Millions)

Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:
Total assets $ 20,555 $ 18,423 $ 17,909 $ 18,260 $ 16,539
Obligations under capital leases 528 545 580 586 584
Long-term debt 17,170 13,464 10,472 6,500 5,725
Total stockholders' equity (deficit) (5,431) (3,107) (194) 2,911 4,631

See the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations for additional information regarding significant transactions during each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2012.
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 ITEM 7.    MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

 CAUTIONARY STATEMENT FOR PURPOSE OF THE "SAFE HARBOR" PROVISIONS OF THE PRIVATE SECURITIES
LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995

        This Annual Report on Form 10-K may contain certain statements that we believe are, or may be considered to be, "forward-looking
statements" within the meaning of various provisions of the Securities Act of 1933 and of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These
forward-looking statements generally can be identified by use of statements that include phrases such as we "believe," "expect," "estimate,"
"anticipate," "intend," "plan," "foresee," "project" or other similar references to future periods. Examples of forward-looking statements include,
but are not limited to, statements we make related to our business strategy and regarding our outlook for 2013 financial results, liquidity and
capital resources.

        Forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations and assumptions regarding our business, the economy and other future
conditions. Because forward-looking statements relate to the future, they are subject to inherent uncertainties, risks and changes in circumstances
that are difficult to predict. Our actual results may differ materially from those contemplated by the forward-looking statements. We caution you
therefore against relying on any of these forward-looking statements. They are neither statements of historical fact nor guarantees or assurances
of future performance. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements include
economic, business, competitive, national or global political, market and regulatory conditions and other risks, each of which is described in
more detail in Item 1A�Risk Factors of this Annual Report.

        Any forward looking statement made by us in this Annual Report on Form 10-K speaks only as of the date on which it is made. Factors or
events that could cause our actual results to differ may occur and it is not possible for us to predict them all. We undertake no obligation to
publicly update any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise, except as required by
law.

CONTENTS

        The following is a discussion of our results of operations and financial condition. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report. Information in this section is organized as follows:

�
Summary Results of Operations and Financial Condition

�
Significant Events Affecting the Comparability of the Results of Operations

�
Key Terminology

�
Executive Overview and Outlook

�
Results of Operations

�
Liquidity and Capital Resources

�
Contractual Obligations
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�
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

�
Contingencies

�
Certain Relationships and Related-Party Transactions

�
Critical Accounting Estimates

�
Accounting Changes
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 SUMMARY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(Dollars in Millions, Except Per

Share Amounts)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenues $ 29,740 $ 27,226 $ 24,102
Total operating costs and expenses 24,655 22,597 20,206

Operating profit 5,085 4,629 3,896
Interest income 59 34 39
Interest expense (842) (763) (557)
Liberty transaction and related gain � � 67
Other, net 140 84 69

Income before income taxes 4,442 3,984 3,514
Income tax expense (1,465) (1,348) (1,202)

Net income 2,977 2,636 2,312
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest (28) (27) (114)

Net income attributable to DIRECTV $ 2,949 $ 2,609 $ 2,198

Net income attributable to DIRECTV common stockholders $ 2,949 $ 2,609 $ 2,014
Net income attributable to DIRECTV Class B common stockholders, for the period of January 1,
2010 through June 16, 2010, including $160 million exchange inducement value for the Malone
Transaction � � 184

Net income attributable to DIRECTV $ 2,949 $ 2,609 $ 2,198

Basic earnings attributable to DIRECTV common stockholders per common share $ 4.62 $ 3.49 $ 2.31
Diluted earnings attributable to DIRECTV common stockholders per common share $ 4.58 $ 3.47 $ 2.30
Basic and diluted earnings attributable to DIRECTV Class B common stockholders per common
share, for the period of January 1, 2010 through June 16, 2010, including $160 million exchange
inducement value for the Malone Transaction $ � $ � $ 8.44
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding (in millions):
Basic 638 747 870
Diluted 644 752 876
Weighted average number of Class B common shares outstanding, for the period of January 1, 2010
through June 16, 2010 (in millions) :
Basic � � 22
Diluted � � 22
Weighted average number of total common shares outstanding (in millions):
Basic 638 747 880
Diluted 644 752 886
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 SUMMARY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION�(continued)

December 31,

2012 2011
(Dollars in Millions)

Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,902 $ 873
Total current assets 5,554 4,241
Total assets 20,555 18,423
Total current liabilities 5,541 4,743
Long-term debt 17,170 13,464
Redeemable noncontrolling interest 400 265
Total stockholders' deficit (5,431) (3,107)
        Reference should be made to the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(Dollars in Millions)

Other Data:
Operating profit before depreciation and amortization (1)
Operating profit $ 5,085 $ 4,629 $ 3,896
Add: Depreciation and amortization expense 2,437 2,349 2,482

Operating profit before depreciation and amortization $ 7,522 $ 6,978 $ 6,378

Operating profit before depreciation and amortization margin 25.3% 25.6% 26.5%
Cash flow information
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 5,634 $ 5,185 $ 5,206
Net cash used in investing activities (3,363) (3,022) (3,099)
Net cash used in financing activities (1,242) (2,792) (3,210)
Free cash flow (2)
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 5,634 $ 5,185 $ 5,206
Less: Cash paid for property and equipment (2,960) (2,924) (2,303)
Less: Cash paid for satellites (389) (246) (113)

Free cash flow $ 2,285 $ 2,015 $ 2,790

(1)
Operating profit before depreciation and amortization, which is a financial measure that is not determined in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, or GAAP, can be calculated by adding amounts under the
caption "Depreciation and amortization expense" to "Operating profit." This measure should be used in conjunction with GAAP
financial measures and is not presented as an alternative measure of operating results, as determined in accordance with GAAP. Our
management and our Board of Directors use operating profit before depreciation and amortization to evaluate the operating
performance of our company and our business segments and to allocate resources and capital to business segments. This metric is also
used as a measure of performance for incentive compensation purposes and to measure income generated from operations that could
be used to fund capital expenditures, service debt or pay taxes. Depreciation and amortization expense primarily represents an
allocation to current expense of the cost of historical capital expenditures and for acquired intangible assets resulting from prior
business acquisitions. To compensate for the exclusion of depreciation and amortization expense from operating profit, our
management and our Board of Directors separately measure and budget for capital expenditures and business acquisitions.
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 SUMMARY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION�(continued)

    We believe this measure is useful to investors, along with GAAP measures (such as revenues, operating profit and net income), to
compare our operating performance to other communications, entertainment and media service providers. We believe that investors
use current and projected operating profit before depreciation and amortization and similar measures to estimate our current or
prospective enterprise value and make investment decisions. This metric provides investors with a means to compare operating results
exclusive of depreciation and amortization expense. Our management believes this is useful given the significant variation in
depreciation and amortization expense that can result from the timing of capital expenditures, the capitalization of intangible assets,
potential variations in expected useful lives when compared to other companies and periodic changes to estimated useful lives.
Operating profit before depreciation and amortization margin is calculated by dividing Operating profit before depreciation and
amortization by Revenues.

(2)
Free cash flow, which is a financial measure that is not determined in accordance with GAAP, can be calculated by deducting amounts
under the captions "Cash paid for property and equipment" and "Cash paid for satellites" from "Net cash provided by operating
activities" from the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. This financial measure should be used in conjunction with other GAAP
financial measures and is not presented as an alternative measure of cash flows from operating activities, as determined in accordance
with GAAP. Our management and our Board of Directors use free cash flow to evaluate the cash generated by our current subscriber
base, net of capital expenditures, for the purpose of allocating resources to activities such as adding new subscribers, retaining and
upgrading existing subscribers, for additional capital expenditures and other capital investments or transactions and as a measure of
performance for incentive compensation purposes. We believe this measure is useful to investors, along with other GAAP measures
(such as cash flows from operating and investing activities), to compare our operating performance to other communications,
entertainment and media companies. We believe that investors also use current and projected free cash flow to determine the ability of
revenues from our current and projected subscriber base to fund required and discretionary spending and to help determine our
financial value.
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 SUMMARY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION�(continued)

 Selected Segment Data

Revenues

Percent
of

Total
Revenues

Operating
Profit
(Loss)

Depreciation
and

Amortization
Expense

Operating
Profit
(Loss)
Before

Depreciation
and

Amortization

Operating
profit

margin

Operating
Profit
Before

Depreciation
and

Amortization
Margin

(Dollars in Millions)
December 31, 2012
DIRECTV U.S. $ 23,235 78.1% $ 4,153 $ 1,501 $ 5,654 17.9% 24.3%
Sky Brasil 3,501 11.8% 555 533 1,088 15.9% 31.1%
PanAmericana 2,743 9.2% 400 374 774 14.6% 28.2%

DIRECTV Latin America 6,244 21.0% 955 907 1,862 15.3% 29.8%
Sports Networks, Eliminations
and Other 261 0.9% (23) 29 6 NM* NM*

Total $ 29,740 100.0% $ 5,085 $ 2,437 $ 7,522 17.1% 25.3%

December 31, 2011
DIRECTV U.S. $ 21,872 80.3% $ 3,702 $ 1,587 $ 5,289 16.9% 24.2%
Sky Brasil 3,020 11.1% 542 449 991 17.9% 32.8%
PanAmericana 2,076 7.6% 374 298 672 18.0% 32.4%

DIRECTV Latin America 5,096 18.7% 916 747 1,663 18.0% 32.6%
Sports Networks, Eliminations
and Other 258 0.9% 11 15 26 NM* NM*

Total $ 27,226 100.0% $ 4,629 $ 2,349 $ 6,978 17.0% 25.6%

December 31, 2010
DIRECTV U.S. $ 20,268 84.1% $ 3,290 $ 1,926 $ 5,216 16.2% 25.7%
Sky Brasil 2,013 8.4% 383 298 681 19.0% 33.8%
PanAmericana 1,584 6.6% 240 243 483 15.2% 30.5%

DIRECTV Latin America 3,597 14.9% 623 541 1,164 17.3% 32.4%
Sports Networks, Eliminations
and Other 237 1.0% (17) 15 (2) NM* NM*

Total $ 24,102 100.0% $ 3,896 $ 2,482 $ 6,378 16.2% 26.5%

*
Percentage not meaningful.
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 SUMMARY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION�(concluded)

        The following represents additional selected information for our operating segments as of and for the year ended:

Segment Assets Capital Expenditures
(Dollars in Millions)

December 31, 2012
DIRECTV U.S. $ 12,490 $ 1,741
Sky Brasil 2,951 812
PanAmericana 3,335 786

DIRECTV Latin America 6,286 1,598

Sports Networks, Eliminations and Other 1,779 10

Total $ 20,555 $ 3,349

December 31, 2011
DIRECTV U.S. $ 11,796 $ 1,736
Sky Brasil 2,663 902
PanAmericana 2,601 526

DIRECTV Latin America 5,264 1,428

Sports Networks, Eliminations and Other 1,363 6

Total $ 18,423 $ 3,170

December 31, 2010
DIRECTV U.S. $ 11,400 $ 1,557
Sky Brasil 2,566 468
PanAmericana 2,130 389

DIRECTV Latin America 4,696 857

Sports Networks, Eliminations and Other 1,813 2

Total $ 17,909 $ 2,416
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFFECTING THE COMPARABILITY OF THE RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Change in Accounting Estimate

Depreciable Lives of Leased Set-Top Receivers

        We currently lease most set-top receivers provided to new and existing subscribers and therefore capitalize the cost of those set-top
receivers. We depreciate capitalized set-top receivers over the estimated useful life of the equipment. As a result of the completion of an
extensive evaluation of the estimated useful life of the set-top receivers, including consideration of historical write-offs, improved efficiencies in
our refurbishment program, improved set-top receiver failure rates over time and management's judgment of the risk of technological
obsolescence, we determined that the estimated useful life of HD set-top receivers used in our DIRECTV U.S. business has increased to four
years, from three years, as previously estimated. We will continue to depreciate standard-definition set-top receivers at DIRECTV U.S. over a
three-year estimated useful life. We are accounting for this change in the useful life of the HD set-top receivers at DIRECTV U.S. as a change in
an accounting estimate beginning July 1, 2011.

        This change had the effect of reducing depreciation and amortization expense and increasing both net income attributable to DIRECTV and
earnings per share in our consolidated results of operations as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011
(Dollars in Millions, Except

Per Share Amounts)
Depreciation and amortization expense $ (176) $ (141)
Net income attributable to DIRECTV 109 86
Basic earnings attributable to DIRECTV common stockholders per common share $ 0.17 $ 0.12
Diluted earnings attributable to DIRECTV common stockholders per common share $ 0.17 $ 0.11
Divestitures

        In December 2012, we sold an 18% interest in GSN to our equity partner for $234 million, reducing our ownership interest from 60% to
42%. We recognized a pre-tax gain of $111 million ($68 million after tax) on the sale in "Other, net" in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations. For additional information regarding the GSN sale, refer to Note 8 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8,
Part II of this Annual Report.

        In April 2011, we sold an equity method investment for $55 million in cash. We recognized a pre-tax gain of $37 million ($23 million after
tax) on the sale in "Other, net" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

        In March 2011, we sold a 5% ownership interest in GSN to our equity partner for $60 million in cash, reducing our ownership interest to
60%. We recognized a pre-tax gain of $25 million ($16 million after tax) on the sale in "Other, net" in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations.

Malone Transaction

        In April 2010, we entered into an agreement with Dr. John C. Malone and his family, or the Malones, under which they exchanged
21.8 million shares of high-vote DIRECTV Class B common stock, which were all of the outstanding DIRECTV Class B shares, for
26.5 million shares of DIRECTV Class A common stock, resulting in the reduction of the Malone's voting interest in DIRECTV from
approximately 24% to approximately 3% on June 16, 2010. We refer to this transaction as the Malone Transaction.

        We accounted for the exchange of DIRECTV Class B common stock into DIRECTV Class A common stock pursuant to accounting
standards for induced conversions, whereby the $160 million in incremental DIRECTV Class A common stock issued to the former DIRECTV
Class B stockholders has been deducted from earnings attributable to DIRECTV Class A stockholders for purposes of calculating earnings per
share in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. As a result of the Malone Transaction, diluted earnings per DIRECTV Class A common
stock in the Consolidated Statements of Operations was reduced by $0.18 for the year ended December 31, 2010. For additional information,
refer to Note 16 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8, Part II of this Annual Report.
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Acquisition

Globo Transaction

        In connection with our acquisition of Sky Brasil in 2006, Globo was granted the right, until January 2014, to require us to purchase all or a
portion (but not less than half) of its 25.9% interest in Sky Brasil. Upon the exercise of this right in the fourth quarter of 2010, we paid
$605 million in cash, which was the fair value of the 19% interest purchased, and recorded a reduction to "Redeemable noncontrolling interest"
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. We and our subsidiaries now own approximately 93% of Sky Brasil and Globo retains the right to sell its
remaining 7% interest to us at fair value until January 2014 as discussed in Note 21 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in
Item 8, Part II of this Annual Report.

Financing Transactions

2012 Financing Transactions

        In the first quarter of 2012, DIRECTV U.S. borrowed and repaid $400 million under its $2.0 billion revolving credit facility, which was
terminated on September 28, 2012, and replaced with a three and one-half year, $1.0 billion revolving credit facility and a five year, $1.5 billion
revolving credit facility. In November 2012, DIRECTV U.S. established a commercial paper program backed by its revolving credit facilities,
which provides for the issuance of short-term commercial paper in the United States up to a maximum aggregate principal of $2.5 billion. For
the year ended December 31, 2012, borrowings under the commercial paper program, net of repayments, were $358 million.

        In 2012, DIRECTV U.S. issued $5.2 billion of senior notes resulting in $5,190 million of proceeds, net of discount. Also in 2012,
DIRECTV U.S. redeemed its then outstanding $1,500 million of 7.625% senior notes, resulting in a pre-tax charge of $64 million ($40 million
after tax) for the premiums paid and for the write-off of deferred debt issuance and other transaction costs. The charge was recorded in "Other,
net" in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

2011 Financing Transactions

        In 2011, DIRECTV U.S. issued $4.0 billion of senior notes resulting in $3,990 million of proceeds, net of discount. Also in 2011,
DIRECTV U.S. purchased and redeemed its then outstanding $1,002 million of 6.375% senior notes, resulting in a pre-tax charge of $25 million
($16 million after tax) primarily for the premiums paid. The charge was recorded in "Other, net" in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

2010 Financing Transactions

        In 2010, DIRECTV U.S. issued $6.0 billion of senior notes resulting in $5,978 million of proceeds, net of discount. Also in 2010,
DIRECTV U.S. repaid the $2,205 million of remaining principal on the Term Loans of its senior secured credit facility, resulting in a pre-tax
charge of $16 million ($10 million after tax) for the write-off of deferred debt issuance and other transaction costs. The charge was recorded in
"Other, net" in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

        Collar Loan.    As part of the Liberty Transaction in November 2009, we assumed a credit facility and related equity collars, which we refer
to as the Collar Loan. During the first quarter of 2010, we paid $1,537 million to repay the remaining principal balance and accrued interest on
the credit facility, and to settle the equity collars. As a result, we recorded a gain of $67 million in "Liberty transaction and related gain" in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations in the first quarter of 2010 related to the Collar Loan.

Venezuela Devaluation and Foreign Currency Exchange Controls

        In January 2010, the Venezuelan government announced the creation of a dual exchange rate system, including an exchange rate of 4.3
bolivars per U.S. dollar for most of the activities of our Venezuelan operations compared to an exchange rate of 2.15 Venezuelan bolivars prior
to the announcement. As a result of this devaluation, we recorded a $6 million charge to net income in the year ended December 31, 2010 related
to the adjustment of net bolivar denominated monetary assets to the new official exchange rate.

        Companies operating in Venezuela are required to obtain Venezuelan government approval to exchange bolivars into U.S. dollars at the
official exchange rate and we have not been able to consistently exchange Venezuelan bolivars into U.S. dollars at the official rate. Until the
closing of the parallel market in May, 2010, we relied on a parallel exchange process to settle U.S. dollar obligations and to repatriate
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bolivars per U.S. dollar). As a result, we recorded a $22 million charge in 2010 in "General and administrative expenses" in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations in
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connection with the exchange of accumulated Venezuelan cash balances to U.S. dollars using the parallel exchange process.

        In February 2013, the Venezuelan government announced a devaluation of the bolivar, which will result in a pre-tax charge in "General and
administrative expenses" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations of approximately $160 million in the first quarter of 2013. See "Liquidity
and Capital Resources" below for additional information regarding the Venezuelan devaluation and foreign currency exchange controls.

Share Repurchase Program

        Since 2006 our Board of Directors has approved multiple authorizations for the repurchase of our common stock. As of December 31,
2012, we had approximately $1,719 million remaining under the authorization given by the Board of Directors in 2012. In February 2013, our
Board of Directors terminated the remaining $857 million available under the 2012 authorization and authorized up to an additional $4 billion
for repurchases of our common stock. The following table sets forth information regarding shares repurchased and retired for the years ended
December 31:

2012 2011 2010
(Amounts in Millions, Except Per

Share Amounts)
Total cost of repurchased and retired shares $ 5,148 $ 5,455 $ 5,179
Average price per share $ 48.24 $ 45.78 $ 38.20
Number of shares repurchased and retired 107 119 136
KEY TERMINOLOGY

        Revenues.    We earn revenues mostly from monthly fees we charge subscribers for subscriptions to basic and premium channel
programming, advanced receiver fees (which include HD, DVR and multi-room viewing), pay-per-view programming, and seasonal live
sporting events. We also earn revenues from monthly fees we charge subscribers for multiple leased set-top receivers, monthly fees that we
charge subscribers with multiple non-leased set-top receivers (which we refer to as mirroring fees), hardware revenues from subscribers who
lease or purchase set-top receivers from us, warranty service fees and advertising services. Revenues are reported net of customer credits and
discounted promotions.

        Broadcast Programming and Other.    These costs primarily include license fees for subscription service programming, pay-per-view
programming, live sports and other events. Other costs include continuing service fees paid to third parties for active subscribers and warranty
service costs.

        Subscriber Service Expenses.    Subscriber service expenses include the costs of customer call centers, billing, remittance processing and
service calls.

        Broadcast Operations Expenses.    These expenses include broadcast center operating costs, signal transmission expenses (including costs
of collecting signals for our local channel offerings), and costs of monitoring, maintaining and insuring our satellites. Also included are
engineering expenses associated with deterring theft of our signal.

        Subscriber Acquisition Costs.    These costs include the cost of set-top receivers and other equipment, commissions we pay to national
retailers, independent satellite television retailers, dealers and telcos, and the cost of installation, advertising, marketing and customer call center
expenses associated with the acquisition of new subscribers. Set-top receivers leased to new subscribers are capitalized in "Property and
equipment, net" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and depreciated over their useful lives. In certain countries in Latin America, where our
customer agreements provide for the lease of the entire DIRECTV or SKY System, we also capitalize the costs of the other customer premises
equipment and related installation costs. The amount of set-top receivers capitalized each period for subscriber acquisitions is included in "Cash
paid for property and equipment" in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

        Upgrade and Retention Costs.    Upgrade and retention costs are associated with upgrade efforts for existing subscribers that we believe
will result in higher average monthly revenue per subscriber, or ARPU, and lower churn. Our upgrade efforts include subscriber equipment
upgrade programs for DVR, HD and HD DVR receivers and local channels, our multiple set-top receiver offers and similar initiatives. Retention
costs also include the costs of installing and providing hardware under our movers program for subscribers relocating to a new residence. Set-top
receivers leased to existing subscribers under upgrade and retention programs are capitalized in "Property and equipment, net" in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets and depreciated over their useful lives. The amount of set-top receivers capitalized each period for upgrade and
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"Cash paid for property and equipment" in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

        General and Administrative Expenses.    General and administrative expenses include departmental costs for legal, administrative services,
finance, marketing and information technology. These costs also include expenses for bad debt and other operating expenses, such as legal
settlements, and gains or losses from the sale or disposal of fixed assets.

        Average Monthly Revenue Per Subscriber.    We calculate ARPU by dividing average monthly revenues for the period (total revenues
during the period divided by the number of months in the period) by average subscribers for the period. We calculate average subscribers for the
period by adding the number of subscribers as of the beginning of the period and for each quarter end in the current year or period and dividing
by the sum of the number of quarters in the period plus one.

        Average Monthly Subscriber Churn.    Average monthly subscriber churn represents the number of subscribers whose service is
disconnected, expressed as a percentage of the average total number of subscribers. We calculate average monthly subscriber churn by dividing
the average monthly number of disconnected subscribers for the period (total subscribers disconnected, net of reconnects, during the period
divided by the number of months in the period) by average subscribers for the period.

        Subscriber Count.    The total number of subscribers represents the total number of subscribers actively subscribing to our service,
including subscribers who have suspended their account for a particular season of the year because they are temporarily away from their primary
residence and subscribers who are in the process of relocating and commercial equivalent viewing units.

        SAC.    We calculate SAC, which represents total subscriber acquisition costs stated on a per subscriber basis, by dividing total subscriber
acquisition costs for the period by the number of gross new subscribers acquired during the period. We calculate total subscriber acquisition
costs for the period by adding together "Subscriber acquisition costs" expensed during the period and the amount of cash paid for equipment
leased to new subscribers during the period.

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW AND OUTLOOK

        The United States and other countries in which we operate are continuing to undergo a period of economic uncertainty. As discussed in
"Competition" in Item 1, in addition to cable and satellite system operators, we are experiencing increasing competition from telcos and other
emerging digital media distribution providers. Please refer to "Risk Factors" in Item 1A for a further discussion of risks that may affect
forecasted results of our business generally.

        DIRECTV U.S.    DIRECTV U.S. faces key challenges related to weak macroeconomic conditions that continue to put pressure on the U.S.
consumer, the rapid advance of technology that provides consumers with more options both in and out of the home and a maturing industry that
is increasingly competitive. In addition, programming content providers are continuing to seek increased rates for their content. We are pursuing
strategic priorities for the DIRECTV U.S. business that we believe will result in consistent revenue and operating profit before depreciation and
amortization growth over the next three years.

        Our revenue growth at DIRECTV U.S. has been generated by increases in the total number of subscribers and ARPU growth. In 2013, we
expect revenue to increase in the mid-single digit percentage range driven primarily by ARPU growth, which is expected to be generated mainly
by price increases, higher penetration of advanced services, less discounting and continued revenue growth in DIRECTV Cinema, commercial
and advertising sales.

        In 2013, we expect operating profit before depreciation and amortization to grow in the mid-single digit percentage range. We intend to
manage the impact to our margins from higher programming costs by attaining productivity improvements from recent capital projects and by
closely managing other costs across the organization.

        We expect capital expenditures in 2013 to increase to approximately $2 billion at DIRECTV U.S. primarily due to increased capital
expenditures related to key initiatives that are expected to enhance our DIRECTV Everywhere experience and to drive greater customer
satisfaction and loyalty, the construction of new satellites, as well as the build out of our new El Segundo campus.

        DIRECTV Latin America.    In Latin America, pay TV penetration and relatively favorable macroeconomic and demographic trends
continue to provide a substantial opportunity for growth. In particular, we will continue to strengthen our brand leadership position in the
higher-end markets with a focus on our superior
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HD and DVR products. In addition, we plan to further penetrate the rapidly growing middle market by continuing to offer attractive lower priced
post-paid packages and pre-paid services.

        In 2013, we expect net subscriber additions of approximately two million. Prior to the Venezuelan currency devaluation in February 2013,
we expected growth in revenues and operating profit before depreciation and amortization to be slightly below 20%. However, as a result of the
currency devaluation in Venezuela, we now expect revenues to grow in the mid-teen percentage range and for operating profit before
depreciation and amortization to be flat as compared to 2012. The flat operating profit before depreciation and amortization reflects the effect of
the Venezuelan pre-tax devaluation charge of approximately $160 million ($150 million after tax), the reduced exchange rate in 2013 and the
fact that operating profit before depreciation and amortization margins are higher in Venezuela than in the rest of the region. We expect capital
expenditures to increase to $2 billion, which includes capital expenditures for subscriber growth, investments in upgrading DIRECTV Latin
America's infrastructure, including satellites and related broadcast facilities, as well as strategic initiatives such as wireless broadband.

        DIRECTV Consolidated.    Excluding one-time items such as the Venezuela devaluation charge which is estimated to reduce earning per
common share by $0.27 in the first quarter of 2013, we anticipate earnings per common share to grow to $5 per share or greater in 2013 resulting
from higher operating profit coupled with a continued anticipated decline in weighted average common shares outstanding resulting from our
share repurchase program, partially offset by increased interest and income tax expenses.

        At the consolidated DIRECTV level, we anticipate free cash flow, or cash provided by operating activities less capital expenditures, to
decrease modestly compared to 2012 due primarily to the impact of the Venezuela devaluation, as well as higher cash paid for taxes and interest.
We believe that cash paid for taxes will be higher in 2013 as compared to 2012, as a result of an increase in earnings before taxes coupled with
an increase in our cash tax rate to the mid-to-high 30% range primarily due to an expected tax payment in 2013 upon the close of a tax audit, the
reversal of depreciation benefits associated with prior year economic stimulus programs and absence of a state tax credit carryforward that we
had in 2012.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared with the Year Ended December 31, 2011

DIRECTV U.S. Results of Operations

        The following table provides operating results and a summary of key subscriber data for the DIRECTV U.S. segment:

Change

2012 2011 $ %
(Dollars in Millions, Except Per Subscriber

Amounts)
Revenues $ 23,235 $ 21,872 $ 1,363 6.2%
Operating costs and expenses
Costs of revenues, exclusive of depreciation and
amortization expense
Broadcast programming and other 10,743 9,799 944 9.6%
Subscriber service expenses 1,464 1,435 29 2.0%
Broadcast operations expenses 306 300 6 2.0%
Selling, general and administrative expenses, exclusive
of depreciation and amortization expense
Subscriber acquisition costs 2,673 2,794 (121) (4.3)%
Upgrade and retention costs 1,253 1,209 44 3.6%
General and administrative expenses 1,142 1,046 96 9.2%
Depreciation and amortization expense 1,501 1,587 (86) (5.4)%

Total operating costs and expenses 19,082 18,170 912 5.0%

Operating profit $ 4,153 $ 3,702 $ 451 12.2%

Operating profit margin 17.9% 16.9% � �
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Other data:
Operating profit before depreciation and amortization $ 5,654 $ 5,289 $ 365 6.9%
Operating profit before depreciation and amortization margin 24.3% 24.2% � �
Total number of subscribers (in thousands) 20,084 19,885 199 1.0%
ARPU $ 96.98 $ 93.27 $ 3.71 4.0%
Average monthly subscriber churn % 1.53% 1.56% � (1.9)%
Gross subscriber additions (in thousands) 3,874 4,316 (442) (10.2)%
Subscriber disconnections (in thousands) 3,675 3,654 21 0.6%
Net subscriber additions (in thousands) 199 662 (463) (69.9)%
Average subscriber acquisition costs�per subscriber (SAC) $ 859 $ 813 $ 46 5.7%
Capital expenditures:
Property and equipment $ 541 $ 567 $ (26) (4.6)%
Subscriber leased equipment�subscriber acquisitions 656 713 (57) (8.0)%
Subscriber leased equipment�upgrade and retention 291 315 (24) (7.6)%
Satellites 253 141 112 79.4%

Total capital expenditures $ 1,741 $ 1,736 $ 5 0.3%

Depreciation expense�subscriber leased equipment $ 815 $ 903 $ (88) (9.7)%
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        Subscribers.    In 2012, net subscriber additions decreased due to lower gross subscriber additions primarily resulting from an increased
focus on attaining higher-quality subscribers and stricter credit policies, as well as lower gross additions from our telco sales channel. Average
monthly churn decreased in 2012 primarily due to a greater number of subscribers on contract commitments and auto-bill pay.

        Revenues.    Our revenues increased as a result of higher ARPU and the larger subscriber base. The increase in ARPU resulted primarily
from price increases on programming packages and set-top receiver lease fees, as well as higher advanced receiver service fees and higher
commercial revenues, partially offset by increased promotional offers to new and existing subscribers.

        Operating profit before depreciation and amortization.    Operating profit before depreciation and amortization was higher in 2012 as
compared to 2011 as higher revenues and lower subscriber acquisition costs were partially offset by higher broadcasting programming costs,
increased general and administrative costs and higher upgrade and retention costs.

        Operating profit before depreciation and amortization margin increased in 2012 as compared to 2011 as the revenue growth, lower
subscriber acquisition costs and efficiencies in subscriber service costs were partially offset by higher relative growth in broadcast programming
and other costs.

        Broadcast programming and other costs increased primarily due to annual program supplier rate increases and the larger number of
subscribers.

        Subscriber acquisition costs decreased primarily due to lower gross subscriber additions. SAC per subscriber, which includes the cost of
capitalized set top receivers, increased primarily due to an increase in subscriber demand for advanced products and higher marketing costs per
subscriber added.

        Upgrade and retention costs increased in 2012 due to our increased focus on upgrading and retaining high-quality subscribers.

        General and administrative expenses increased in 2012 primarily due to a benefit from a property tax adjustment recorded in 2011, as well
as equipment impairment charges recorded in 2012, primarily related to equipment financing provided to a dealer that has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, as well as higher rent and labor expenses in 2012.

        Operating profit.    Operating profit and operating profit margin increased in 2012 as compared to 2011. The increase in operating profit
was primarily due to the increase in operating profit before depreciation and amortization expense and lower depreciation and amortization
expense in 2012 resulting from the change in HD set-top receiver estimated depreciable life from three to four years, as well as the completion
of the amortization of a contract rights intangible asset. The increase in operating profit margin was primarily due to the decrease in depreciation
and amortization expense.
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DIRECTV Latin America Results of Operations

        The following table provides operating results and a summary of key subscriber data for the consolidated DIRECTV Latin America
operations:

Change

2012 2011 $ %
(Dollars in Millions, Except Per Subscriber

Amounts)
Revenues $ 6,244 $ 5,096 $ 1,148 22.5%
Operating profit before depreciation and amortization 1,862 1,663 199 12.0%
Operating profit before depreciation and amortization margin 29.8% 32.6% � �
Operating profit $ 955 $ 916 $ 39 4.3%
Operating profit margin 15.3% 18.0% � �
Other data:
ARPU $ 57.25 $ 62.64 $ (5.39) (8.6)%
Average monthly total subscriber churn % 1.81% 1.78% � 1.7%
Average monthly post paid subscriber churn % 1.50% 1.42% � 5.6%
Total number of subscribers (in thousands) (1) 10,328 7,871 2,457 31.2%
Gross subscriber additions (in thousands) (1) (2) 4,417 3,510 907 25.8%
Net subscriber additions (in thousands) (1) (2) 2,439 2,063 376 18.2%
Capital expenditures:
Property and equipment $ 214 $ 93 $ 121 130.1%
Subscriber leased equipment�subscriber acquisitions 837 834 3 0.4%
Subscriber leased equipment�upgrade and retention 419 397 22 5.5%
Satellites 128 104 24 23.1%

Total capital expenditures $ 1,598 $ 1,428 $ 170 11.9%

(1)
DIRECTV Latin America subscriber data exclude subscribers of the Sky Mexico platform.

(2)
Excludes 18,000 subscribers acquired in a 2012 transaction in Brazil.

        Subscribers.    The increase in gross subscriber additions was primarily due to higher demand for our middle market products, primarily in
Brazil, Argentina, Colombia and Venezuela. Net subscriber additions increased in 2012 due to the higher gross subscriber additions, partially
offset by slightly higher average monthly total subscriber churn, resulting from an increase in average monthly post paid subscriber churn
compared to 2011, primarily in Brazil related to penetration of the middle market.

        Revenues.    Revenues increased in 2012, primarily due to strong subscriber growth, partially offset by a decrease in ARPU. The decrease in
ARPU was primarily due to unfavorable exchange rates in Brazil and Argentina, as well as the effect of increased penetration in the middle
market, partially offset by price increases on programming packages and higher penetration of advanced products.

        Operating profit before depreciation and amortization.    Operating profit before depreciation and amortization increased in 2012 as
compared to 2011, primarily due to the higher revenues, partially offset by higher broadcast programming costs related to the larger subscriber
base. In PanAmericana, broadcast programming costs included higher costs associated with certain soccer events and the Olympics. Also in
PanAmericana, subscriber service and general and administrative expenses increased as a result of inflationary pressures on labor, subscriber
acquisition costs increased due to the higher number of gross subscriber additions and upgrade and retention costs increased due to costs
associated with the replacement of first generation set-top receivers.
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        Operating profit before depreciation and amortization margin decreased in 2012 as compared to 2011, as the revenue growth was more than
offset by higher relative growth in subscriber service expenses associated with serving the middle market in Brazil as well as the incremental
costs in PanAmericana, as discussed above.
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        Operating profit.    Operating profit increased in 2012 as compared to 2011, primarily due to higher operating profit before depreciation and
amortization, discussed above, partially offset by higher depreciation and amortization expense resulting from an increase in basic and advanced
product receivers capitalized due to the higher gross subscriber additions attained in 2012.

        Operating profit margin decreased in 2012 as compared to 2011 due to the lower operating profit before depreciation and amortization
margin and higher depreciation and amortization expense.

DIRECTV Other Income, Income Taxes and Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interest

        Interest income.    Interest income was $59 million in 2012 and $34 million in 2011.

        Interest expense.    The increase in interest expense to $842 million in 2012 from $763 million in 2011 was due to an increase in the
average debt balances compared to 2011, partially offset by a decrease in weighted average interest rates. We capitalized interest costs of
$24 million in 2012 and $13 million in 2011.

        Other, net.    The significant components of "Other, net" were as follows:

2012 2011 Change
(Dollars in Millions)

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated subsidiaries $ 131 $ 109 $ 22
Net foreign currency transaction loss (34) (50) 16
Fair value adjustment loss on non-employee stock options (4) (4) �
Loss on early extinguishment of debt (64) (25) (39)
Net gain from sale of investments 122 63 59
Other (11) (9) (2)

Total $ 140 $ 84 $ 56

        Income tax expense.    We recognized income tax expense of $1,465 million in 2012 and $1,348 million in 2011. The effective tax rate for
2012 was 33.0% compared to 33.8% for 2011. The lower effective tax rate was primarily attributable to a benefit recorded for the recognition of
uncertain tax benefits due to the expiration of the statute of limitations in federal and foreign tax jurisdictions.

        Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest.    Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest was $28 million in 2012 and
$27 million in 2011.

Earnings Per Share

        Earnings per share and weighted shares outstanding were as follows for the years ended December 31:

2012 2011
(Shares in Millions)

Basic earnings attributable to DIRECTV common stockholders per common share $ 4.62 $ 3.49
Diluted earnings attributable to DIRECTV common stockholders per common share $ 4.58 $ 3.47
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding (in millions):
Basic 638 747
Diluted 644 752
        The increases in basic and diluted earnings per share were due a reduction in weighted average shares outstanding resulting from our share
repurchase program and higher net income attributable to DIRECTV.
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Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared with the Year Ended December 31, 2010

DIRECTV U.S. Results of Operations

        The following table provides operating results and a summary of key subscriber data for the DIRECTV U.S. segment:

Change

2011 2010 $ %
(Dollars in Millions, Except Per Subscriber

Amounts)
Revenues $ 21,872 $ 20,268 $ 1,604 7.9%
Operating costs and expenses
Costs of revenues, exclusive of depreciation and
amortization expense
Broadcast programming and other 9,799 8,699 1,100 12.6%
Subscriber service expenses 1,435 1,340 95 7.1%
Broadcast operations expenses 300 273 27 9.9%
Selling, general and administrative expenses, exclusive of depreciation and amortization expense
Subscriber acquisition costs 2,794 2,631 163 6.2%
Upgrade and retention costs 1,209 1,106 103 9.3%
General and administrative expenses 1,046 1,003 43 4.3%
Depreciation and amortization expense 1,587 1,926 (339) (17.6)%

Total operating costs and expenses 18,170 16,978 1,192 7.0%

Operating profit $ 3,702 $ 3,290 $ 412 12.5%

Operating profit margin 16.9% 16.2% � �
Other data:
Operating profit before depreciation and amortization $ 5,289 $ 5,216 $ 73 1.4%
Operating profit before depreciation and amortization
margin 24.2% 25.7% � �
Total number of subscribers (in thousands) 19,885 19,223 662 3.4%
ARPU $ 93.27 $ 89.71 $ 3.56 4.0%
Average monthly subscriber churn % 1.56% 1.53% � 2.0%
Gross subscriber additions (in thousands) 4,316 4,124 192 4.7%
Subscriber disconnections (in thousands) 3,654 3,461 193 5.6%
Net subscriber additions (in thousands) 662 663 (1) (0.2)%
Average subscriber acquisition costs�per subscriber
(SAC) $ 813 $ 796 $ 17 2.1%
Capital expenditures:
Property and equipment $ 567 $ 477 $ 90 18.9%
Subscriber leased equipment�subscriber acquisitions 713 651 62 9.5%
Subscriber leased equipment�upgrade and retention 315 316 (1) (0.3)%
Satellites 141 113 28 24.8%

Total capital expenditures $ 1,736 $ 1,557 $ 179 11.5%

Depreciation expense�subscriber leased equipment $ 903 $ 1,145 $ (242) (21.1)%
        Subscribers.    In 2011, net subscriber additions were relatively unchanged as higher gross additions mainly resulting from improved
customer offers were offset by an increase in the monthly churn rate, which resulted primarily from a more competitive environment.

        Revenues.    Our revenues increased as a result of higher ARPU and the larger subscriber base. The increase in ARPU resulted primarily
from price increases on programming packages, higher set-top receiver lease fees, higher advanced service fees, higher premium channel buy
rates and an increase in NFL SUNDAY TICKET revenues, partially offset by higher promotional offers to new and existing subscribers.

        Operating profit before depreciation and amortization.    Operating profit before depreciation and amortization was higher in 2011 as
compared to 2010 as increased revenues were partially offset by higher broadcasting programming costs, increased subscriber acquisition costs
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and higher upgrade and retention costs. Operating profit before depreciation and amortization margin decreased in 2011 as compared to 2010 as
the revenue growth was more than offset by higher relative growth in broadcast programming and other costs.

        Broadcast programming and other costs increased primarily due to annual program supplier rate increases, higher costs resulting from our
new NFL SUNDAY TICKET contract, which went into effect with the 2011 season and the larger number of subscribers. Subscriber service
expenses increased in 2011 compared to 2010 primarily due to service quality improvement initiatives and the higher number of subscribers.

        Subscriber acquisition costs and SAC per subscriber, which includes the cost of capitalized set top receivers, increased primarily due to
higher subscriber demand for advanced products, as well as higher gross additions and increased dealer commissions, partially offset by lower
marketing costs.

        Upgrade and retention costs increased in 2011 due to a higher installation costs associated with higher advanced equipment upgrades.

        General and administrative expenses increased in 2011 primarily due to increased labor and benefit costs related to higher incentive
compensation and increased headcount, as well as higher bad debt expense associated with higher revenue, partially offset by a decrease in
property tax expenses.
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        Operating profit.    Operating profit and operating profit margin increased in 2011 as compared to 2010 due to lower depreciation and
amortization expense in 2011 resulting from the change in HD set-top receiver estimated depreciable life from three to four years, lower
depreciation expense associated with a reduction in capitalized set-top receivers over the last several years and the completion of the
amortization of a subscriber-related intangible asset, partially offset by lower operating profit before depreciation and amortization margin.

DIRECTV Latin America Results of Operations

        The following table provides operating results and a summary of key subscriber data for the consolidated DIRECTV Latin America
operations:

Change

2011 2010 $ %
(Dollars in Millions, Except Per Subscriber

Amounts)
Revenues $ 5,096 $ 3,597 $ 1,499 41.7%
Operating profit before depreciation and amortization 1,663 1,164 499 42.9%
Operating profit before depreciation and amortization margin 32.6% 32.4% � �
Operating profit $ 916 $ 623 $ 293 47.0%
Operating profit margin 18.0% 17.3% � �
Other data:
ARPU $ 62.64 $ 57.95 $ 4.69 8.1%
Average monthly total subscriber churn % 1.78% 1.77% � 0.6%
Average monthly post paid subscriber churn % 1.42% 1.47% � (3.4)%
Total number of subscribers (in thousands) (1) 7,871 5,808 2,063 35.5%
Gross subscriber additions (in thousands) 3,510 2,318 1,192 51.4%
Net subscriber additions (in thousands) 2,063 1,220 843 69.1%
Capital expenditures:
Property and equipment $ 93 $ 60 $ 33 55.0%
Subscriber leased equipment�subscriber acquisitions 834 562 272 48.4%
Subscriber leased equipment�upgrade and retention 397 235 162 68.9%
Satellites 104 � 104 �

Total capital expenditures $ 1,428 $ 857 $ 571 66.6%

(1)
DIRECTV Latin America subscriber data exclude subscribers of the Sky Mexico platform.

        Subscribers.    The increase in gross subscriber additions was primarily due to higher demand for our middle market products, primarily in
Brazil, as well as increased gross subscriber additions in Argentina. Net subscriber additions increased
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in 2011 due to the higher gross subscriber additions and lower post paid churn in Venezuela and Brazil compared to 2010.

        Revenues.    Revenues increased due to strong subscriber and ARPU growth across the region, particularly in Brazil. ARPU increased
primarily due to price increases and higher penetration of advanced products across the region, as well as favorable exchange rates in Brazil.

        Operating profit before depreciation and amortization.    Operating profit before depreciation and amortization increased in 2011 as
compared to 2010, primarily due to the increased gross profit generated from the higher revenues, partially offset by higher subscriber
acquisition costs due to the higher number of gross subscriber additions, higher general and administrative costs as well as higher upgrade and
retention costs resulting from the increased demand for advanced products.

        Operating profit.    Operating profit increased in 2011 as compared to 2010, primarily due to higher operating profit before depreciation and
amortization, discussed above, partially offset by higher depreciation and amortization expense resulting from an increase in basic and advanced
product receivers capitalized due to the higher gross subscriber additions attained over the last year.

DIRECTV Other Income, Income Taxes and Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interest

        Interest income.    Interest income was $34 million in 2011 and $39 million in 2010.

        Interest expense.    The increase in interest expense to $763 million in 2011 from $557 million in 2010 was due to an increase in the
average debt balances compared to 2010, partially offset by a decrease in weighted average interest rates. We capitalized interest costs of
$13 million in 2011 and $6 million in 2010.

        Liberty transaction and related gain.    In 2010, we recorded a $67 million net gain from the settlement of the equity collars and debt
assumed as part of the Liberty Transaction.

        Other, net.    The significant components of "Other, net" were as follows:

2011 2010 Change
(Dollars in Millions)

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated subsidiaries $ 109 $ 90 $ 19
Net foreign currency transaction gain (loss) (50) 11 (61)
Fair value adjustment loss on non-employee stock options (4) (11) 7
Loss on early extinguishment of debt (25) (16) (9)
Net gain from sale of investments 63 6 57
Other (9) (11) 2

Total $ 84 $ 69 $ 15

        Income tax expense.    We recognized income tax expense to $1,348 million in 2011 and $1,202 million in 2010. The effective tax rate for
2011 was 33.8% compared to 34.2% for 2010. The lower effective tax rate was primarily attributable to a benefit recorded for previously
unrecognized foreign tax credits and a benefit recorded for domestic production activities deduction in 2011.

        Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest.    Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest decreased to $27 million in 2011 as
compared to $114 million in 2010. This decrease was primarily a result of the Globo Transaction in the fourth quarter of 2010 which increased
our ownership percentage in Sky Brasil and a net tax benefit attributable to the noncontrolling interest resulting from the release of a deferred
income tax asset valuation allowance in 2010.
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Earnings Per Share

        Class A common stock earnings per share and weighted shares outstanding were as follows for the years ended December 31:

2011 2010
(Shares in Millions)

Basic earnings attributable to DIRECTV Class A common stockholders per common share $ 3.49 $ 2.31
Diluted earnings attributable to DIRECTV Class A common stockholders per common share $ 3.47 $ 2.30
Weighted average number of Class A common shares outstanding (in millions):
Basic 747 870
Diluted 752 876
        The increases in basic and diluted earnings per share for common stock were due to higher net income attributable to DIRECTV, a
reduction in weighted average shares outstanding resulting from our share repurchase program, and the $0.19 reduction to basic and $0.18
reduction to diluted earnings per common share resulting from the Malone Transaction in 2010.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

        Our principal sources of liquidity are our cash, cash equivalents and the cash flow that we generate from our operations. We expect that net
cash provided by operating activities will grow and believe that our existing cash balances and cash provided by operations will be sufficient to
fund our existing business plan. On September 28, 2012, DIRECTV U.S.' $2.0 billion revolving credit facility was terminated and replaced with
a $1.0 billion revolving credit facility available until 2016 and $1.5 billion revolving credit facility available until 2017. As of December 31,
2012, there were no borrowings under the new revolving credit facilities. We may borrow additional funds under these facilities to fund share
repurchases or to fund strategic investment opportunities should they arise. On November 27, 2012, DIRECTV U.S. established a commercial
paper program backed by its revolving credit facilities, which provides for the issuance of short-term commercial paper in the United States up
to a maximum aggregate principal of $2.5 billion. Aggregate amounts outstanding under the revolving credit facilities and the commercial paper
program are limited to $2.5 billion.

        At December 31, 2012, our cash and cash equivalents totaled $1,902 million compared with $873 million at December 31, 2011.

        As a measure of liquidity, the current ratio (ratio of current assets to current liabilities) was 1.00 at December 31, 2012 and 0.89 at
December 31, 2011. Working capital increased by $515 million to $13 million at December 31, 2012 from a deficit of $502 million at
December 31, 2011. The increase during the year was primarily due to the increase in cash and cash equivalents, primarily due to an increase in
proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt.

Summary Cash Flow Information

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(Dollars in Millions)

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 5,634 $ 5,185 $ 5,206
Net cash used in investing activities (3,363) (3,022) (3,099)
Net cash used in financing activities (1,242) (2,792) (3,210)
Free cash flow:
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 5,634 $ 5,185 $ 5,206
Less: Cash paid for property, equipment and satellites (3,349) (3,170) (2,416)

Free cash flow $ 2,285 $ 2,015 $ 2,790

Cash Flows Provided By Operating Activities

        Net cash provided by operating activities increased in 2012 as compared to 2011 due to higher operating profit before depreciation and
amortization and an increases in cash generated from working capital related to the timing of customer and vendor receipts at DIRECTV U.S.,
partially offset by increased cash paid for interest and taxes. Net cash provided by operating activities in 2011 and 2010 was relatively flat as
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higher operating profit before depreciation and amortization was more than offset by increased cash paid for interest and taxes and a decrease in
cash provided by working capital, mostly due to an increase in amounts payable to our programmers. partially offset by an increase in accounts
receivable and an increase in prepaid expenses.

        Cash paid for income taxes was $1,406 million in 2012, $1,042 million in 2011 and $705 million in 2010. The increase in cash paid for
income taxes in
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2012 resulted mainly from increased income before income taxes and a decrease in the bonus depreciation rate from 100% in 2011 to 50% in
2012. The increase in cash paid for income taxes in 2011 resulted mainly from increased income before income taxes as well as the utilization of
tax credit carryforwards in 2010. Cash paid for interest was $781 million in 2012, $687 million in 2011 and $460 million in 2010. The increase
in cash paid for interest is due to the increase in our average debt outstanding.

Cash Flows Used In Investing Activities

        From 2010 to 2012, capital expenditures for subscriber leased set-top receivers at DIRECTV U.S. remained relatively flat as the decrease in
gross subscriber additions has been offset by an increase in set-top receivers provided to subscribers under upgrade and retention initiatives.

        During 2010, 2011 and 2012, DIRECTV U.S. was in the process of constructing two satellites, D14 and D15, which we expect to place into
service in 2014. Additionally, in 2012, we began construction on our new El Segundo campus.

        Capital expenditures for subscriber leased set-top receivers at DIRECTV Latin America increased during 2010, 2011 and 2012. Part of our
business strategy in Latin America is to increase advanced product and multi-receiver installations; therefore, our capital expenditures in Latin
America are expected to continue to increase.

        During 2011, DIRECTV Latin America entered into a contract to lease two satellites for PanAmericana, ISDLA 1 and 2, which are
expected to be launched in 2014 and 2015. As a part of the lease agreement, we are required to make prepayments prior to the launch and
commencement of the lease term. Payments related to the lease agreement totaled $128 million for 2012 and $104 million for 2011, and are
included in "Cash paid for satellites" in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

        We paid $16 million in 2012 and $11 million in 2011 for investments, net of cash acquired, in various companies. Additionally, in 2010, we
paid $617 million for investments in companies, net of cash acquired, primarily for the purchase of an approximate 19% interest in Sky Brasil
held by Globo. This transaction is described in Note 4 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual
Report. Our cash spending on investment in companies is discretionary and we may fund strategic investment opportunities should they arise in
the future. In 2011 we received cash of $116 million related to the sale of investments, as further discussed in Note 8 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Cash Flows Used in Financing Activities

        Under stock repurchase plans approved by our Board of Directors, we completed the repurchase of our common stock as follows:
$5,175 million in 2012, $5,496 million in 2011, $5,111 million during 2010. In the first quarter of 2013, we announced a new repurchase
program authorization of an additional $4 billion. We may make purchases under this program in the open market, through negotiated
transactions or otherwise. The timing, nature and amount of such transactions will depend on a variety of factors, including market conditions,
and the program may be suspended, discontinued or accelerated at any time. The sources of funds for the purchases under the remaining
authorization are our existing cash on hand, cash from operations and potential additional borrowings.

        During 2012, we had $5,190 million of net cash proceeds from the issuance of senior notes and $358 million of net cash proceeds from the
issuance of short-term commercial paper. We also repaid $1,500 million of our long-term debt and borrowed and repaid $400 million under our
revolving credit facility. During 2011, we had $3,990 million of net cash proceeds from the issuance of senior notes. We also repaid
$1,000 million of our long-term debt during 2011. During 2010, we had $5,978 million of net cash proceeds from the issuance of senior notes.
We also repaid $2,323 million of our long-term debt, and paid $1,537 million to settle the debt and related equity collars assumed as part of the
Liberty Transaction.

        We anticipate additional borrowings in the future in order to achieve a ratio of outstanding long-term debt equal to approximately 2.5 times
operating profit before depreciation and amortization of DIRECTV on a consolidated basis. We will continue to evaluate our optimal leverage
on an ongoing basis. We may purchase our outstanding senior notes in the future from time to time in open market transactions or otherwise as
part of liability management initiatives.

Free Cash Flow

        Free cash flow increased in 2012 as compared to 2011 due to the increase in net cash provided by operating activities described above,
partially offset by an
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increase in capital expenditures. The increase in capital expenditures resulted primarily from an increase in subscriber leased equipment, satellite
and other infrastructure primarily at DIRECTV Latin America.

Debt

        At December 31, 2012, we had $17,528 million in total outstanding borrowings, which consisted of senior notes and commercial paper
issued by DIRECTV U.S. Our outstanding borrowings are more fully described in Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in Item 8, Part II of this Annual Report.

        Senior Notes.    At December 31, 2012, DIRECTV U.S.' senior notes had a carrying value of $17,170 million and a weighted-average
interest rate of 4.60%. Our senior notes payable mature as follows: $1,000 million in 2014, $1,200 million in 2015, $2,250 million in 2016,
$1,250 million in 2017 and $11,519 million thereafter.

        Included in the amounts above are DIRECTV U.S.' £750 million of 4.375% senior notes due in 2029. In connection with the issuance of
these senior notes, DIRECTV U.S. entered into cross-currency swaps to effectively convert its fixed-rate British pound sterling denominated
debt, including annual interest payments and the payment of principal at maturity, to fixed-rate U.S. dollar denominated debt. These
cross-currency swaps are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges. The terms of the cross-currency swap agreements correspond to the related
hedged senior notes and the cross-currency swaps have maturities extending through September 2029.

        In January 2013, DIRECTV U.S. issued $750 million of 1.750% senior notes due in 2018 with proceeds, net of original issue discount, of
$743 million.

        Commercial Paper.    On November 27, 2012, DIRECTV U.S. established a commercial paper program backed by its revolving credit
facilities, which provides for the issuance of short-term commercial paper in the United States up to a maximum aggregate principal of
$2.5 billion. As of December 31, 2012, we had $358 million of short-term commercial paper outstanding, with a weighted average maturity of
90 days, at a weighted average yield of 0.54%, which may be refinanced on a periodic basis as borrowings mature.

Revolving Credit Facilities

        On September 28, 2012, DIRECTV U.S.' five year, $2.0 billion revolving credit facility dated February 7, 2011 was terminated and
replaced with a three and one-half year, $1.0 billion revolving credit facility and a five year, $1.5 billion revolving credit facility. We pay a
commitment fee of 0.15% per year for the unused commitment under the revolving credit facilities. Borrowings currently bear interest at a rate
equal to the London Interbank Offer Rate (LIBOR) plus 1.25%. Both the commitment fee and the annual interest rate may increase or decrease
under certain conditions due to changes in DIRECTV U.S.' long-term, unsecured debt ratings. Under certain conditions, DIRECTV U.S. may
increase the borrowing capacity of the revolving credit facilities by an aggregate amount of up to $500 million. Aggregate amounts outstanding
under the revolving credit facilities and the commercial paper program are limited to $2.5 billion. As of December 31, 2012, there were no
borrowings under the new revolving credit facilities.

        Borrowings under the revolving credit facilities are unsecured senior obligations of DIRECTV U.S. and will rank equally in right of
payment with all of DIRECTV U.S.' existing and future senior debt and will rank senior in right of payment to all of DIRECTV U.S.' future
subordinated debt, if any.

Covenants and Restrictions

        The revolving credit facilities require DIRECTV U.S. to maintain at the end of each fiscal quarter a specified ratio of indebtedness to
earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation and amortization. The revolving credit facilities also include covenants that restrict DIRECTV
U.S.' ability to, among other things, (i) incur additional subsidiary indebtedness, (ii) incur liens, (iii) enter into certain transactions with affiliates,
(iv) merge or consolidate with another entity, (v) sell, assign, lease or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its assets, and (vi) change its
lines of business. Additionally, the senior notes contain restrictive covenants that are similar. Should DIRECTV U.S. fail to comply with these
covenants, all or a portion of its borrowings under the senior notes could become immediately payable and its revolving credit facilities could be
terminated. At December 31, 2012, management believes DIRECTV U.S. was in compliance with all such covenants. The senior notes and
revolving credit facilities also provide that the borrowings may be required to be prepaid if certain change-in-control events, coupled with a
ratings decline, occur.
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        DIRECTV Guarantors.    On November 14, 2011, we entered into a series of Supplemental Indentures whereby DIRECTV agreed to fully
guarantee all of the senior notes then outstanding, jointly and severally with substantially all of DIRECTV Holdings LLC's domestic
subsidiaries. The Supplemental Indentures provide that DIRECTV unconditionally guarantees that the principal and interest on the respective
senior notes will be paid in full when due and that the obligations of the Co-Issuers to the holders of the outstanding senior notes will be
performed. All of the senior notes issued since November 14, 2011, the revolving credit facilities and the commercial paper program are also
similarly fully guaranteed by DIRECTV.

        As a result of the guarantees, holders of the senior notes, the revolving credit debt and the commercial paper have the benefit of
DIRECTV's interests in the assets and related earnings of our operations that are not held through DIRECTV Holdings LLC and its subsidiaries.
Those operations are primarily our DTH digital television services throughout Latin America which are held by DIRECTV Latin America
Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries, and our regional sports networks which are held by DIRECTV Sports Networks LLC and its subsidiaries.
However, the subsidiaries that own and operate the DIRECTV Latin America business and the regional sports networks have not guaranteed the
senior notes, the revolving credit facilities and the commercial paper.

        The guarantees are unsecured senior obligations of DIRECTV and rank equally in right of payment with all of DIRECTV's existing and
future senior debt and rank senior in right of payment to all of DIRECTV's future subordinated debt, if any. The guarantees are effectively
subordinated to all existing and future secured obligations, if any, of DIRECTV to the extent of the value of the assets securing the obligations.
DIRECTV will not be subject to the covenants contained in each indenture of the senior notes and our guarantees will terminate and be released
on the terms set forth in each of the indentures.

Contingencies

        Venezuela Devaluation and Foreign Currency Exchange Controls.    Companies operating in Venezuela are required to obtain government
approval to exchange Venezuelan bolivars into U.S. dollars at the official exchange rate. Our ability to pay U.S. dollar denominated obligations
and repatriate cash generated in Venezuela in excess of local operating requirements is limited, resulting in an increase in the cash balance at our
Venezuelan subsidiary. At such time that exchange controls are eased, accumulated cash balances may ultimately be repatriated at less than their
currently reported value. As of December 31, 2012, our Venezuelan subsidiary had Venezuelan bolivar denominated net monetary assets of
$466 million, including cash of $563 million, based on the official 4.3 bolivars per U.S. dollar exchange rate at that time.

        In February 2013, the Venezuelan government announced a devaluation of the bolivar from the official exchange rate of 4.3 bolivars per
U.S. dollar to an official rate of 6.3 bolivars per U.S. dollar. As a result of the devaluation, we will record a pre-tax charge in "General and
administrative expenses" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations of approximately $160 million in the first quarter of 2013, related to the
remeasurement of the bolivar denominated net monetary assets of our Venezuelan subsidiary as of the date of the devaluation. This devaluation
did not impact our results of operations, financial position or cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2012, but may affect the growth of our
Venezuelan business. There will also be ongoing impacts to our results of operations, primarily related to the translation of local financial
statements at the new exchange rate. In the event of an additional devaluation of the bolivar, we will recognize a charge to earnings based on the
amount of bolivar denominated net monetary assets held at the time of such devaluation.

        Income taxes.    During 2012, the statute of limitations expired in federal and foreign tax jurisdictions resulting in the recognition of
uncertain tax benefits. As a result we recorded a benefit of $168 million in "Income tax expense" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations
during the year ended December 31, 2012. During 2010, we entered into an agreement with a former owner to settle certain tax contingencies.
As a result of this settlement we recorded a benefit of $39 million in "Income tax expense" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations during
the year ended December 31, 2010. We engage in continuous discussions and negotiations with federal, state, and foreign taxing authorities and
reevaluate our uncertain tax positions, and, while it is often difficult to predict the final outcome or the timing of resolution of any particular tax
matter or tax position, we believe that it is reasonably possible that our unrecognized tax benefits could decrease by up to approximately
$40 million during the next twelve months.

        Globo.    As discussed in Note 21 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report, Globo has
the right to exchange its remaining Sky Brasil shares for cash or our common shares. If Globo
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exercises this right, we have the option to elect to pay the consideration in cash, shares of our common stock, or a combination of both.

        Other.    Several factors may affect our ability to fund our operations and commitments that we discuss in "Contractual Obligations",
"Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements" and "Contingencies" below. In addition, our future cash flows may be reduced if we experience, among
other things, significantly higher subscriber additions than planned, increased subscriber churn or upgrade and retention costs, higher than
planned capital expenditures for satellites and broadcast equipment, or satellite anomalies or signal theft. Additionally, DIRECTV U.S.' ability to
borrow under its revolving credit facility is contingent upon DIRECTV U.S. meeting a financial and other covenants associated with its facility
as more fully described above.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

        The following table sets forth our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2012, including the future periods in which payments are
expected. Additional details regarding these obligations are provided in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of
this Annual Report, as referenced in the table. The contractual obligations below do not include payments that could be made related to our net
unrecognized tax benefits liability, which amounted to $259 million as of December 31, 2012. The timing and amount of any future payments is
not reasonably estimable, as such payments are dependent on the completion and resolution of examinations with tax authorities.

Payments Due By Period

Contractual Obligations Total
Less than

1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years
More than

5 years
(Dollars in Millions)

Long-term debt obligations (Note 10) (a) $ 27,895 $ 796 $ 3,723 $ 4,780 $ 18,596
Purchase obligations (Note 21) (b) 7,079 2,186 3,092 808 993
Operating lease obligations (Note 21) (c) 978 94 174 174 536
Capital lease obligations (Notes 13 and 21) (d) 1,494 100 234 264 896

Total $ 37,446 $ 3,176 $ 7,223 $ 6,026 $ 21,021

(a)
Long-term debt obligations include interest calculated based on the rates in effect at December 31, 2012, however, the obligations do
not reflect potential prepayments required under indentures.

(b)
Purchase obligations consist primarily of broadcast programming commitments, regional professional team rights agreements, service
contract commitments and satellite construction and launch contracts. Broadcast programming commitments include guaranteed
minimum contractual commitments that are typically based on a flat fee or a minimum number of required subscribers subscribing to
the related programming. Actual payments may exceed the minimum payment requirements if the actual number of subscribers
subscribing to the related programming exceeds the minimum amounts. Service contract commitments include minimum
commitments for the purchase of services that have been outsourced to third parties, such as billing services, telemetry, tracking and
control services and broadcast center services. In most cases, actual payments, which are typically based on volume, usually exceed
these minimum amounts.

(c)
Certain of the operating leases contain variable escalation clauses and renewal or purchase options, which we do not consider in the
amounts disclosed.
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(d)
Capital lease obligations includes obligations under the contract for the lease of the ISDLA-1 and ISDLA-2 satellites currently under
construction for DIRECTV Latin America, which we expect to account for as a capital lease at the time the satellites are placed into
service. For further discussion, please refer to Note 21 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this
Annual Report.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

        As of December 31, 2012, we were contingently liable under standby letters of credit and bonds in the aggregate amount of $167 million
primarily related to a judicial deposit in Brazil for the ECAD matter discussed in Part I, Item 3 of this Annual Report, and insurance deductibles.

CONTINGENCIES

        For a discussion of "Contingencies", see Note 21 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual
Report.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

        For a discussion of "Certain Relationships and Related-Party Transactions," see Note 19 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

        The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
requires management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect amounts reported. Management bases its estimates, judgments
and assumptions on historical experience and on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Due to the
inherent uncertainty involved in making estimates, actual results reported for future periods may be affected by changes in those estimates. The
following represents what we believe are the critical accounting policies that may involve a higher degree of estimation, judgment and
complexity. Management has discussed the development and selection of these critical accounting estimates with the Audit Committee of our
Board of Directors, and the Audit Committee has reviewed our disclosures relating to them, which are presented below. For a summary of our
significant accounting policies, including those discussed below, see Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II,
Item 8 of this Annual Report.

        Income Taxes.    We must make certain estimates and judgments in determining provisions for income taxes. These estimates and
judgments occur in the calculation of tax credits, tax benefits and deductions, and in the calculation of certain tax assets and liabilities, which
arise from differences in the timing of recognition of revenue and expense for tax and financial statement purposes.

        We assess the recoverability of deferred tax assets at each reporting date and where applicable, record a valuation allowance to reduce the
total deferred tax asset to an amount that will, more-likely-than-not, be realized in the future. Our assessment includes an analysis of whether
deferred tax assets will be realized in the ordinary course of operations based on the available positive and negative evidence, including the
scheduling of deferred tax liabilities and forecasted income from operating activities. The underlying assumptions we use in forecasting future
taxable income require significant judgment. In the event that actual income from operating activities differs from forecasted amounts, or if we
change our estimates of forecasted income from operating activities, we could record additional charges or reduce allowances in order to adjust
the carrying value of deferred tax assets to their realizable amount. Such adjustments could be material to our consolidated financial statements.

        In addition, the recognition of a tax benefit for tax positions involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax
regulations. Judgment is required in assessing the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements or tax
returns. We provide for taxes for uncertain tax positions where assessments have not been received. We believe such tax reserves are adequate in
relation to the potential for additional assessments. Once established, we adjust these amounts only when more information is available or when
an event occurs necessitating a change to the reserves. Future events such as changes in the facts or law, judicial decisions regarding the
application of existing law or a favorable audit outcome will result in changes to the amounts provided.

        Contingent Matters.    Determining when, or if, an accrual should be recorded for a contingent matter, including but not limited to legal and
tax issues, and the amount of such accrual, if any, requires a significant amount of management judgment and estimation. We develop our
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potential financial statement impact of such an event, it is possible that upon further development or resolution of a contingent matter, we could
record a charge in a future period that would be material to our consolidated financial statements.

        Depreciable Lives of Leased Set-Top Receivers.    We currently lease most set-top receivers provided to new and existing subscribers and
therefore capitalize the cost of those set-top receivers. We depreciate set-top receivers at DIRECTV U.S. over a three to four year estimated
useful life, which is based on, among other things, management's judgment of the risk of technological obsolescence. Changes in the estimated
useful lives of set-top receivers capitalized could result in significant changes to the amounts recorded as depreciation expense. If we extended
the depreciable life of the set-top receivers at DIRECTV U.S. by one year, it would result in an approximately $240 million reduction in annual
depreciation expense.

        Valuation of Long-Lived Assets.    We evaluate the carrying value of long-lived assets to be held and used, other than goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite lives, when events and circumstances warrant such a review. We consider the carrying value of a long-lived
asset impaired when the anticipated undiscounted future cash flow from such asset is separately identifiable and is less than its carrying value. In
that event, we recognize a loss based on the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the long-lived asset. We determine fair
value primarily using the estimated future cash flows associated with the asset under review, discounted at a rate commensurate with the risk
involved, and other valuation techniques. We determine losses on long-lived assets to be disposed of in a similar manner, except that we reduce
the fair value for the cost of disposal. Changes in estimates of future cash flows could result in a write-down of the asset in a future period.

        Valuation of Goodwill and Intangible Assets with Indefinite Lives.    We evaluate the carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite lives annually in the fourth quarter or more frequently when events and circumstances change that would more likely than not result in
an impairment loss. We completed our annual impairment testing during the fourth quarter of 2012, and determined that there was no
impairment of goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite lives. As of December 31, 2012, the fair value of each reporting unit and our
intangible assets with indefinite lives significantly exceed their carrying values. See Note 7 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report.

        The goodwill evaluation requires the estimation of the fair value of reporting units where we record goodwill. We determine fair values
primarily using estimated cash flows discounted at a rate commensurate with the risk involved, when appropriate. Estimation of future cash
flows requires significant judgment about future operating results, and can vary significantly from one evaluation to the next. Risk adjusted
discount rates are not fixed and are subject to change over time. As a result, changes in estimated future cash flows and/or changes in discount
rates could result in a write-down of goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite lives in a future period which could be material to our
consolidated financial statements.

ACCOUNTING CHANGES

        For a discussion of accounting changes see Note 3 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual
Report.

 ITEM 7A.    QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

        The following discussion and the estimated amounts generated from the sensitivity analyses referred to below include forward-looking
statements of market risk which assume for analytical purposes that certain adverse market conditions may occur. Actual future market
conditions may differ materially from such assumptions and the amounts noted below are the result of analyses used for the purpose of assessing
possible risks and the mitigation thereof. Accordingly, you should not consider the forward-looking statements as our projections of future
events or losses.

General

        Our cash flows and earnings are subject to fluctuations resulting from changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and
changes in the market value of our equity investments. We manage our exposure to these market risks through internally established policies and
procedures and, when deemed appropriate, through the use of derivative financial instruments. We enter into derivative instruments only to the
extent considered necessary to meet our risk management objectives, and do not enter into derivative contracts for speculative purposes.
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Foreign Currency Risk

Transaction Exposure

        We generally conduct our business in U.S. dollars with some business conducted in a variety of foreign currencies and therefore we are
exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. Our objective in managing our exposure to foreign currency changes is to reduce
earnings and cash flow volatility associated with foreign exchange rate fluctuations. Accordingly, we may enter into foreign exchange contracts
to mitigate risks associated with foreign currency denominated assets, liabilities, commitments and anticipated foreign currency transactions.
The gains and losses on derivative foreign exchange contracts offset changes in value of the related exposures.

        As of December 31, 2012, we had no significant foreign currency exchange contracts outstanding, excluding the cross-currency swaps
described in Note 11 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report. The impact of a hypothetical
10% adverse change in exchange rates on our net monetary assets would be a loss of $146 million, net of taxes, at December 31, 2012, a portion
of which could be recorded in "Foreign currency translation adjustments" in our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

Economic Exposure

        We are exposed to the market risks associated with fluctuations in foreign exchange rates as they relate to our foreign currency
denominated debt obligations. Cross-currency swaps are used to effectively convert fixed rate foreign currency denominated debt to fixed rate
U.S. dollar denominated debt, hedging the risk that the cash flows related to annual interest payments and the payment of principal at maturity
may be adversely affected by fluctuations in currency exchange rates. The gains and losses on the cross-currency swaps offset changes in the
U.S. dollar equivalent value of the related exposures. As of December 31, 2012, the fair value of our cross-currency swaps on our £750 million
principal amount of 4.375% senior notes due in 2029 was a liability of $17 million, which is recorded in "Other liabilities and deferred credits"
in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. For additional information, refer to Note 11 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II,
Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Counterparty Credit Risk

        We manage the credit risks associated with our derivative financial instruments through diversification and the evaluation and monitoring
of the creditworthiness of the counterparties. Although we may be exposed to losses in the event of nonperformance by the counterparties, we do
not expect such losses, if any, to be significant. We have agreements with certain counterparties that include collateral provisions. These
provisions require a party with an aggregate unrealized loss position in excess of certain thresholds to post cash collateral for the amount in
excess of the threshold. The threshold levels in our collateral agreements are based on our and the counterparties' credit ratings. As of
December 31, 2012 neither we nor any of the counterparties were required to post collateral under the terms of the agreements.

Interest Rate Risk

        From time to time, we may be subject to fluctuating interest rates for variable rate borrowings, which may adversely impact our
consolidated results of operations and cash flows. We had outstanding debt of $17,528 million at December 31, 2012, which consisted
principally of DIRECTV U.S.' fixed rate borrowings.
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 ITEM 8.    FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

 REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of DIRECTV
El Segundo, California

        We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of DIRECTV and subsidiaries ("the Company") as of December 31, 2012
and 2011, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, changes in stockholders' equity (deficit) and
redeemable noncontrolling interest, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2012. Our audits also included
the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility
of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements and financial statement schedule based on
our audits.

        We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

        In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of DIRECTV and
subsidiaries at December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2012, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such
financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all
material respects, the information set forth therein.

        We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on the criteria established in Internal Control�Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 20, 2013
expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP          

Los Angeles, California
February 20, 2013
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(Dollars in Millions, Except Per

Share Amounts)
Revenues $ 29,740 $ 27,226 $ 24,102
Operating costs and expenses
Costs of revenues, exclusive of depreciation and amortization expense
Broadcast programming and other 13,028 11,655 10,074
Subscriber service expenses 2,137 1,911 1,681
Broadcast operations expenses 414 389 350
Selling, general and administrative expenses, exclusive of depreciation and amortization expense
Subscriber acquisition costs 3,397 3,390 3,005
Upgrade and retention costs 1,427 1,327 1,169
General and administrative expenses 1,815 1,576 1,445
Depreciation and amortization expense 2,437 2,349 2,482

Total operating costs and expenses 24,655 22,597 20,206

Operating profit 5,085 4,629 3,896
Interest income 59 34 39
Interest expense (842) (763) (557)
Liberty transaction and related gain � � 67
Other, net 140 84 69

Income before income taxes 4,442 3,984 3,514
Income tax expense (1,465) (1,348) (1,202)

Net income 2,977 2,636 2,312
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest (28) (27) (114)

Net income attributable to DIRECTV $ 2,949 $ 2,609 $ 2,198
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS�(continued)

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(Dollars in Millions, Except Per

Share Amounts)
Net income attributable to DIRECTV common stockholders $ 2,949 $ 2,609 $ 2,014
Net income attributable to DIRECTV Class B common stockholders, for the period of January 1, 2010
through June 16, 2010, including $160 million exchange inducement value for the Malone Transaction
(Note 15) � � 184

Net income attributable to DIRECTV $ 2,949 $ 2,609 $ 2,198

Basic earnings attributable to DIRECTV common stockholders per common share $ 4.62 $ 3.49 $ 2.31
Diluted earnings attributable to DIRECTV common stockholders per common share $ 4.58 $ 3.47 $ 2.30
Basic and diluted earnings attributable to DIRECTV Class B common stockholders per common share,
for the period of January 1, 2010 through June 16, 2010, including $160 million exchange inducement
value for the Malone Transaction (Note 15) $ � $ � $ 8.44
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding (in millions):
Basic 638 747 870
Diluted 644 752 876
Weighted average number of Class B common shares outstanding, for the period of January 1, 2010
through June 16, 2010 (in millions):
Basic � � 22
Diluted � � 22
Weighted average number of total common shares outstanding (in millions):
Basic 638 747 880
Diluted 644 752 886

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(Dollars in Millions)

Net income $ 2,977 $ 2,636 $ 2,312
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:
Defined benefit plans:

Losses related to changes in plan experience and actuarial assumptions arising during the period (45) (39) �
Amortization of amounts resulting from changes in plan experience and actuarial assumptions
recognized as periodic benefit cost 12 9 8
Amortization of amounts resulting from changes in plan provisions recognized as periodic benefit cost � 1 �
Cash flow hedges:
Unrealized losses arising during the period (10) � �
Reclassification adjustments included in net income (7) � �
Foreign currency translation adjustments (32) (94) 20
Available for sale securities:
Unrealized holding gains (losses) on securities (4) (6) 4
Reclassification adjustment for net gains recognized during period � � (3)

Other comprehensive income (loss) (86) (129) 29

Comprehensive income 2,891 2,507 2,341
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest (13) (17) (121)

Comprehensive income attributable to DIRECTV $ 2,878 $ 2,490 $ 2,220

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DIRECTV

 CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2012 2011
(Dollars in Millions,
Except Share Data)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,902 $ 873
Accounts receivable, net 2,696 2,474
Inventories 412 280
Deferred income taxes 73 62
Prepaid expenses and other 471 552

Total current assets 5,554 4,241
Satellites, net 2,357 2,215
Property and equipment, net 6,038 5,223
Goodwill 4,063 4,097
Intangible assets, net 832 909
Investments and other assets 1,711 1,738

Total assets $ 20,555 $ 18,423

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 4,618 $ 4,210
Unearned subscriber revenues and deferred credits 565 533
Short-term borrowings 358 �

Total current liabilities 5,541 4,743
Long-term debt 17,170 13,464
Deferred income taxes 1,672 1,771
Other liabilities and deferred credits 1,203 1,287
Commitments and contingencies
Redeemable noncontrolling interest 400 265
Stockholders' deficit
Common stock and additional paid-in capital�$0.01 par value, 3,950,000,000 and 3,947,000,000 shares authorized,
586,839,817 and 691,306,695 shares issued and outstanding of DIRECTV common stock at December 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011, respectively 4,021 4,799
Accumulated deficit (9,210) (7,750)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (242) (156)

Total stockholders' deficit (5,431) (3,107)

Total liabilities and stockholders' deficit $ 20,555 $ 18,423

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) AND REDEEMABLE
NONCONTROLLING INTEREST

DIRECTV
Common Shares

DIRECTV
Class B

Common Shares

Common
Stock

and Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Total
Stockholders'

Equity
(Deficit)

Redeemable
Noncontrolling

Interest
Net

Income
(Dollars in Millions, Except Share Data)

Balance as of
January 1,
2010 911,377,919 21,809,863 $ 6,689 $ (3,722) $ (56) $ 2,911 $ 400
Net Income 2,198 2,198 114 $ 2,312
Stock
repurchased
and retired (135,528,774) (973) (4,206) (5,179)
Stock options
exercised and
restricted stock
units vested
and distributed 6,050,275 (30) (30)
Malone
Transaction 26,547,624 (21,809,863)
Share-based
compensation
expense 82 82
Tax benefit
from
share-based
compensation 38 38
Dividends paid
by subsidiary to
redeemable
noncontrolling
interest (15)
Acquisition of
noncontrolling
interest,
including
related deferred
income taxes 79 79 (605)
Adjustment to
the fair value of
redeemable
noncontrolling
interest (323) (323) 323
Other 1 1
Other
comprehensive
income 29 29 7

Balance as of
December 31,
2010 808,447,044 � 5,563 (5,730) (27) (194) 224
Net Income 2,609 2,609 27 $ 2,636
Stock
repurchased
and retired (119,132,986) (825) (4,630) (5,455)
Stock options
exercised and
restricted stock

1,992,637 (48) (48)
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units vested
and distributed
Share-based
compensation
expense 103 103
Tax benefit
from
share-based
compensation 30 30
Adjustment to
the fair value of
redeemable
noncontrolling
interest (24) (24) 24
Other 1 1
Other
comprehensive
loss (129) (129) (10)

Balance as of
December 31,
2011 691,306,695 � 4,799 (7,750) (156) (3,107) 265
Net Income 2,949 2,949 28 $ 2,977
Stock
repurchased
and retired (106,691,615) (739) (4,409) (5,148)
Stock options
exercised and
restricted stock
units vested
and distributed 2,224,737 (54) (54)
Share-based
compensation
expense 109 109
Tax benefit
from
share-based
compensation 30 30
Adjustment to
the fair value of
redeemable
noncontrolling
interest (122) (122) 122
Other (2) (2)
Other
comprehensive
loss (86) (86) (15)

Balance as of
December 31,
2012 586,839,817 � $ 4,021 $ (9,210) $ (242) $ (5,431) $ 400

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DIRECTV

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(Dollars in Millions)

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net income $ 2,977 $ 2,636 $ 2,312
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 2,437 2,349 2,482
Amortization of deferred revenues and deferred credits (75) (39) (36)
Share-based compensation expense 109 103 82
Equity in earnings from unconsolidated affiliates (131) (109) (90)
Net foreign currency transaction (gain) loss 34 50 (11)
Dividends received 79 104 78
Gain on sale of investments (122) (63) (6)
Liberty transaction and related gain � � (67)
Deferred income taxes (102) 353 386
Excess tax benefit from share-based compensation (30) (25) (11)
Other 85 53 66
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (50) (524) (391)
Inventories (206) (33) (35)
Prepaid expenses and other 58 (139) (4)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 370 391 437
Unearned subscriber revenues and deferred credits 28 47 52
Other, net 173 31 (38)

Net cash provided by operating activities 5,634 5,185 5,206
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Cash paid for property and equipment (2,960) (2,924) (2,303)
Cash paid for satellites (389) (246) (113)
Investment in companies, net of cash acquired (16) (11) (617)
Proceeds from sale of investments 24 116 9
Other, net (22) 43 (75)

Net cash used in investing activities (3,363) (3,022) (3,099)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DIRECTV

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS�(continued)

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(Dollars in Millions)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Issuance of commercial paper (maturity 90 days or less), net 156 � �
Proceeds from short-term borrowings 202 � 38
Repayment of short-term borrowings � (39) �
Proceeds from borrowings under revolving credit facility 400 � �
Repayment of borrowings under revolving credit facility (400) � �
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 5,190 3,990 5,978
Debt issuance costs (36) (30) (44)
Repayments of long-term debt (1,500) (1,000) (2,323)
Repayment of collar loan and equity collars � � (1,537)
Repayment of other long-term obligations (51) (184) (127)
Common shares repurchased and retired (5,175) (5,496) (5,111)
Stock options exercised 3 � 38
Taxes paid in lieu of shares issued for share-based compensation (61) (58) (118)
Excess tax benefit from share-based compensation 30 25 11
Dividends paid to redeemable noncontrolling interest � � (15)

Net cash used in financing activities (1,242) (2,792) (3,210)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,029 (629) (1,103)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 873 1,502 2,605

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year $ 1,902 $ 873 $ 1,502

Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Cash paid for interest $ 781 $ 687 $ 460
Cash paid for income taxes 1,406 1,042 705

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DIRECTV

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1: Description of Business

        DIRECTV, which we sometimes refer to as the company, we, or us, is a leading provider of digital television entertainment in the United
States and Latin America. We operate two direct-to-home, or DTH, business units: DIRECTV U.S. and DIRECTV Latin America, which are
differentiated by their geographic locations and are engaged in acquiring, promoting, selling and distributing digital entertainment programming
primarily via satellite to residential and commercial subscribers. In addition, we own and operate three regional sports networks and own a 42%
interest in Game Show Network LLC, or GSN, a television network dedicated to game-related programming and Internet interactive game
playing. We account for our investment in GSN using the equity method of accounting.

�
DIRECTV U.S.   DIRECTV Holdings LLC and its subsidiaries, which we refer to as DIRECTV U.S., is the largest provider
of DTH digital television services and the second largest provider in the multi-channel video programming distribution
industry in the United States.

�
DIRECTV Latin America.  DIRECTV Latin America Holdings Inc. and its subsidiaries, or DIRECTV Latin America, is a
leading provider of DTH digital television services throughout Latin America. DIRECTV Latin America is comprised of:
PanAmericana, which provides services in Argentina, Chile, Colombia, Ecuador, Puerto Rico, Venezuela and certain other
countries in the region, and Sky Brasil Servicos Ltda., which we refer to as Sky Brasil, which is a 93% owned subsidiary.
DIRECTV Latin America also includes our 41% equity method investment in Innova, S. de R.L. de C.V., or Sky Mexico,
which we include in the PanAmericana segment.

�
DIRECTV Sports Networks.  DIRECTV Sports Networks LLC and its subsidiaries, or DSN, is comprised primarily of three
regional sports networks based in Seattle, Washington, Denver, Colorado and Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, each of which
operates under the brand name ROOT SPORTS®. The operating results of DSN are reported as part of the "Sports
Networks, Eliminations and Other" reporting segment.

        During the first quarter of 2012, we revised our reportable segments. As further discussed in Note 20, our DIRECTV Latin America
business unit, which was previously reported as a single segment, is now being reported as two segments, Sky Brasil and PanAmericana. We
have restated certain prior period amounts to conform to the current year presentation of reporting segments.

Note 2: Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

        We present our accompanying financial statements on a consolidated basis and include our accounts and those of our domestic and foreign
subsidiaries that we control through equity ownership or for which we are deemed to be the primary beneficiary, after elimination of
intercompany accounts and transactions.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements

        We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America, which requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported herein. We base our estimates and assumptions on
historical experience and on various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Due to the inherent uncertainty
involved in making estimates, our actual results reported in future periods may be affected by changes in those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

        We enter into multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements with our subscribers under which we provide DIRECTV receiving equipment,
services and programming during their contract period, of up to two years. We allocate consideration to each deliverable in the arrangement
based on its relative selling price. We determine the selling price of the DIRECTV receiving equipment using our best estimate. We determine
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the selling price for services based on prices charged by third parties. We determine the selling price of the programming using our standard
programming rates. The DIRECTV receiving equipment, services and programming are each considered separate units of accounting.

        We recognize subscription and pay-per-view revenues when programming is broadcast to subscribers. We recognize subscriber fees for
multiple set-top receivers and warranty services as revenue, as earned. We recognize advertising revenues when
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DIRECTV

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(continued)

the related services are performed. We defer programming payments received from subscribers in advance of the broadcast as "Unearned
subscriber revenues and deferred credits" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets until earned. We recognize revenues to be received under
contractual commitments on a straight line basis over the minimum contractual period. We report revenues net of customer credits and
discounted promotions.

Broadcast Programming and Other

        We recognize the costs of television programming distribution rights when we distribute the related programming. We recognize the costs
of television programming rights to distribute live sporting events for a season or tournament to expense using the straight-line method over the
course of the season or tournament.

        We defer advance payments in the form of cash and equity instruments from programming content providers for carriage of their signal and
recognize them as a reduction of "Broadcast programming and other" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations on a straight-line basis over
the related contract term. We record equity instruments at fair value based on quoted market prices or values determined by management.

Subscriber Acquisition Costs

        Subscriber acquisition costs consist of costs we incur to acquire new subscribers. We include the cost of set-top receivers and other
equipment, commissions we pay to national retailers, independent satellite television retailers, dealers and regional telephone companies, which
we refer to as telcos, and the cost of installation, advertising, marketing and customer call center expenses associated with the acquisition of new
subscribers in subscriber acquisition costs. We expense these costs as incurred, or when subscribers activate the DIRECTV® service, as
appropriate, except for the cost of set-top receivers leased to new subscribers, which we capitalize in "Property and equipment, net" in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets and depreciate over their estimated useful lives. In certain countries in Latin America, where our customer
agreements provide for the lease of the entire DIRECTV or SKY System, we also capitalize the costs of the other customer premises equipment
and related installation costs in "Property and equipment, net" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Although paid in advance, the retailer or
dealer earns substantially all commissions paid for customer acquisitions over 12 months from the date of subscriber activation. Should the
subscriber cancel our service during such 12 month service period, we are reimbursed for the unearned portion of the commission by the retailer
or dealer and record a decrease to subscriber acquisition costs. We include the amount of our set-top receivers capitalized each period for
subscriber acquisition activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows under the caption "Cash paid for property and equipment." See
Note 6 for additional information.

Upgrade and Retention Costs

        Upgrade and retention costs consist primarily of costs we incur for upgrade efforts for existing subscribers. We include the costs of
subscriber equipment upgrade programs for digital video recorder, or DVR, high-definition, or HD, and HD DVR receivers and local channels,
our multiple set-top receiver offers and other similar initiatives. Retention costs also include the costs of installing and providing hardware under
our movers program for subscribers relocating to a new residence. We expense these costs as incurred, except for the cost of set-top receivers
leased to existing subscribers, which we capitalize in "Property and equipment, net" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. We include the amount
of our set-top receivers capitalized each period for upgrade and retention activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows under the
caption "Cash paid for property and equipment." See Note 6 for additional information.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

        Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on deposit and highly liquid investments we purchase with original maturities of three months or
less.

Inventories

        We state inventories at the lower of average cost or market. Inventories consist of finished goods for DIRECTV System equipment and
DIRECTV System access cards.

68

Edgar Filing: DIRECTV - Form 10-K

111



DIRECTV

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(continued)

Property and Equipment, Satellites and Depreciation

        We carry property and equipment, and satellites, at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. The amounts we capitalize for satellites currently
being constructed and those that have been successfully launched include the costs of construction, launch, launch insurance, incentive
obligations and capitalized interest. We generally compute depreciation using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
assets. We amortize leasehold improvements over the lesser of the life of the asset or term of the lease.

Capitalized Software Costs

        We capitalize certain software costs incurred, either from internal or external sources, as part of "Property and equipment, net" in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets and depreciate these costs on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the software. We recognize planning,
training, support and maintenance costs incurred either prior to or following the implementation phase as expense in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations in the period in which they occur. We had unamortized capitalized software costs of $492 million as of December 31,
2012 and $551 million as of December 31, 2011. We recorded depreciation of these costs of $292 million in 2012, $234 million in 2011 and
$218 million in 2010 in "Depreciation and amortization expense" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

        Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are carried at historical cost and are subject to write-down, as needed, based upon an
impairment analysis that we must perform at least annually, or sooner if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than
not result in an impairment loss. We perform our annual impairment analysis in the fourth quarter of each year. We use estimates of fair value to
determine the amount of impairment, if any, of goodwill and intangibles assets with indefinite lives. The goodwill evaluation requires the
estimation of the fair value of reporting units where we record goodwill. We determine fair values primarily using estimated cash flows
discounted at a rate commensurate with the risk involved, when appropriate. If an impairment loss results from the annual impairment test, we
would record the loss as a pre-tax charge to operating income.

        We amortize other intangible assets using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, which range from 5 to 20 years.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets

        We evaluate the carrying value of long-lived assets to be held and used, other than goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives,
when events and circumstances warrant such a review. We consider the carrying value of a long-lived asset impaired when the anticipated
undiscounted future cash flow from such asset is separately identifiable and is less than its carrying value. In that event, we would recognize a
loss based on the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the long-lived asset. We determine fair value primarily using
estimated future cash flows associated with the asset under review, discounted at a rate commensurate with the risk involved, or other valuation
techniques. We determine losses on long-lived assets to be disposed of in a similar manner, except that we reduce the fair value for the cost of
disposal.

Foreign Currency

        The U.S. dollar is the functional currency for most of our foreign operations. We recognize gains and losses resulting from remeasurement
of these operations' foreign currency denominated assets, liabilities and transactions into the U.S. dollar in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations.

        We also have foreign operations where the local currency is their functional currency. Accordingly, these foreign entities translate assets
and liabilities from their local currencies to U.S. dollars using year-end exchange rates while income and expense accounts are translated at the
average rates in effect during the year. We record the resulting translation adjustment as part of "Accumulated other comprehensive loss," a
separate component of stockholders' deficit in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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DIRECTV

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(continued)

Investments

        We maintain investments in equity securities of unaffiliated companies. We carry non-marketable equity securities at cost. We consider
marketable equity securities available-for-sale and they are carried at current fair value based on quoted market prices with unrealized gains or
losses (excluding other-than-temporary losses), net of taxes, reported as part of "Accumulated other comprehensive loss" in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. We regularly review our investments to determine whether a decline in fair value below the cost basis is
"other-than-temporary." We consider, among other factors: the magnitude and duration of the decline; the financial health and business outlook
of the investee, including industry and sector performance, changes in technology, and operational and financing cash flow factors; and our
intent and ability to hold the investment. If we judge the decline in fair value to be other-than-temporary, we write-down the cost basis of the
security to fair value and recognize the amount in the Consolidated Statements of Operations as part of "Other, net" and record it as a
reclassification adjustment from "Accumulated other comprehensive loss" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

        We account for investments in which we own at least 20% of the voting securities or have significant influence under the equity method of
accounting. We record equity method investments at cost and adjust for the appropriate share of the net earnings or losses of the investee. We
record investee losses up to the amount of the investment plus advances and loans made to the investee, and financial guarantees made on behalf
of the investee.

Derivative Financial Instruments

        We have designated our cross-currency swaps as cash flow hedges, and accordingly, we record the effective portion of the unrealized gains
and losses on the cross-currency swaps in "Accumulated other comprehensive loss" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and reclassify those
amounts to earnings in the same periods during which the hedged debt affects earnings. We record the ineffective portion of the unrealized gains
and losses on these cross-currency swaps, if any, immediately in earnings.

Debt Issuance Costs

        We defer costs we incur to issue debt and amortize these costs to interest expense using the straight-line method over the term of the
respective obligation.

Share-Based Payment

        We grant restricted stock units and common stock options to certain employees and shares of stock to our directors as part of their annual
compensation for Board services.

        We record compensation expense equal to the fair value of stock-based awards at the grant date on a straight-line basis over the requisite
service period of up to three years, reduced for estimated forfeitures and adjusted for anticipated payout percentages related to the achievement
of performance targets.

Sales Taxes

        Sales taxes collected and remitted to state and local authorities are recorded on a net basis.

Income Taxes

        We determine deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the difference between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and
liabilities, using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which we expect the differences to reverse. We must make certain estimates and
judgments in determining income tax provisions, assessing the likelihood of recovering our deferred tax assets, and evaluating tax positions.

        We recognize a benefit in "Income tax expense" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for uncertain tax positions that are
more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination, measured at the largest amount that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized
upon settlement. Unrecognized tax benefits represent tax benefits taken or expected to be taken in income tax returns, for which the benefit has
not yet been recognized in "Income tax expense" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations due to the uncertainty of whether such benefits
will be ultimately realized. We recognize interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits in "Income tax expense" in the
Consolidated
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(continued)

Statements of Operations. Unrecognized tax benefits are recorded in "Income tax expense" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations at such
time that the benefit is effectively settled.

Advertising Costs

        We expense advertising costs primarily in "Subscriber acquisition costs" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations as incurred.
Advertising costs for print and media related to national advertising campaigns, net of payments received from programming content providers
for marketing support, were $514 million in 2012, $464 million in 2011 and $396 million in 2010.

Market Concentrations and Credit Risk

        We sell programming services and extend credit, in amounts generally not exceeding $200 each, to a large number of individual residential
subscribers throughout the United States and most of Latin America. As applicable, we maintain allowances for anticipated losses.

Fair Value Measurement

        We determine the fair value measurements of assets and liabilities based on the three level valuation hierarchy established for classification
of fair value measurements. The valuation hierarchy is based on the transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liability as of the
measurement date. Inputs refer broadly to the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability and may be
observable or unobservable. The three level hierarchy of inputs is as follows:

Level 1: Valuation is based on quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Valuation is based upon quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, or other inputs that are observable,
for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

Level 3: Valuation is based upon other unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data.

        The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, investments and other assets, accounts payable, short-term
borrowings and amounts included in accrued liabilities and other meeting the definition of a financial instrument approximated their fair values
at December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Note 3: Change in Accounting Estimate

        Depreciable Lives of Leased Set-Top Receivers.    We currently lease most set-top receivers provided to new and existing subscribers and
therefore capitalize the cost of those set-top receivers. We depreciate capitalized set-top receivers over the estimated useful life of the equipment.
As a result of the completion of an extensive evaluation of the estimated useful life of the set-top receivers in the third quarter of 2011, including
consideration of historical write-offs, improved efficiencies in our refurbishment program, improved set-top receiver failure rates over time and
management's judgment of the risk of technological obsolescence, we determined that the estimated useful life of HD set-top receivers used in
our DIRECTV U.S. business has increased to four years, from three years as previously estimated. We continue to depreciate
standard-definition, or SD, set-top receivers at DIRECTV U.S. over a three-year estimated useful life. We accounted for this change in the useful
life of the HD set-top receivers at DIRECTV U.S. as a change in an accounting estimate beginning July 1, 2011. This change had the effect of
reducing depreciation and amortization expense and increasing both net income attributable to DIRECTV and earnings per share in our
consolidated results of operations as follows:

Years Ended
December 31,

2012 2011
(Dollars in Millions,

Except Per Share
Amounts)

Depreciation and amortization expense $ (176) $ (141)
Net income attributable to DIRECTV 109 86
Basic earnings attributable to DIRECTV common stockholders per common share $ 0.17 $ 0.12
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Diluted earnings attributable to DIRECTV common stockholders per common share $ 0.17 $ 0.11
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(continued)

Note 4: Acquisition

Globo Transaction

        In connection with our acquisition of Sky Brasil in 2006, our partner who holds the remaining 7% interest, Globo Comunicações e
Participações S.A., or Globo, was granted the right, until January 2014, to require us to purchase all or a portion (but not less than half) of its
25.9% interest in Sky Brasil. Upon the exercise of this right in the fourth quarter of 2010, we paid $605 million in cash, which was the fair value
of the approximate 19% interest purchased, and recorded a reduction to "Redeemable noncontrolling interest" in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. In addition, we recorded $79 million of net deferred tax assets related to the acquisition of this interest as an offset to "Common stock
and additional paid-in capital" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. We and our subsidiaries now own 93% of Sky Brasil and Globo owns the
remaining 7%.

        In accordance with our agreement, Globo will have the right to exchange all (but not less than all) of its remaining equity interest in Sky
Brasil until January 2014.

Note 5: Accounts Receivable, Net

        The following table sets forth the amounts recorded for "Accounts receivable, net" in our Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31:

2012 2011
(Dollars in Millions)

Subscriber $ 1,804 $ 1,639
Telco 459 512
Trade and other 514 402

Total 2,777 2,553
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts (81) (79)

Accounts receivable, net $ 2,696 $ 2,474

Note 6: Satellites, Net and Property and Equipment, Net

        The following table sets forth the amounts recorded for "Satellites, net" and "Property and equipment, net" in our Consolidated Balance
Sheets as of December 31:

Estimated
Useful Lives

(years) 2012 2011
(Dollars in Millions)

Satellites 10-16 $ 3,188 $ 3,206
Satellites under construction � 693 302

Total 3,881 3,508
Less: Accumulated depreciation (1,524) (1,293)

Satellites, net $ 2,357 $ 2,215

Land and improvements 9-30 $ 44 $ 44
Buildings and leasehold improvements 2-40 441 406
Machinery and equipment 2-23 1,988 1,947
Capitalized software 3 2,392 2,198
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Subscriber leased set-top equipment 3-7 9,053 8,105
Construction in-progress � 750 418

Total 14,668 13,118
Less: Accumulated depreciation (8,630) (7,895)

Property and equipment, net $ 6,038 $ 5,223

        We capitalized interest costs of $24 million in 2012, $13 million in 2011 and $6 million in 2010 as part of the cost of our property and
satellites under construction. Depreciation expense, including amortization of property and equipment and satellites held under capital leases,
was $2,342 million in 2012, $2,213 million in 2011 and $2,292 million in 2010.
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        The following table sets forth property and equipment leased to our subscribers as of December 31:

2012 2011
(Dollars in Millions)

Subscriber leased set-top equipment $ 9,053 $ 8,105
Less: Accumulated depreciation of subscriber leased equipment (5,040) (4,618)

Subscriber leased set-top equipment, net $ 4,013 $ 3,487

        As discussed above in Note 3, effective July 1, 2011, we began depreciating capitalized HD set-top receivers at DIRECTV U.S. over a
four-year estimated useful life. Previously, we depreciated HD set-top receivers at DIRECTV U.S. over a three-year estimated useful life. We
continue to depreciate SD set-top receivers at DIRECTV U.S. over a three-year useful life. At DIRECTV Latin America, we depreciate
capitalized subscriber leased equipment, which includes the cost of the set-top receiver, installation and the dish. HD set-top-receivers have a
three-year estimated useful life and SD set-top receivers have a seven-year estimated useful life. The useful life used to depreciate capitalized
set-top receivers is based on, among other things, management's judgment of the risk of technological obsolescence. Changes in the estimated
useful lives of set-top receivers capitalized could result in significant changes to the amounts recorded as depreciation expense. We regularly
evaluate the estimate useful life of our capitalized set-top receivers.

Note 7: Goodwill and Intangible Assets, Net

        The following table sets forth the changes in the carrying amounts of "Goodwill" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets by segment for the
years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011:

DIRECTV Latin America Sports
Networks,

Eliminations
and Other

DIRECTV
U.S. Sky Brasil PanAmericana Total

(Dollars in Millions)
Balance as of January 1, 2011 $ 3,176 $ 466 $ 211 $ 295 $ 4,148
Foreign currency translation adjustment � (52) � � (52)
Acquisition accounting adjustments 1 � � � 1

Balance as of December 31, 2011 3,177 414 211 295 4,097
Foreign currency translation adjustment � (34) � � (34)

Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ 3,177 $ 380 $ 211 $ 295 $ 4,063
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        The following table sets forth the components for "Intangible assets, net" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of:

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
Estimated

Useful
Lives

(years)
Gross

Amount
Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Amount

Gross
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Amount

(Dollars in Millions)
Orbital slots Indefinite $ 432 $ � $ 432 $ 432 $ � $ 432
Satellite rights 15 101 19 82 110 12 98
Subscriber related 5-10 383 371 12 402 353 49
Dealer network 15 130 117 13 130 108 22
Trade name and other 5-20 174 46 128 159 37 122
Distribution
agreements 6-20 208 43 165 208 22 186

Total intangible assets $ 1,428 $ 596 $ 832 $ 1,441 $ 532 $ 909

        Amortization expense of intangible assets was $95 million in 2012, $136 million in 2011 and $190 million in 2010.

        Estimated amortization expense for intangible assets in each of the next five years and thereafter is as follows: $58 million in 2013,
$50 million in 2014, $45 million in 2015, $24 million in 2016, $24 million in 2017 and $199 million thereafter.

        We performed our annual impairment tests for goodwill and orbital slots in the fourth quarters of 2012, 2011 and 2010. The estimated fair
values for each reporting unit and the orbital slots exceeded our carrying values, and accordingly, no impairment losses were recorded during
2012, 2011 or 2010. Additionally, there are no accumulated impairment losses as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Satellite Rights

        Sky Brasil has an agreement for the right to use a satellite should its existing leased satellite suffer a significant failure and replacement
capacity is needed. During the first quarter of 2010, the satellite was launched and successfully placed into its assigned orbit, and we recorded
the total obligation for the right to use the satellite of $116 million in "Intangible assets, net" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. We made a
$29 million payment during 2010 and we made the remaining $87 million payment during 2011. The intangible asset is being amortized on a
straight line basis over the 15-year term of the agreement.

Note 8: Investments

Equity Method Investments

        Sky Mexico.    DIRECTV accounts for the excess of the carrying value for its investment in Sky Mexico over DIRECTV's share of Sky
Mexico's equity in memo accounts allocated to goodwill and definite lived intangibles attributable to affiliate and advertising relationships. We
recognized $4 million in 2012, $25 million in 2011 and $25 million in 2010 of amortization on definite lived intangibles in equity earnings of
Sky Mexico related to these assets.

        Game Show Network.    Due to certain governance arrangements which limit DIRECTV's ability to control GSN, we account for GSN as an
equity method investment. In March 2011, we sold a 5% ownership interest in GSN to our equity partner for $60 million in cash, reducing our
ownership interest to 60%. We recognized a pre-tax gain of $25 million ($16 million after tax) on the sale in "Other, net" in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations, which represents the difference between the selling price and the carrying amount of the portion of our equity method
investment sold.

        In December 2012, we sold an 18% interest in GSN for $234 million to our equity partner, which reduced our ownership interest from 60%
to 42%. We recognized a pre-tax gain of $111 million ($68 million after tax) on the sale in "Other, net" in the Consolidated Statement of
Operations, which represents the difference between the selling price and the carrying amount of the portion of our equity method investment
sold. Under the terms of the purchase and sale agreement, our equity partner has the option to pay the $234 million selling price either in full in
April 2013, or in two equal installments of $117 million each: one in April 2013 and the second in April 2014. All unpaid amounts will accrue
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interest payable to us at a rate of 10% per year. This sale was considered a non-cash investing activity for purposes of the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2012.

        DIRECTV accounts for the excess of the carrying value for its investment in GSN over DIRECTV's share of GSN's equity in memo
accounts allocated to
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goodwill and definite lived intangibles attributable to affiliate and advertising relationships. We recognized $10 million in 2012, $10 million in
2011 and $12 million in 2010 of amortization on definite lived intangibles in equity earnings of GSN related to these assets.

        Other.    In April 2011, we sold an equity method investment for $55 million in cash. As a result of this sale, we recognized a pre-tax gain
of $37 million ($23 million after tax) on the sale in "Other, net" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, which represents the difference
between the selling price and the carrying amount of the equity method investment sold.

        The following table sets forth the carrying value of our investments which we account for under the equity method of accounting as of
December 31:

2012 2011
(Dollars in Millions)

Sky Mexico $ 510 $ 490
GSN 291 420
Other equity method investments 149 131

Total investments accounted for under the equity method of accounting $ 950 $ 1,041

        The following table sets forth equity in earnings and losses of our investments accounted for under the equity method of accounting for the
years ended December 31:

2012 2011 2010
(Dollars in Millions)

Sky Mexico $ 62 $ 52 $ 33
GSN 42 29 33
Other 27 28 24

Total net equity earnings for investments accounted for under the equity method of accounting $ 131 $ 109 $ 90

        We received cash dividends of $79 million in 2012, $104 million in 2011 and $78 million in 2010 from companies that we account for
under the equity method. Undistributed earnings from equity method investments were $302 million as of December 31, 2012 and $256 million
as of December 31, 2011.

Equity Securities

        We had investments in non-marketable equity securities of $68 million as of December 31, 2012 and $56 million as of December 31, 2011,
which were stated at cost. We also had investments in marketable equity securities of $11 million as of December 31, 2012 and $17 million as of
December 31, 2011, which were carried at fair market value.

Note 9: Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

        The following table sets forth the significant components of "Accounts payable and accrued liabilities" in our Consolidated Balance Sheets
as of December 31:

2012 2011
(Dollars in Millions)

Programming costs $ 2,194 $ 2,006
Accounts payable 1,208 1,195
Payroll and employee benefits 347 307
Other 869 702

Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 4,618 $ 4,210
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        As of December 31, 2012, there were $104 million of amounts payable to vendors for property and equipment and $5 million of amounts
payable for satellites in "Accounts payable and accrued liabilities" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, which is considered a non-cash investing
activity for purposes of the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2012. As of December 31, 2011 there were
$68 million of amounts payable to vendors for property and equipment and $3 million of amounts payable for satellites in "Accounts payable
and accrued liabilities" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, which is considered a non-cash investing activity for purposes of the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2011.
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Note 10: Debt

        The following table sets forth our outstanding debt as of December 31:

2012 2011
(Dollars in Millions)

Long-term debt
Senior notes $ 17,170 $ 13,464
Short-term borrowings
Commercial paper 358 �

Total debt $ 17,528 $ 13,464

2012 Financing Transactions

        In the first quarter of 2012, DIRECTV U.S. borrowed and repaid $400 million under its $2 billion revolving credit facility, which was
terminated on September 28, 2012, and replaced with a three and one-half year, $1 billion revolving credit facility and a five year, $1.5 billion
revolving credit facility.

        On March 8, 2012, DIRECTV U.S. issued the following senior notes in private placement transactions:

Principal
Proceeds, net
of discount

(Dollars in Millions)
2.400% senior notes due in 2017 $ 1,250 $ 1,249
3.800% senior notes due in 2022 1,500 1,499
5.150% senior notes due in 2042 1,250 1,248

$ 4,000 $ 3,996

        We incurred $25 million of debt issuance costs in connection with this transaction.

        On May 15, 2012, DIRECTV U.S. redeemed, pursuant to the terms of its indenture, all of its then outstanding $1,500 million of 7.625%
senior notes due in 2016, at a price of 103.813%, plus accrued and unpaid interest, for a total of $1,614 million. We recorded a pre-tax charge of
$64 million ($40 million after tax) during the second quarter of 2012, of which $57 million resulted from the premium paid for the redemption
and $7 million resulted from the write-off of deferred debt issuance and other transaction costs. The charge was recorded in "Other, net" in our
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

        On September 11, 2012, DIRECTV U.S. issued, pursuant to a registration statement, £750 million ($1,208 million) in aggregate principal
of 4.375% senior notes due in 2029 resulting in proceeds, net of an original issue discount, of £742 million ($1,194 million). The U.S. dollar
amounts reflect the conversion of the £750 million aggregate principal and the £742 million proceeds, net of discount, to U.S. dollars based on
the exchange rate of £1.00/ $1.61 at September 11, 2012. In connection with the issuance of these senior notes, DIRECTV U.S. entered into
cross-currency swaps to effectively convert its fixed-rate British pound sterling denominated debt, including annual interest payments and the
payment of principal at maturity, to fixed-rate U.S. dollar denominated debt, as further discussed in Note 11. We incurred $9 million of debt
issuance costs in connection with this transaction.

        On November 27, 2012, DIRECTV U.S. established a $2.5 billion commercial paper program backed by its revolving credit facilities, as
discussed in further detail below. For the year ended December 31, 2012, borrowings under the commercial paper program, net of repayments,
were $358 million.

2011 Financing Transactions

        On March 10, 2011, DIRECTV U.S. issued the following senior notes:

Edgar Filing: DIRECTV - Form 10-K

124



Principal
Proceeds, net
of discount

(Dollars in Millions)
3.500% senior notes due in 2016 $ 1,500 $ 1,497
5.000% senior notes due in 2021 1,500 1,493
6.375% senior notes due in 2041 1,000 1,000

$ 4,000 $ 3,990

        We incurred $24 million of debt issuance costs in connection with this transaction.
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        On March 17, 2011, DIRECTV U.S. purchased, pursuant to a tender offer, $341 million of its then outstanding $1,002 million of 6.375%
senior notes due in 2015 at a price of 103.313%, plus accrued and unpaid interest, for a total of $358 million. On June 15, 2011, DIRECTV U.S.
redeemed, pursuant to the terms of its indenture, the remaining $659 million of its outstanding 6.375% senior notes due 2015, at a price of
102.125%, plus accrued and unpaid interest, for a total of $694 million. The redemption of the 6.375% senior notes resulted in a 2011 pre-tax
charge of $25 million, $16 million after tax, primarily for the premiums paid. The charge was recorded in "Other, net" in our Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

2010 Financing Transactions

        On March 11, 2010, DIRECTV U.S. issued the following senior notes:

Principal
Proceeds, net
of discount

(Dollars in Millions)
3.550% senior notes due in 2015 $ 1,200 $ 1,199
5.200% senior notes due in 2020 1,300 1,298
6.350% senior notes due in 2040 500 499

$ 3,000 $ 2,996

        We incurred $17 million of debt issuance costs in connection with these transactions.

        On March 16, 2010, DIRECTV U.S. repaid the $985 million of remaining principal on Term Loan C of its senior secured credit facility.
The repayment of Term Loan C resulted in a 2010 pre-tax charge of $9 million ($6 million after tax), of which $6 million resulted from the
write-off of unamortized discount and $3 million resulted from the write-off of deferred debt issuance and other transaction costs. The charge
was recorded in "Other, net" in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

        On August 17, 2010, pursuant to a registration statement, DIRECTV U.S. issued the following senior notes:

Principal
Proceeds, net
of discount

(Dollars in Millions)
3.125% senior notes due in 2016 $ 750 $ 750
4.600% senior notes due in 2021 1,000 999
6.000% senior notes due in 2040 1,250 1,233

$ 3,000 $ 2,982

        We incurred $19 million of debt issuance costs in connection with these transactions.

        On August 20, 2010, DIRECTV U.S. repaid the $1,220 million of remaining principal on Term Loans A and B of its senior secured credit
facility. The repayment of Term Loans A and B resulted in a 2010 pre-tax charge of $7 million ($4 million after tax) resulting from the write-off
of deferred debt issuance and other transaction costs. The charge was recorded in "Other, net" in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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Senior Notes

        The following table sets forth our outstanding senior notes balance as of December 31:

Principal
amount

Carrying value, net of
unamortized original

issue discounts or
including premiums

2012 2012 2011
(Dollars in Millions)

4.750% senior notes due in 2014 $ 1,000 $ 999 $ 999
3.550% senior notes due in 2015 1,200 1,200 1,199
3.125% senior notes due in 2016 750 750 750
3.500% senior notes due in 2016 1,500 1,498 1,498
7.625% senior notes due in 2016 � � 1,500
2.400% senior notes due in 2017 1,250 1,249 �
5.875% senior notes due in 2019 1,000 995 994
5.200% senior notes due in 2020 1,300 1,298 1,298
4.600% senior notes due in 2021 1,000 999 999
5.000% senior notes due in 2021 1,500 1,495 1,494
3.800% senior notes due in 2022 1,500 1,499 �
4.375% senior notes due in 2029 (1) 1,219 1,206 �
6.350% senior notes due in 2040 500 500 499
6.000% senior notes due in 2040 1,250 1,234 1,234
6.375% senior notes due in 2041 1,000 1,000 1,000
5.150% senior notes due in 2042 1,250 1,248 �

Total senior notes $ 17,219 $ 17,170 $ 13,464

(1)
The amounts for the 4.375% senior notes due in 2029 reflect the remeasurement of £750 million aggregate principal and £742 million
carrying value to U.S. dollars based on the exchange rate of £1.00/$1.63 at December 31, 2012.

        The fair value of our senior notes was approximately $18,598 million at December 31, 2012 and $14,512 million at December 31, 2011.
We calculated the fair values based on quoted market prices of our senior notes, which is a Level 1 input under the accounting guidance for fair
value measurements of assets and liabilities.

        All of our senior notes were issued by DIRECTV Holdings LLC and DIRECTV Financing Co., Inc., or the Co-Issuers, and have been
registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

        Our senior notes payable mature as follows: $1,000 million in 2014, $1,200 million in 2015, $2,250 million in 2016, $1,250 million in 2017
and $11,519 million thereafter. The amount of interest accrued related to our outstanding debt was $246 million at December 31, 2012 and
$201 million at December 31, 2011.

Collar Loan

        On November 19, 2009, The DIRECTV Group, Inc., now a wholly owned subsidiary of DIRECTV, and Liberty Media Corporation
completed a series of transactions, which we refer to collectively as the Liberty Transaction. As part of the Liberty Transaction, we assumed a
credit facility and related equity collars, which we refer to as the Collar Loan. During the first quarter of 2010, we paid $1,537 million to repay
the remaining principal balance and accrued interest on the credit facility, and to settle the equity collars. As a result, we recorded a gain of
$67 million in "Liberty transaction and related gain" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations in the first quarter of 2010 related to the
Collar Loan.
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Commercial Paper

        On November 27, 2012, DIRECTV U.S. established a commercial paper program backed by its revolving credit facilities, which provides
for the issuance of short-term commercial paper in the United States up to a maximum aggregate principal of $2.5 billion. As of December 31,
2012, we had $358 million of short-term commercial paper outstanding, with a weighted average maturity of 90 days, at a weighted average
yield of 0.54%, which may be refinanced on a periodic basis as borrowings mature. Aggregate amounts outstanding under the revolving credit
facilities and commercial paper program are limited to $2.5 billion.
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Revolving Credit Facilities

        On September 28, 2012, DIRECTV U.S.' five year, $2.0 billion revolving credit facility dated February 7, 2011 was terminated and
replaced with a three and one-half year, $1.0 billion revolving credit facility and a five year, $1.5 billion revolving credit facility. We pay a
commitment fee of 0.15% per year for the unused commitment under the revolving credit facilities. Borrowings currently bear interest at a rate
equal to the London Interbank Offer Rate (LIBOR) plus 1.25%. Both the commitment fee and the annual interest rate may increase or decrease
under certain conditions due to changes in DIRECTV U.S.' long-term, unsecured debt ratings. Under certain conditions, DIRECTV U.S. may
increase the borrowing capacity of the revolving credit facilities by an aggregate amount of up to $500 million. Aggregate amounts outstanding
under the revolving credit facilities and the commercial paper program are limited to $2.5 billion. As of December 31, 2012, there were no
borrowings under the new revolving credit facilities.

        Borrowings under the revolving credit facilities are unsecured senior obligations of DIRECTV U.S. and will rank equally in right of
payment with all of DIRECTV U.S.' existing and future senior debt and will rank senior in right of payment to all of DIRECTV U.S.' future
subordinated debt, if any.

Covenants and Restrictions

        The revolving credit facilities require DIRECTV U.S. to maintain at the end of each fiscal quarter a specified ratio of indebtedness to
earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation and amortization. The revolving credit facilities also include covenants that restrict DIRECTV
U.S.' ability to, among other things, (i) incur additional subsidiary indebtedness, (ii) incur liens, (iii) enter into certain transactions with affiliates,
(iv) merge or consolidate with another entity, (v) sell, assign, lease or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its assets, and (vi) change its
lines of business. Additionally, the senior notes contain restrictive covenants that are similar. Should DIRECTV U.S. fail to comply with these
covenants, all or a portion of its borrowings under the senior notes could become immediately payable and its revolving credit facilities could be
terminated. At December 31, 2012, management believes DIRECTV U.S. was in compliance with all such covenants. The senior notes and
revolving credit facilities also provide that the borrowings may be required to be prepaid if certain change-in-control events, coupled with a
ratings decline, occur.

        DIRECTV Guarantors.    On November 14, 2011, we entered into a series of Supplemental Indentures whereby DIRECTV agreed to fully
guarantee all of the senior notes then outstanding, jointly and severally with substantially all of DIRECTV Holdings LLC's domestic
subsidiaries. The Supplemental Indentures provide that DIRECTV unconditionally guarantees that the principal and interest on the respective
senior notes will be paid in full when due and that the obligations of the Co-Issuers to the holders of the outstanding senior notes will be
performed. All of the senior notes issued since November 14, 2011, the revolving credit facilities and the commercial paper program are also
similarly fully guaranteed by DIRECTV.

        As a result of the guarantees, holders of the senior notes, the revolving credit debt and the commercial paper have the benefit of
DIRECTV's interests in the assets and related earnings of our operations that are not held through DIRECTV Holdings LLC and its subsidiaries.
Those operations are primarily our DTH digital television services throughout Latin America which are held by DIRECTV Latin America
Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries, and our regional sports networks which are held by DIRECTV Sports Networks LLC and its subsidiaries.
However, the subsidiaries that own and operate the DIRECTV Latin America business and the regional sports networks have not guaranteed the
senior notes, the revolving credit facilities and the commercial paper.

        The guarantees are unsecured senior obligations of DIRECTV and rank equally in right of payment with all of DIRECTV's existing and
future senior debt and rank senior in right of payment to all of DIRECTV's future subordinated debt, if any. The guarantees are effectively
subordinated to all existing and future secured obligations, if any, of DIRECTV to the extent of the value of the assets securing the obligations.
DIRECTV will not be subject to the covenants contained in each indenture of the senior notes and our guarantees will terminate and be released
on the terms set forth in each of the indentures.

Restricted Cash

        Restricted cash of $6 million as of December 31, 2012 and $30 million as of December 31, 2011 was included as part of "Prepaid expenses
and other" in our
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Consolidated Balance Sheets. These amounts secure our letter of credit obligations and restrictions on the cash will be removed as the letters of
credit expire.

Note 11: Derivative Financial Instruments

Cross-Currency Swaps

        In connection with the issuance of the £750 million of 4.375% senior notes due in 2029 discussed in Note 10, DIRECTV U.S. entered into
cross-currency swap agreements to manage the related foreign exchange risk by effectively converting all of the fixed-rate British pound sterling
denominated debt, including annual interest payments and the payment of principal at maturity, to fixed-rate U.S. dollar denominated debt.
These cross-currency swaps are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges. The terms of the cross-currency swap agreements correspond to the
related hedged senior notes and the cross-currency swaps have maturities extending through September 2029.

        We record unrealized gains on cross-currency swaps at fair value as assets and unrealized losses on cross-currency swaps at fair value as
liabilities. As of December 31, 2012, we recorded the fair value of unrealized losses on cross-currency swaps in the amount of $17 million in
"Other liabilities and deferred credits" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. We calculated the fair value of the cross-currency swap contracts
using an income-approach model (discounted cash flow analysis), the use of which is considered a Level 2 valuation technique, using observable
inputs, such as foreign currency exchange rates, swap rates, cross-currency basis swap spreads and incorporating counterparty credit risk. These
cross-currency swaps have been designated as cash flow hedges, and accordingly, the effective portion of the unrealized gains and losses on the
cross-currency swaps is reported in "Accumulated other comprehensive loss" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and reclassified to earnings in
the same periods during which the hedged debt affects earnings. The ineffective portion of the unrealized gains and losses on these
cross-currency swaps, if any, is recorded immediately in earnings. During the year ended December 31, 2012, DIRECTV U.S. reclassified
$11 million ($7 million after tax) from "Accumulated other comprehensive loss" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, into "Other, net" in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations, to offset $11 million of remeasurement loss on the British pound sterling denominated debt. We
evaluate the effectiveness of our cross-currency swaps on a quarterly basis. We measured no ineffectiveness for the year ended December 31,
2012.

        Collateral Arrangements.    We have agreements with our cross-currency swap counterparties that include collateral provisions which
require a party with an unrealized loss position in excess of certain thresholds to post cash collateral for the amount in excess of the threshold.
The threshold levels in our collateral agreements are based on each party's credit ratings. As of December 31, 2012, neither we nor any of our
counterparties were required to post collateral under the terms of the cross-currency swap agreements. We do not offset the fair value of
collateral, whether the right to reclaim cash collateral (a receivable) or the obligation to return cash collateral (a payable), against the fair value
of the derivative instruments.

Note 12: Income Taxes

        We base our income tax expense or benefit on reported "Income before income taxes." Deferred income tax assets and liabilities reflect the
impact of temporary differences between the amounts of assets and liabilities recognized for financial reporting purposes and such amounts
recognized for tax purposes, as measured by applying currently enacted tax laws.
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        "Income tax expense" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations consisted of the following for the years ended December 31:

2012 2011 2010
(Dollars in Millions)

Current tax expense:
U.S. federal $ 980 $ 631 $ 391
Foreign 309 253 227
State and local 113 107 20

Total 1,402 991 638

Deferred tax expense (benefit):
U.S. federal (25) 284 596
Foreign 63 59 (118)
State and local 25 14 86

Total 63 357 564

Total income tax expense $ 1,465 $ 1,348 $ 1,202

        "Income before income taxes" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations included the following components for the years ended
December 31:

2012 2011 2010
(Dollars in Millions)

U.S. income $ 3,442 $ 3,044 $ 2,809
Foreign income 1,000 940 705

Total $ 4,442 $ 3,984 $ 3,514

        Our income tax expense was different than the amount computed using the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate for the reasons set forth in
the following table for the years ended December 31:

2012 2011 2010
(Dollars in Millions)

Expected expense at U.S. federal statutory income tax rate $ 1,555 $ 1,394 $ 1,230
U.S. state and local income tax expense, net of federal benefit 87 75 106
Liberty Transaction charges not recoverable 1 1 4
Change in unrecognized tax benefits (154) 40 (40)
Noncontrolling interests in partnership earnings and taxes � 2 (44)
Foreign taxes, net of federal tax benefits (3) (82) 9
Change in valuation allowance 3 (40) (32)
Multistate tax planning � � (20)
Tax credits (30) (47) (7)
Other 6 5 (4)

Total income tax expense $ 1,465 $ 1,348 $ 1,202
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        Temporary differences and carryforwards that gave rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31 were as follows:

2012 2011
Deferred

Tax
Assets

Deferred
Tax

Liabilities

Deferred
Tax

Assets

Deferred
Tax

Liabilities
(Dollars in Millions)

Accruals and advances $ 466 $ 273 $ 418 $ 268
Prepaid expenses � 32 � 34
State taxes 74 � 73 �
Depreciation, amortization and asset impairment charges � 1,406 � 1,155
Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards 626 � 610 �
Programming contract liabilities 46 � 48 �
Unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses � 79 � 105
Tax basis differences in investments and affiliates 261 824 91 804
Other � � 6 5

Subtotal 1,473 2,614 1,246 2,371
Valuation allowance (432) � (466) �

Total deferred taxes $ 1,041 $ 2,614 $ 780 $ 2,371

        Included in "Investments and other assets" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets are $116 million at December 31, 2012 and $210 million at
December 31, 2011 of noncurrent deferred tax assets. Also included in "Accounts payable and accrued liabilities" in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets are $90 million at December 31, 2012 and $92 million at December 31, 2011 of current deferred tax liabilities.

        We assessed the deferred tax assets for the respective periods for recoverability and, where applicable, we recorded a valuation allowance
to reduce the total deferred tax assets to an amount that will, more likely than not, be realized in the future.

        The valuation allowance balances of $432 million at December 31, 2012 and $466 million at December 31, 2011, are primarily attributable
to unused foreign operating losses and unused capital losses, both of which are available for carry forward. For the year ended December 31,
2012, the decrease in the valuation allowance was primarily attributable to a reduction in the deferred tax asset on capital loss carryforwards.

        Although realization is not assured, we have concluded that it is more likely than not that our unreserved deferred tax assets will be realized
in the ordinary course of operations based on available positive and negative evidence, including scheduling of deferred tax liabilities and
projected income from operating activities. The underlying assumptions we use in forecasting future taxable income require significant judgment
and take into account our recent performance.

        As of December 31, 2012, we have $17 million of federal net operating loss carryforward which expires between 2027 and 2028. The
utilization of the federal net operating loss carryforward is subject to an annual limitation under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code,
however we believe that we will have sufficient taxable income during the limitation period to utilize all of the carryforward. We also have
foreign tax credit carryovers of $133 million which expire between 2020 and 2022, state net operating loss carryforwards of $30 million which
expire between 2029 and 2030, and approximately $2 billion of foreign net operating losses that are primarily attributable to operations in Brazil
with varying expiration dates.

        As a result of the currency exchange process in Venezuela since 2010, exclusive of the payment of some intercompany obligations, we
have been unable to repatriate excess cash balances. As of December 31, 2012, the cumulative amount of earnings upon which U.S. income
taxes have not been provided is approximately $536 million. Should these earnings be distributed in the form of dividends, the distributions
would be subject to U.S. federal income tax at the statutory rate of 35 percent, less foreign tax credits available to offset such distributions.
Because the time or manner of repatriation is uncertain, we cannot determine the impact of local taxes, withholding taxes and foreign tax credits
associated with the future repatriation of such earnings and therefore cannot quantify the potential tax liability.
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        No income tax provision has been made for the portion of undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries, excluding Venezuela, deemed
permanently reinvested that amounted to approximately $11 million in 2012. It is not practicable to determine the amount of the unrecognized
deferred tax liability related to the investments in these foreign subsidiaries.

        A reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the total amounts of gross unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

Gross Unrecognized
Tax Benefits

(Dollars in Millions)
Balance as of January 1, 2010 $ 527
Increases in tax positions for prior years 7
Decreases in tax positions for prior years (207)
Increases in tax positions for the current year 35

Balance as of December 31, 2010 362
Increases in tax positions for prior years 17
Decreases in tax positions for prior years (4)
Increases in tax positions for the current year 15

Balance as of December 31, 2011 390
Decreases in tax positions for prior years (6)
Increases in tax positions for the current year 35
Expiration of the statute of limitations (141)

Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ 278

        As of December 31, 2012, our unrecognized tax benefits totaled $278 million, including $227 million of tax positions the recognition of
which would affect the annual effective income tax rate. The decrease in the unrecognized tax benefits is primarily attributable to the expiration
of the statute of limitations in federal and foreign tax jurisdictions.

        We recorded interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits of $12 million in 2012, $16 million in 2011 and $21 million
in 2010 in "Income tax expense" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. We have accrued, as part of our liability for unrecognized tax
benefits, interest and penalties of $32 million as of December 31, 2012, and $67 million as of December 31, 2011.

        We file numerous consolidated and separate income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and in many state and foreign jurisdictions.
For U.S. federal tax purposes, the tax years 2010 and 2011 remain open for examination. The California tax years 2001 through 2011 remain
open to examination and the income tax returns in the other state and foreign tax jurisdictions in which we have operations are generally subject
to examination for a period of three to five years after filing of the respective return.

        We engage in continuous discussions and negotiations with federal, state, and foreign taxing authorities and reevaluate our uncertain tax
positions, and, while it is often difficult to predict the final outcome or the timing of resolution of any particular tax matter or tax position, we
believe that it is reasonably possible that our unrecognized tax benefits could decrease by up to approximately $40 million during the next
twelve months.

Note 13: Capital Lease Obligations

        We include the current and noncurrent portions of the present value of the net minimum lease payments under capital leases for satellites
and vehicles in "Accounts payable and accrued liabilities" and "Other liabilities and deferred credits" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
following table sets forth the present value of the net minimum lease payments under capital leases for satellites
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and vehicles as of December 31, 2012, along with total minimum lease payments for the each of the years ending December 31:

Minimum Lease Payments
(Dollars in Millions)

2013 $ 100
2014 96
2015 90
2016 84
2017 79
Thereafter 289

Total minimum lease payments 738
Less: Amount representing interest (210)

Present value of net minimum lease payments $ 528

        Excluded from the table above are future payments under the contract for the lease of the ISDLA-1 and ISDLA-2 satellites currently under
construction for DIRECTV Latin America, which we expect to account for as a capital lease at the time the satellites are placed into service. See
Note 21 for further discussion.

        We include assets held under capitalized leases in "Satellites, net" and "Property and Equipment, net" in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The following table sets forth assets held under capital leases as of December 31:

2012 2011
(Dollars in Millions)

Satellites under capital leases $ 509 $ 527
Less: Accumulated amortization (190) (140)

Satellites, net under capital leases $ 319 $ 387

Property and equipment under capital leases $ 129 $ 104
Less: Accumulated amortization (47) (38)

Property and equipment, net under capital leases $ 82 $ 66

        We paid interest for capital leases of $47 million in 2012, $51 million in 2011 and $55 million in 2010.

Note 14: Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

        Most of our employees are eligible to participate in our funded non-contributory defined benefit pension plan, which provides defined
benefits based on either years of service and final average salary, or eligible compensation while employed by us. Additionally, we maintain a
funded contributory defined benefit plan for employees who elected to participate prior to 1991, and an unfunded, nonqualified pension plan for
certain eligible employees. For participants in the contributory pension plan, we also maintain a postretirement benefit plan for those retirees
eligible to participate in health care and life insurance benefits generally until they reach age 65. Participants may become eligible for these
health care and life insurance benefits if they retire from our company between the ages of 55 and 65. The health care plan is contributory with
participants' contributions subject to adjustment annually; the life insurance plan is non-contributory.
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        The components of the pension benefit obligation and the other postretirement benefit obligation, including amounts recognized in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets, are shown below for the years ended December 31:

Pension
Benefits

Other
Postretirement

Benefits

2012 2011 2012 2011
(Dollars in Millions)

Change in Net Benefit Obligation
Net benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 583 $ 521 $ 23 $ 21
Service cost 32 25 1 1
Interest cost 30 29 1 1
Plan participants' contributions 1 1 � �
Actuarial (gain) loss 91 43 (3) 1
Benefits paid (37) (36) (1) (1)
Settlements (36) � � �

Net benefit obligation at end of year 664 583 21 23

Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 448 429 � �
Actual return on plan assets 49 14 � �
Employer contributions 70 40 1 1
Plan participants' contributions 1 1 � �
Benefits paid (37) (36) (1) (1)
Settlements (36) � � �
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 495 448 � �

Funded status at end of year $ (169) $ (135) $ (21) $ (23)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets consist of:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ (6) $ (6) $ (2) $ (2)
Other liabilities and deferred credits (163) (129) (19) (21)
Deferred tax assets 115 94 � 1
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 184 149 � 2
Amounts recognized in the accumulated other comprehensive loss consist of:
Unamortized net amount resulting from changes in defined benefit plan experience and actuarial
assumptions, net of taxes 182 147 � 2
Unamortized amount resulting from changes in defined benefit plan provisions, net of taxes 2 2 � �

Total $ 184 $ 149 $ � $ 2

        We estimate that the following amounts will be amortized from "Accumulated other comprehensive loss" in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets into net periodic benefit cost during the year ending December 31, 2013:

Pension
Benefits

(Dollars in Millions)
Expense resulting from changes in plan experience and actuarial assumptions $ 27
Expense resulting from changes in plan provisions 1
        The accumulated benefit obligation for all pension plans was $583 million at December 31, 2012 and $531 million as of December 31,
2011.
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        Information for pension plans with an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets as of December 31:

2012 2011
(Dollars in Millions)

Accumulated benefit obligation $ 93 $ 531
Fair value of plan assets � 448
        Information for pension plans with a projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets as of December 31:

2012 2011
(Dollars in Millions)

Projected benefit obligation $ 664 $ 583
Fair value of plan assets 495 448
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        Components of net periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31:

Pension
Benefits

Other
Postretirement

Benefits

2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010
(Dollars in Millions)

Components of net periodic benefit cost
Benefits earned during the year $ 32 $ 25 $ 19 $ 1 $ 1 $ 1
Interest accrued on benefits earned in prior years 30 29 28 1 1 1
Expected return on plan assets (34) (34) (32) � � �
Amortization components
Amount resulting from changes in plan provisions          1 1 1 � � (1)
Net amount resulting from changes in plan experience and actuarial assumptions 19 14 14 � � �

Net periodic benefit cost $ 48 $ 35 $ 30 $ 2 $ 2 $ 1

Assumptions

        Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31:

Pension Benefits Other Postretirement Benefits

2012 2011 2012 2011
Discount rate�Qualified Plans 3.92% 4.99% 3.47% 4.48%
Discount rate�Non-Qualified Plans 3.91% 4.92% � �
Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%

        Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31:

Pension
Benefits

Other
Postretirement

Benefits

2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010
Discount rate�Qualified Plan 4.99% 5.59% 5.64% 4.48% 4.99% 5.21%
Discount rate�Non-Qualified Plans 4.92% 5.54% 5.63% � � �
Expected long-term return on plan assets 7.75% 8.00% 8.25% � � �
Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%
        We base our expected long-term return on plan assets assumption on a periodic review and modeling of the plans' asset allocation and
liability structure over a long-term horizon. Expectations of returns for each asset class are the most important of the assumptions used in the
review and modeling and are based on the forward looking expectations for asset class returns, historical data and economic/financial market
theory.

        The following table provides assumed health care costs trend rates:

2012 2011 2010
Health care cost trend rate 8.00% 8.00% 8.00%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (ultimate trend rate) 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
Year that trend rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2017 2017 2017
Plan Assets

        Our investment policy includes various guidelines and procedures designed to ensure we invest assets in a manner necessary to meet
expected future benefits earned by participants. The investment guidelines consider a broad range of economic conditions. Central to the policy
are target allocation ranges by major asset categories. The policy range for plan assets are 20% to 60% equity securities, 30% to 50% debt
securities, 0% to 40% alternatives and other types of investments.
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        The objectives of the target allocations are to maintain investment portfolios that diversify risk through prudent asset allocation parameters,
achieve asset returns that meet or exceed the plans' actuarial assumptions, and achieve asset returns that are competitive with like institutions
employing similar investment strategies.

        The investment policy is periodically reviewed by us and a designated third-party fiduciary for investment matters. We establish and
administer the policy in a manner so as to comply at all times with applicable government regulations.

        The fair value measurements of the plan assets as of December 31, 2012 were as follows:

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2012

Total

Quoted Prices
in Active

Markets for
Identical

Assets
(Level 1)

Significant
Observable

Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

Percentage of
Plan Assets

as of
December 31,

2012
(Dollars in millions)

Asset Category
Common collective trusts
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4 $ � $ 4 $ � 1%
Equity securities:
U.S. large-cap 87 � 87 � 18%
U.S. mid-cap growth 19 � 19 � 4%
International large-cap value 94 � 94 � 19%
Emerging markets growth 6 � 6 � 1%
Domestic real estate 26 � 26 � 5%
Fixed income 182 � 182 � 37%
Partnership and joint venture interests 31 � � 31 6%
Insurance contracts at contract value 2 � 2 � �
Hedge funds 44 � � 44 9%

Total $ 495 $ � $ 420 $ 75 100%

        The fair value measurements of the plan assets as of December 31, 2011 were as follows:

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2011

Total

Quoted Prices
in Active

Markets for
Identical

Assets
(Level 1)

Significant
Observable

Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

Percentage of
Plan Assets

as of
December 31,

2011
(Dollars in millions)

Asset Category
Common collective trusts
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3 $ � $ 3 $ � 1%
Equity securities:
U.S. large-cap 75 � 75 � 17%
U.S. mid-cap growth 17 � 17 � 3%
International large-cap value 92 � 92 � 21%
Domestic real estate 23 � 23 � 5%
Fixed income 165 � 165 � 37%
Partnership and joint venture interests 30 � � 30 7%
Insurance contracts at contract value 2 � 2 � �
Hedge funds 41 � � 41 9%
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Total $ 448 $ � $ 377 $ 71 100%

        There were no shares of our common stock included in plan assets as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.
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        The fair value measurement of plan assets using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) changed during 2011 and 2012 due to the
following:

Partnerships
and Joint
Venture
Interests Hedge Funds Total

(Dollars in Millions)
Balance as of January 1, 2011 $ 28 $ � $ 28
Realized losses (1) � (1)
Unrealized gains 5 (3) 2
Purchases and sales (2) 44 42

Balance as of December 31, 2011 30 41 71
Unrealized gains 1 3 4

Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ 31 $ 44 $ 75

Cash Flows

Contributions

        We expect to contribute approximately $15 million to our qualified pension plans and make payments of $6 million to our nonqualified
pension plan participants in 2013.

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

        We expect the following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, to be paid by the plans during the years
ending December 31:

Estimated Future Benefit
Payments

Pension
Benefits

Other
Postretirement

Benefits
(Dollars in Millions)

2013 $ 41 $ 2
2014 41 2
2015 42 2
2016 42 2
2017 41 2
2018-2022 218 10
        We maintain 401(k) plans for qualified employees. We match a portion of our employee contributions and our match amounted to
$30 million in 2012, $28 million in 2011 and $23 million in 2010.

        We have disclosed certain amounts associated with estimated future postretirement benefits other than pensions and characterized such
amounts as "other postretirement benefit obligation." Notwithstanding the recording of such amounts and the use of these terms, we do not admit
or otherwise acknowledge that such amounts or existing postretirement benefit plans of our company (other than pensions) represent legally
enforceable liabilities of us.

Note 15: Stockholders' Deficit

Capital Stock and Additional Paid-In Capital
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        Following completion of the Liberty Transaction in November 2009, DIRECTV had two classes of common stock outstanding: Class A
common stock, par value $0.01 per share, and Class B common stock, par value $0.01 per share. There have been no Class B shares outstanding
since the completion of the Malone Transaction on June 16, 2010, as discussed below. The DIRECTV Class A common stock was entitled to
one vote per share and traded on the NASDAQ
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under the ticker "DTV" until it was reclassified as common stock pursuant to the amendment in August 2012. The DIRECTV Class B common
stock was entitled to fifteen votes per common share and was not listed on any stock exchange or automated dealer quotation system.

        On August 27, 2012, our certificate of incorporation was amended to reclassify all issued and outstanding shares of Class A common stock
and Class B common stock into a single class of common stock. Pursuant to this amendment, our certificate of incorporation provides for the
following capital stock: common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 3,950,000,000 shares authorized, and preferred stock, par value $0.01 per
share, 50,000,000 shares authorized. The DIRECTV common stock is entitled to one vote per share and trades on the NASDAQ, under the ticker
"DTV". As of December 31, 2012, there were no outstanding shares of preferred stock.

Malone Transaction

        In April 2010, we entered into an agreement with Dr. John C. Malone and his family, or the Malones, under which they exchanged
21.8 million shares of high-vote Class B common stock, which was all of the outstanding Class B shares, for 26.5 million shares of Class A
common stock, resulting in the reduction of the Malones' voting interest in DIRECTV from approximately 24% to approximately 3% on
June 16, 2010. The number of Class A shares issued was determined as follows: one share of Class A common stock for each share of Class B
common stock held, plus an additional number of Class A shares with a fair value of $160 million based on the then current market price of the
Class A common stock at the time of the agreement on April 6, 2010. See Note 16 for additional information regarding the Malone Transaction.

Share Repurchase Program

        Since 2006 our Board of Directors has approved multiple authorizations for the repurchase of our common stock. As of December 31,
2012, we had approximately $1,719 million remaining under the authorization given by the Board of Directors in 2012. In February 2013 our
Board of Directors terminated the remaining balance available under the 2012 authorization and authorized up to an additional $4 billion for
repurchases of our common stock. The authorizations allow us to repurchase our common stock from time to time through open market
purchases and negotiated transactions, or otherwise. The timing, nature and amount of such transactions will depend on a variety of factors,
including market conditions, and the program may be suspended, discontinued or accelerated at any time. The sources of funds for the purchases
under the remaining authorizations are our existing cash on hand, cash from operations and potential additional borrowings. Purchases are made
in the open market, through block trades and other negotiated transactions. Repurchased shares are retired, but remain authorized for registration
and issuance in the future.

        The following table sets forth information regarding shares repurchased and retired for the years ended December 31:

2012 2011 2010
(Amounts in Millions,

Except Per Share Amounts)
Total cost of repurchased and retired shares $ 5,148 $ 5,455 $ 5,179
Average price per share $ 48.24 $ 45.78 $ 38.20
Number of shares repurchased and retired 107 119 136
        Of the $5,455 million in repurchases during the year ended December 31, 2011, $27 million were paid for in January 2012. Amounts
repurchased but settled subsequent to the end of such periods are considered non-cash financing activities and are excluded from the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
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Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

        The following table sets forth the components of "Other comprehensive income (loss)" in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive
Income for the years ended December 31:

2012 2011 2010

Pre-tax
Amount

Tax
(Benefit)
Expense

Net
Amount

Pre-tax
Amount

Tax
(Benefit)
Expense

Net
Amount

Pre-tax
Amount

Tax
(Benefit)
Expense

Net
Amount

(Dollars in Millions)
Defined benefit plans:
Losses related to changes in plan experience and actuarial
assumptions arising during the period $ (73) $ (28) $ (45) $ (64) $ (25) $ (39) $ � $ � $ �
Amortization of amounts resulting from changes in plan
experience and actuarial assumptions recognized as
periodic benefit cost 19 7 12 15 6 9 13 5 8
Amortization of amounts resulting from changes in plan
provisions recognized as periodic benefit cost � � � 2 1 1 � � �
Cash flow hedges:
Unrealized losses arising during the period (16) (6) (10) � � � � � �
Reclassification adjustments included in net income (11) (4) (7) � � � � � �
Foreign currency translation adjustments (53) (21) (32) (153) (59) (94) 32 12 20
Available for sale securities:
Unrealized holding gains (losses) on securities (7) (3) (4) (10) (4) (6) 6 2 4
Reclassification adjustment for net gains recognized during
period � � � � � � (5) (2) (3)

Other comprehensive income (loss) $ (141) $ (55) $ (86) $ (210) $ (81) $ (129) $ 46 $ 17 $ 29
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

        The following represents the changes in the components of "Accumulated other comprehensive loss" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets
for each of the years presented:

Defined
Benefit Plans

Cross-
Currency

Swaps

Foreign
Currency

Items

Unrealized
Gains

(Losses) on
Securities

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

(Dollars in Millions)
Balance as of January 1, 2010 $ (130) $ � $ 66 $ 8 $ (56)
Other comprehensive income 8 � 20 1 29

Balance as of December 31, 2010 (122) � 86 9 (27)
Other comprehensive loss (29) � (94) (6) (129)

Balance as of December 31, 2011 (151) � (8) 3 (156)
Other comprehensive loss (33) (17) (32) (4) (86)

Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ (184) $ (17) $ (40) $ (1) $ (242)

Note 16: Earnings Per Common Share

        We compute basic earnings per common share, or EPS, by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding for the period.

        Diluted EPS considers the effect of common equivalent shares, which consist entirely of common stock options and unvested restricted
stock units issued to employees. During the year ended December 31, 2012, we excluded 1.0 million common stock options from the
computation of diluted EPS because the inclusion of the potential common shares would have had an antidilutive effect. We did not exclude any
common stock options from the computation of diluted EPS during 2011 or 2010.

Malone Transaction

        From January 1, 2010 to June 16, 2010, we allocated "Net income attributable to DIRECTV" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations
to the Class A and Class B common stockholders based on the weighted average shares outstanding for each class through the close of the
Malone Transaction on June 16, 2010. At the close of the transaction, we exchanged 21.8 million shares of Class B common stock, which
represented all of the issued and outstanding Class B common stock, for 26.5 million shares of Class A common stock. We accounted for this
exchange of DIRECTV Class B common stock into DIRECTV Class A common stock pursuant to accounting standards for induced
conversions, whereby the $160 million in incremental DIRECTV Class A common stock issued to the former DIRECTV Class B stockholders
has been deducted from earnings attributable to DIRECTV Class A stockholders for purposes of calculating earnings per share in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. We included the $160 million in income attributable to Class B common stockholders. This adjustment
had the effect of reducing diluted earnings per DIRECTV Class A common share by $0.18 for the year ended December 31, 2010. After the
close of the Malone Transaction we allocate all net income attributable to DIRECTV to the Class A stockholders. For the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, there were no dilutive securities outstanding for the Class B common stock. See Note 15 for additional
information regarding the Malone Transaction.
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        The reconciliation of the amounts used in the basic and diluted EPS computation was as follows:

Income Shares
Per Share
Amounts

(Dollars and Shares in Millions,
Except Per Share Amounts)

Year Ended December 31, 2012:
Basic EPS
Net income attributable to DIRECTV common stockholders $ 2,949 638 $ 4.62
Effect of Dilutive Securities
Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock units � 6 (0.04)

Diluted EPS
Adjusted net income attributable to DIRECTV common stockholders $ 2,949 644 $ 4.58

Year Ended December 31, 2011:
Basic EPS
Net income attributable to DIRECTV common stockholders $ 2,609 747 $ 3.49
Effect of Dilutive Securities
Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock units � 5 (0.02)

Diluted EPS
Adjusted net income attributable to DIRECTV common stockholders $ 2,609 752 $ 3.47

Year Ended December 31, 2010:
Class A common stock:
Basic EPS
Net income attributable to DIRECTV Class A common stockholders $ 2,014 870 $ 2.31
Effect of Dilutive Securities
Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock units � 6 (0.01)

Diluted EPS
Adjusted net income attributable to DIRECTV Class A common stockholders $ 2,014 876 $ 2.30

Class B common stock:
Basic and diluted EPS
Net income attributable to DIRECTV Class B common stockholders, including $160 million exchange inducement
value for the Malone Transaction $ 184 22 $ 8.44

Note 17: Share-Based Compensation

        Under the DIRECTV 2010 Stock Plan, or the DIRECTV Plan, as approved by DIRECTV stockholders on June 3, 2010, shares, rights or
options to acquire up to 20 million shares of common stock plus the number of shares that were authorized but not granted under former plans
and shares granted under those plans which, after June 3, 2010, are forfeited, expire or are canceled without the delivery of shares of common
stock or otherwise result in the return of such shares to us, were authorized for grant through June 2, 2020, subject to the approval of the
Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors. Under the DIRECTV Plan, we issue new shares of our common stock when restricted stock
units are distributed and when stock options are exercised.

        The following table presents amounts recorded related to share-based compensation:

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(Dollars in Millions)

Share-based compensation expense recognized $ 109 $ 103 $ 82
Tax benefits associated with share-based compensation expense 41 40 31
Actual tax benefits realized for the deduction of share-based compensation expense 60 54 60
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        As of December 31, 2012, there was $107 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested restricted stock units and
stock options that we expect to recognize as follows: $66 million in 2013, $37 million in 2014 and $4 million in 2015.

Restricted Stock Units

        The Compensation Committee has granted restricted stock units under our stock plan to certain of our employees and executives. Annual
awards are mostly performance based, generally vest over three years and provide for final payments in shares of our common stock. Final
payment can be increased or decreased from the target award amounts based on our performance over a three-year performance period in
comparison with pre-established targets. We determine the fair value of restricted stock units based on the closing stock price of our common
shares on the date of grant.
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        Changes in the status of outstanding restricted stock units were as follows:

Stock Units

Weighted-Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value

Nonvested at January 1, 2012 7,595,892 $ 31.35
Granted 2,847,076 41.72
Vested and distributed (3,122,772) 21.78
Forfeited (247,450) 40.38

Nonvested at December 31, 2012 7,072,746 $ 39.50

Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2012 6,819,177 $ 39.26

        The weighted-average grant-date fair value of restricted stock units granted during the year ended December 31, 2011 was $41.14. The
weighted-average grant-date fair value of restricted stock units granted during the year ended December 31, 2010 was $30.83.

        The total fair value of restricted stock units vested and distributed was $139 million during the year ended December 31, 2012,
$125 million during the year ended December 31, 2011 and $81 million during the year ended December 31, 2010.

Stock Options

        The Compensation Committee has also granted stock options to acquire our common stock under our stock plan to certain of our
executives. The exercise price of options granted is equal to the per share closing price of the common stock on the date the options were
granted. These nonqualified options generally vest over one to three years, expire ten years from date of grant and are subject to earlier
termination under certain conditions.

        Changes in the status of outstanding options were as follows:

Shares
Under
Option

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
(in years) (in millions)

Outstanding at January 1, 2012 3,364,510 $ 23.21
Granted 995,964 48.18
Exercised (1,260,629) 30.62
Forfeited or expired (4,000) 16.23

Outstanding at December 31, 2012 3,095,845 $ 28.24 4.6 $ 68

Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2012 3,095,845 $ 28.24 4.6 $ 68

Exercisable at December 31, 2012 2,196,293 $ 19.93 2.5 $ 66

        The total intrinsic value of options exercised was $26 million during the year ended December 31, 2012, $24 million during the year ended
December 31, 2011 and $221 million during the year ended December 31, 2010, based on the intrinsic value of individual awards on the date of
exercise.

        The following table presents the estimated weighted-average grant-date fair value for the stock options granted during the years ended
December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2010 under the DIRECTV Plan using the Black-Scholes valuation model along with the
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common stock. The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual life of
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the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. The expected option life is based on historical exercise
behavior and other factors.

2012 2010
Estimated grant-date fair value $15.83 $ 12.36
Expected stock volatility 29.0% 26.9%
Risk-free interest rate 1.08% - 1.41% 3.35%
Expected option life (in years) 7.0 7.0
        There were no stock options granted under the DIRECTV Plan during the year ended December 31, 2011.

        As part of the Liberty Transaction on November 19, 2009, we assumed 16.7 million stock options and stock appreciation rights, and issued
1.1 million shares of common stock to holders of restricted stock units. The holders of the majority of the equity instruments assumed as a result
of the Liberty Transaction did not become DIRECTV employees or directors. Accordingly, we recognize those equity instruments as a liability
that is subject to fair value measurement at each reporting date pursuant to accounting rules for non-employee awards. We include that liability
within "Other liabilities and deferred credits" in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Of the 16.7 million equity instruments assumed, 8.8 million
were held by persons other than employees or directors. As of December 31, 2012, 0.4 million non-employee awards remained outstanding with
a fair value of approximately $12 million. As of December 31, 2011, there were 0.6 million non-employee awards outstanding with a fair value
of approximately $15 million. We recorded net losses of $4 million during the year ended December 31, 2012, $4 million during the year ended
December 31, 2011 and $11 million during the year ended December 31, 2010 to "Other, net" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for
gains and losses recognized for exercised options and the adjustment of the liability to fair value.

        The following table presents the estimated weighted-average fair value as of December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 for the equity instruments
issued to persons other than employees and directors carried as a liability using the Black-Scholes valuation model along with the
weighted-average assumptions used in the fair value calculations. Expected stock volatility is based primarily on the historical volatility of our
common stock. The risk-free rates for periods within the contractual lives of the options are based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at
the measurement date. The expected option life is based on the contractual life of the awards.

December 31,
2012

December 31,
2011

December 31,
2010

Estimated fair value $34.59 $26.63 $22.52
Expected stock volatility 22.8% 27.5% 26.5%
Range of risk-free interest rates 0.02 - 0.36% 0.06 - 0.83% 0.07 - 2.01%
Range of expected option lives (in years) 0.2 - 4.4 0.5 - 5.4 0.1 - 6.4
        The intrinsic value of awards assumed as part of the Liberty Transaction carried as a liability that were exercised was $3 million during the
year ended December 31, 2012, $8 million during the year ended December 31, 2011 and $145 million during the year ended December 31,
2010, based on the intrinsic value of individual awards on the date of exercise.

        Beginning in 2009, we implemented a net exercise plan pursuant to which we only issue new shares in connection with employee option
exercises equal to the intrinsic value of the exercised award on the exercise date reduced by the sum of (i) the amount of statutory employee
withholding taxes and (ii) the option exercise price, divided by the current market price of the our common stock. As a result, we no longer
receive cash in connection with the exercise of most stock options, but rather issue significantly fewer shares. We do receive cash for the
exercise of certain non-employee stock options. We received cash for the settlement of stock options of $3 million during the year ended
December 31, 2012 and $38 million during the year ended December 31, 2010, and did not receive any cash for the settlement of stock options
during the year ended December 31, 2011. In addition, the company is required to pay the employee withholding taxes to taxing authorities, the
cash payments for which are reported in "Taxes paid in lieu of shares issued for share-based compensation" in the Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows.
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Note 18: Other Income and Expenses

        The following table sets forth the components of "Other, net" in our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended
December 31:

2012 2011 2010
(Dollars in Millions)

Equity in earnings from unconsolidated affiliates $ 131 $ 109 $ 90
Net foreign currency transaction gain (loss) (34) (50) 11
Fair value adjustment loss on non-employee stock awards (4) (4) (11)
Loss on early extinguishment of debt (64) (25) (16)
Gain on sale of investments 122 63 6
Other (11) (9) (11)

Total other, net $ 140 $ 84 $ 69

        See Note 8 regarding equity method investments and net gains and losses recorded on the sale of investments.

Note 19: Related-Party Transactions

        In the ordinary course of our operations, we enter into transactions with related parties as discussed below.

        Related parties include Globo, which provides programming and advertising to Sky Brasil, and companies in which we hold equity method
investments, including Sky Mexico and GSN.

        The majority of payments under contractual arrangements with related parties are pursuant to multi-year programming contracts. Payments
under these contracts are typically subject to annual rate increases and are based on the number of subscribers receiving the related
programming.

Liberty Media, Liberty Global and Discovery Communications

        As discussed above in Note 15, on June 16, 2010, we completed the Malone Transaction, which resulted in the reduction of the Malones'
voting interest in DIRECTV from approximately 24% to approximately 3% and Dr. Malone's resignation from our Board of Directors.

        Prior to the completion of the Malone Transaction, Dr. Malone was Chairman of the Board of Directors of DIRECTV and of Liberty
Media. Dr. Malone also had an approximate 35% voting interest in Liberty Media, an approximate 31% voting interest in Discovery
Communications, Inc., or Discovery Communications, an approximate 40% voting interest in Liberty Global Inc., or Liberty Global, and serves
as Chairman of Liberty Global, and certain of Liberty Media's management and directors also serve as directors of Discovery Communications
or Liberty Global. As a result of this common ownership and management, transactions with Liberty Media, Discovery Communications and
Liberty Global and their subsidiaries or equity method investees were considered to be related party transactions through the completion of the
Malone Transaction. Our transactions with Liberty Media, Discovery Communications and Liberty Global consisted primarily of purchases of
programming created, owned or distributed by Liberty Media and Discovery Communications and its subsidiaries and investees.

        The following table sets forth sales and purchase transactions with related parties for the years ended December 31:

2012 2011 2010
(Dollars in Millions)

Sales:
Liberty Media and affiliates $ � $ � $ 26
Discovery Communications, Liberty Global and affiliates � � 5
Globo and other 5 6 13
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Total $ 5 $ 6 $ 44

Purchases:
Liberty Media and affiliates $ � $ � $ 143
Discovery Communications, Liberty Global and affiliates � � 128
Globo and other 874 854 622

Total $ 874 $ 854 $ 893
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        The following table sets forth the amount of accounts receivable from and accounts payable to related parties as of December 31:

2012 2011
(Dollars in
Millions)

Accounts receivable $ 26 $ 1
Accounts payable 90 96

        The accounts receivable balance and accounts payable balances as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 are primarily related to
Globo and companies in which we hold equity method investments.

Note 20: Segment Reporting

        Our reportable segments, which are differentiated by their products and services as well as geographic location, are DIRECTV U.S., Sky
Brasil and PanAmericana, which are engaged in acquiring, promoting, selling and distributing digital entertainment programming primarily via
satellite to residential and commercial subscribers, and the Sports Networks, Eliminations and Other segment, which includes our three regional
sports networks that provide programming devoted to local professional sports teams and college sporting events and locally produce their own
programming. Sports Networks, Eliminations and Other also includes the corporate office, eliminations and other entities.

        The following table sets forth selected information for the results of operations for each of our reporting segments:

External
Revenues

Intersegment
Revenues

Total
Revenues

Operating
Profit
(Loss)

Depreciation
and

Amortization
Expense

Operating
Profit

(Loss) Before
Depreciation

and
Amortization

(1)
(Dollars in Millions)

Year Ended December 31, 2012:
DIRECTV U.S. $ 23,227 $ 8 $ 23,235 $ 4,153 $ 1,501 $ 5,654

Sky Brasil 3,501 � 3,501 555 533 1,088
PanAmericana 2,743 � 2,743 400 374 774

DIRECTV Latin America 6,244 � 6,244 955 907 1,862
Sports Networks, Eliminations and
Other 269 (8) 261 (23) 29 6

Total $ 29,740 $ � $ 29,740 $ 5,085 $ 2,437 $ 7,522

Year Ended December 31, 2011:
DIRECTV U.S. $ 21,864 $ 8 $ 21,872 $ 3,702 $ 1,587 $ 5,289

Sky Brasil 3,020 � 3,020 542 449 991
PanAmericana 2,076 � 2,076 374 298 672

DIRECTV Latin America 5,096 � 5,096 916 747 1,663
Sports Networks, Eliminations and
Other 266 (8) 258 11 15 26

Total $ 27,226 $ � $ 27,226 $ 4,629 $ 2,349 $ 6,978

Year Ended December 31, 2010:
DIRECTV U.S. $ 20,261 $ 7 $ 20,268 $ 3,290 $ 1,926 $ 5,216

Sky Brasil 2,013 � 2,013 383 298 681
PanAmericana 1,584 � 1,584 240 243 483
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DIRECTV Latin America 3,597 � 3,597 623 541 1,164
Sports Networks, Eliminations and
Other 244 (7) 237 (17) 15 (2)

Total $ 24,102 $ � $ 24,102 $ 3,896 $ 2,482 $ 6,378

(1)
Operating profit (loss) before depreciation and amortization, which is a financial measure that is not determined in accordance with GAAP can be
calculated by adding amounts under the caption "Depreciation and amortization expense" to "Operating profit (loss)." This measure should be used in
conjunction with GAAP
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financial measures and is not presented as an alternative measure of operating results, as determined in accordance with GAAP. Our management and
Board of Directors use operating profit (loss) before depreciation and amortization to evaluate the operating performance of our company and our
business segments and to allocate resources and capital to business segments. This metric is also used as a measure of performance for incentive
compensation purposes and to measure income generated from operations that could be used to fund capital expenditures, service debt or pay taxes.
Depreciation and amortization expense primarily represents an allocation to current expense of the cost of historical capital expenditures and for
intangible assets resulting from prior business acquisitions. To compensate for the exclusion of depreciation and amortization expense from operating
profit, our management and our Board of Directors separately measure and budget for capital expenditures and business acquisitions.
We believe this measure is useful to investors, along with GAAP measures (such as revenues, operating profit and net income), to compare our
operating performance to other communications, entertainment and media service providers. We believe that investors use current and projected
operating profit (loss) before depreciation and amortization and similar measures to estimate our current or prospective enterprise value and make
investment decisions. This metric provides investors with a means to compare operating results exclusive of depreciation and amortization. Our
management believes this is useful given the significant variation in depreciation and amortization expense that can result from the timing of capital
expenditures, the capitalization of intangible assets, potential variations in expected useful lives when compared to other companies and periodic
changes to estimated useful lives.

        The following represents a reconciliation of operating profit before depreciation and amortization to reported net income on the
Consolidated Statements of Operations:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(Dollars in Millions)

Operating profit before depreciation and amortization $ 7,522 $ 6,978 $ 6,378
Depreciation and amortization expense (2,437) (2,349) (2,482)

Operating profit 5,085 4,629 3,896
Interest income 59 34 39
Interest expense (842) (763) (557)
Liberty transaction and related gain � � 67
Other, net 140 84 69

Income before income taxes 4,442 3,984 3,514
Income tax expense (1,465) (1,348) (1,202)

Net income 2,977 2,636 2,312

Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest (28) (27) (114)

Net income attributable to DIRECTV $ 2,949 $ 2,609 $ 2,198
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        The following table sets forth capital expenditures and segment assets for each of our reporting segments:

Years Ended and As of December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Capital

Expenditures
Segment
Assets

Capital
Expenditures

Segment
Assets

Capital
Expenditures

Segment
Assets

(Dollars in Millions)
DIRECTV U.S. $ 1,741 $ 12,490 $ 1,736 $ 11,796 $ 1,557 $ 11,400

Sky Brasil 812 2,951 902 2,663 468 2,566
PanAmericana 786 3,335 526 2,601 389 2,130

DIRECTV Latin America 1,598 6,286 1,428 5,264 857 4,696
Sports Networks, Eliminations and
Other 10 1,779 6 1,363 2 1,813

Total $ 3,349 $ 20,555 $ 3,170 $ 18,423 $ 2,416 $ 17,909

        The following table sets forth revenues earned from subscribers located in different geographic areas. Property is grouped by its
physical location.

Years Ended and As of December 31,

2012 2011 2010

Revenues

Net
Property

& Satellites Revenues

Net
Property

& Satellites Revenues

Net
Property

& Satellites
(Dollars in Millions)

United States $ 23,678 $ 5,694 $ 22,310 $ 5,267 $ 20,684 $ 4,987
Latin America and the
Caribbean
Brazil 3,501 1,626 3,020 1,423 2,013 1,060
Other 2,561 1,075 1,896 748 1,405 632

Total Latin America and the
Caribbean 6,062 2,701 4,916 2,171 3,418 1,692

Total $ 29,740 $ 8,395 $ 27,226 $ 7,438 $ 24,102 $ 6,679

Note 21: Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments

        At December 31, 2012, minimum future commitments under noncancelable operating leases having lease terms in excess of one
year were primarily for real property and aggregated $978 million, payable as follows: $94 million in 2013, $88 million in 2014, $86
million in 2015, $88 million in 2016, $86 million in 2017 and $536 million thereafter. Certain of these leases contain escalation
clauses and renewal or purchase options, which we have not considered in the amounts disclosed. Rental expenses under operating
leases were $118 million in 2012, $99 million in 2011 and $78 million in 2010.

        At December 31, 2012, our minimum payments under agreements to purchase broadcast programming, regional professional
team rights and the purchase of services that we have outsourced to third parties, such as billing services, and satellite telemetry,
tracking and control, satellite launch contracts and broadcast center services aggregated $7,079 million, payable as follows: $2,186
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million in 2013, $1,947 million in 2014, $1,145 million in 2015, $433 million in 2016, $375 million in 2017 and $993 million
thereafter.

Satellite Commitments

        DIRECTV U.S. has entered into contracts for the construction and launch of two new satellites: D14, which we expect to launch
in the first quarter of 2014 and D15, which we expect to launch in the fourth quarter of 2014. D14 and D15 are expected to provide
additional HD, replacement, and backup capacity for DIRECTV U.S. Additionally, DIRECTV Latin America has entered into a
contract for the lease of two additional satellites for PanAmericana: ISDLA-1, which we expect to launch in the fourth quarter of 2014
and ISDLA-2, which we expect to launch in the fourth quarter of 2015. ISDLA-1 will become the primary satellite for PanAmericana
with a substantial increase in channel capacity from the current satellite, and ISDLA-2 is expected to serve as an in-orbit spare for
ISDLA-1. As a part of the lease agreement for ISDLA-1 and ISDLA-2, which we expect to account for as a capital lease, we are
required to make prepayments prior to the launch of the satellites and commencement of the lease. Prepayments related to this
agreement totaled $128 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 and $104 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, and
are included as "Cash paid for satellites" in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
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        Total future cash payments under these agreements aggregate to $1,281 million, payable as follows: $286 million in 2013, $171 million in
2014, $116 million in 2015, $50 million in 2016, $50 million in 2017 and $608 million thereafter.

Contingencies

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest

        In connection with our acquisition of Sky Brasil in 2006, Globo was granted the right, until January 2014, to require us to purchase all, but
not less than all, of its shares in Sky Brasil. Upon exercising this right, the fair value of Sky Brasil shares will be determined by mutual
agreement or by an outside valuation expert, and we have the option to elect to pay for the Sky Brasil shares in cash, shares of our common
stock or a combination of both. We estimated that Globo's remaining 7% equity interest in Sky Brasil had a fair value of approximately $400
million as of December 31, 2012 and $265 million as of December 31, 2011. Adjustments to the carrying amount of the redeemable
noncontrolling interest are recorded to additional paid-in-capital. We determined the fair values using significant unobservable inputs, which are
Level 3 inputs under accounting guidance for measuring fair value.

Venezuela Devaluation and Foreign Currency Exchange Controls

        Companies operating in Venezuela are required to obtain Venezuelan government approval to exchange Venezuelan bolivars into U.S.
dollars at the official exchange rate. Our ability to pay U.S. dollar denominated obligations and repatriate cash generated in Venezuela in excess
of local operating requirements is limited, resulting in an increase in the cash balance at our Venezuelan subsidiary. At such time that exchange
controls are eased, accumulated cash balances may ultimately be repatriated at less than their currently reported value. As of December 31,
2012, our Venezuelan subsidiary had Venezuelan bolivar denominated net monetary assets of $446 million, including cash of $563 million,
based on the official 4.3 bolivars per U.S. dollar exchange rate at that time.

        In February 2013, the Venezuelan government announced a devaluation of the bolivar from the official exchange rate of 4.3 bolivars per
U.S. dollar to an official rate of 6.3 bolivars per U.S. dollar. As a result of the devaluation, we will record a pre-tax charge in "General and
administrative expenses" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations of approximately $160 million in the first quarter of 2013, related to the
remeasurement of the bolivar denominated net monetary assets of our Venezuelan subsidiary as of the date of the devaluation. This devaluation
did not impact our results of operations, financial position or cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2012, but may affect the growth of our
Venezuelan business. There will also be ongoing impacts to our results of operations, primarily related to the translation of local financial
statements at the new exchange rate. In the event of an additional devaluation of the bolivar, we will recognize a charge to earnings based on the
amount of bolivar denominated net monetary assets held at the time of such devaluation.

Litigation

        Litigation is subject to uncertainties and the outcome of individual litigated matters is not predictable with assurance. Various legal actions,
claims and proceedings are pending against us arising in the ordinary course of business. We have established loss provisions for matters in
which losses are probable and can be reasonably estimated. Some of the matters may involve compensatory, punitive, or treble damage claims,
or demands that, if granted, could require us to pay damages or make other expenditures in amounts that could not be estimated at December 31,
2012. After discussion with counsel representing us in those actions, it is the opinion of management that such litigation is not expected to have
a material effect on our consolidated financial statements. We expense legal costs as incurred.

        Pegasus Development Corporation and Personalized Media Communications L.L.C.    In December, 2000, Pegasus Development
Corporation and Personalized Media Communications L.L.C. filed suit in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware against
DIRECTV, Inc., Hughes Electronics Corporation, Thomson Consumer Electronics, Inc., and Philips Electronics North America Corporation.
The suit alleged infringement of certain claims of seven United States patents and sought an injunction and a monetary award including damages
for infringement, interest, costs, and attorneys' fees. Trial is presently scheduled for November 2013. The suit now involves claims of four of the
seven patents
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originally asserted, all of which have expired, and the validity and infringement of which are disputed by DIRECTV.

        Other Intellectual Property Litigation.    We are a defendant in several unrelated lawsuits claiming infringement of various patents relating
to various aspects of our businesses. In certain of these cases other industry participants are also defendants, and also in certain of these cases we
expect that at least some potential liability would be the responsibility of our equipment vendors pursuant to applicable contractual
indemnification provisions. To the extent that the allegations in these lawsuits can be analyzed by us at this stage of their proceedings, we
believe the claims are without merit and intend to defend the actions vigorously. We have determined that the likelihood of a material liability in
such matters is remote or have made appropriate accruals. The final disposition of these claims is not expected to have a material effect on our
consolidated financial position or results of operations. However, if an adverse ruling is made in a lawsuit involving key intellectual property,
such ruling could result in a loss that would be material to our consolidated results of operations of any one period. No assurance can be given
that any adverse outcome would not be material to our consolidated financial position.

        Early Cancellation Fees.    In 2008, a number of plaintiffs filed putative class action lawsuits in state and federal courts challenging the
early cancellation fees we assess our customers when they do not fulfill their programming commitments. Several of these lawsuits are pending,
some in California state court purporting to represent statewide classes, and some in federal courts purporting to represent nationwide classes.
The lawsuits seek both monetary and injunctive relief. While the theories of liability vary, the lawsuits generally challenge these fees under state
consumer protection laws as both unfair and inadequately disclosed to customers. Our motions to compel arbitration have been granted in all of
the federal cases, except as to claims seeking injunctive relief under California statutes. The denial of our motion as to those claims is currently
on appeal. We believe that our early cancellation fees are adequately disclosed, and represent reasonable estimates of the costs we incur when
customers cancel service before fulfilling their programming commitments.

        ECAD.    Sky Brasil, along with other video distributors in Brazil, is disputing charges assessed by Escritorio Central de Arrecadacao, or
ECAD, the organization responsible for collecting performance rights fees under Brazilian law. Sky Brasil has been withholding payments to
ECAD since 2004, and has accrued amounts we and Sky Brasil believe are adequate to satisfy amounts owed to ECAD. In order to continue its
opposition to ECAD's claims, Sky Brasil has provided letters of credit in the amount of approximately $103 million. Sky Brasil's dispute with
ECAD is currently pending in the Superior Justice Tribunal, and there are other claims by the Brazilian pay television association, known as
ABTA, against ECAD before the Brazilian antitrust board, or CADE, which may affect ECAD or the rights fees it is attempting to collect.

        Waste Disposal Inquiry.    On August 20, 2012, DIRECTV U.S. received from the State of California subpoenas and interrogatories related
to our generation, handling, recordkeeping, transportation and disposal of hazardous waste, including universal waste, in the State of California,
and the training of employees regarding the same. The investigation is jointly conducted by the Office of the Attorney General and the District
Attorney for Alameda County and appears to be part of a broader effort to investigate waste handling and disposal processes of a number of
industries. We are diligently reviewing our policies and procedures applicable to all facilities and cooperating with the investigation. As this
inquiry is in its early stages, we are currently unable to reasonably estimate the outcome of this matter.

        From time to time, we receive investigative inquiries or subpoenas from state and federal authorities with respect to alleged violations of
state and federal statutes. These inquiries may lead to legal proceedings in some cases. DIRECTV U.S. has received a request for information
from the Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, on advertising and sales practices similar to those resolved in 2010 with a multistate group of state
attorneys general. We are cooperating with the FTC by providing information about our sales and marketing practices and customer complaints.

Income Tax Matters

        We have received tax assessments from certain foreign jurisdictions and have agreed to indemnify previously divested businesses for
certain tax assessments relating to periods prior to their respective divestitures. These assessments are in various stages of the administrative
process or litigation. While the outcome of these assessments and other tax issues cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe
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that the ultimate outcome will not have a material effect on our consolidated financial position and result of operations.

Satellites

        We may purchase in-orbit and launch insurance to mitigate the potential financial impact of satellite launch and in-orbit failures if the
premium costs are considered economic relative to the risk of satellite failure. The insurance generally covers the unamortized book value of
covered satellites. We do not insure against lost revenues in the event of a total or partial loss of the capacity of a satellite. We generally rely on
in-orbit spare satellites and excess transponder capacity at key orbital slots to mitigate the impact a satellite failure could have on our ability to
provide service. At December 31, 2012, the net book value of in-orbit satellites was $1,664 million all of which was uninsured.

Other

        We are contingently liable under standby letters of credit and bonds in the aggregate amount of $167 million at December 31, 2012
primarily related to a judicial deposit in Brazil for the ECAD matter discussed above, and insurance deductibles.
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Note 22: Selected Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

        The following table presents unaudited selected quarterly data for the years presented:

1st 2nd 3rd 4th
(Dollars in Millions,

Except Per Share Amounts)
2012 Quarters
Revenues $ 7,046 $ 7,224 $ 7,416 $ 8,054
Operating profit 1,308 1,411 1,068 1,298
Net income attributable to DIRECTV 731 711 565 942
Basic earnings attributable to DIRECTV common stockholders per common share 1.08 1.09 0.91 1.57
Diluted earnings attributable to DIRECTV common stockholders per common share 1.07 1.09 0.90 1.55
2011 Quarters
Revenues $ 6,319 $ 6,600 $ 6,844 $ 7,463
Operating profit 1,155 1,230 1,030 1,214
Net income attributable to DIRECTV 674 701 516 718
Basic earnings attributable to DIRECTV common stockholders per common share 0.85 0.92 0.70 1.02
Diluted earnings attributable to DIRECTV common stockholders per common share 0.85 0.91 0.70 1.02
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Note 23: Subsequent Events

2013 Financing Transactions

        On January 10, 2013, DIRECTV U.S. issued, pursuant to a registration statement, $750 million in aggregate principal of 1.750% senior
notes due in 2018 with proceeds, net of an original issue discount, of $743 million. We incurred $4 million of debt issuance costs in connection
with this transaction.

Venezuela Currency Devaluation

        In February 2013, the Venezuelan government announced a devaluation of the Venezuelan bolivar, which will result in a pre-tax charge in
"General and administrative expenses" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations of approximately $160 million in the first quarter of 2013.
See Note 21 for additional information regarding the Venezuelan devaluation and foreign currency exchange controls.

Note 24: Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements

        As discussed above in Note 10, on November 14, 2011, DIRECTV provided a guarantee of all the outstanding senior notes of DIRECTV
Holdings LLC and DIRECTV Financing Co., Inc., or the Co-issuers.

        The following condensed consolidating financial statements of DIRECTV and subsidiaries have been prepared pursuant to rules regarding
the preparation of consolidating financial statements of Regulation S-X. For the periods prior to November 14, 2011, the condensed
consolidating financial statements have been prepared as if the guarantee had been in place during that period.

        These condensed consolidating financial statements present the condensed consolidating statements of operations, condensed consolidating
statements of comprehensive income and condensed consolidating statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010, and the condensed consolidating balance sheets as of December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011.

        The condensed consolidating financial statements are comprised of DIRECTV, or the Parent Guarantor, its indirect wholly owned
subsidiaries, DIRECTV Holdings, DIRECTV Financing and each of DIRECTV Holdings' material subsidiaries (other than DIRECTV
Financing), or the Guarantor Subsidiaries, as well as other subsidiaries who are not guarantors of the senior notes, or the Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries, and the eliminations necessary to present DIRECTV's financial statements on a consolidated basis. The Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries consist primarily of DIRECTV's direct-to-home digital television services throughout Latin America which are held by DIRECTV
Latin America Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries and DIRECTV Sports Networks LLC and its subsidiaries which are comprised primarily of
three regional sports networks.

        The accompanying condensed consolidating financial statements are presented based on the equity method of accounting for all periods
presented. Under this method, investments in subsidiaries are recorded at cost and adjusted for the subsidiaries' cumulative results of operations,
capital contributions and distributions, and other changes in equity. Elimination entries include consolidating and eliminating entries for
investments in subsidiaries, intercompany activity and balances, and income taxes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(continued)

 Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

For the Year Ended December 31, 2012

Parent
Guarantor Co-Issuers

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries Eliminations

DIRECTV
Consolidated

(Dollars in Millions)
Revenues $ � $ 59 $ 23,235 $ 6,583 $ (137) $ 29,740
Operating costs and expenses
Costs of revenues, exclusive of depreciation and amortization
expense
Broadcast programming and other � � 10,743 2,355 (70) 13,028
Subscriber service expenses � � 1,464 673 � 2,137
Broadcast operations expenses � � 306 116 (8) 414
Selling, general and administrative expenses, exclusive of
depreciation and amortization expense
Subscriber acquisition costs � � 2,673 724 � 3,397
Upgrade and retention costs � � 1,253 174 � 1,427
General and administrative expenses 42 1 1,201 630 (59) 1,815
Depreciation and amortization expense � � 1,501 936 � 2,437

Total operating costs and expenses 42 1 19,141 5,608 (137) 24,655

Operating profit (loss) (42) 58 4,094 975 � 5,085
Equity in income of consolidated subsidiaries 2,980 2,819 � � (5,799) �
Interest income 2 1 � 68 (12) 59
Interest expense (2) (773) (3) (76) 12 (842)
Other, net (4) (65) 33 176 � 140

Income before income tax 2,934 2,040 4,124 1,143 (5,799) 4,442
Income tax benefit (expense) 15 246 (1,305) (421) � (1,465)

Net income 2,949 2,286 2,819 722 (5,799) 2,977
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest � � � (28) � (28)

Net income attributable to DIRECTV $ 2,949 $ 2,286 $ 2,819 $ 694 $ (5,799) $ 2,949
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 Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

For the Year Ended December 31, 2011

Parent
Guarantor Co-Issuers

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries Eliminations

DIRECTV
Consolidated

(Dollars in Millions)
Revenues $ � $ 682 $ 21,872 $ 5,422 $ (750) $ 27,226
Operating costs and expenses
Costs of revenues, exclusive of depreciation and amortization
expense
Broadcast programming and other � � 9,799 1,916 (60) 11,655
Subscriber service expenses � � 1,435 476 � 1,911
Broadcast operations expenses � � 300 96 (7) 389
Selling, general and administrative expenses, exclusive of
depreciation and amortization expense
Subscriber acquisition costs � � 2,794 596 � 3,390
Upgrade and retention costs � � 1,209 118 � 1,327
General and administrative expenses 11 � 1,729 519 (683) 1,576
Depreciation and amortization expense � � 1,587 762 � 2,349

Total operating costs and expenses 11 � 18,853 4,483 (750) 22,597

Operating profit (loss) (11) 682 3,019 939 � 4,629
Equity in income of consolidated subsidiaries 2,622 1,947 � � (4,569) �
Interest income � � 1 44 (11) 34
Interest expense � (692) (4) (78) 11 (763)
Other, net (4) (25) 60 53 � 84

Income before income taxes 2,607 1,912 3,076 958 (4,569) 3,984
Income tax benefit (expense) 2 13 (1,129) (234) � (1,348)

Net income 2,609 1,925 1,947 724 (4,569) 2,636
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest � � � (27) � (27)

Net income attributable to DIRECTV $ 2,609 $ 1,925 $ 1,947 $ 697 $ (4,569) $ 2,609
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 Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

For the Year Ended December 31, 2010

Parent
Guarantor Co-Issuers

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries Eliminations

DIRECTV
Consolidated

(Dollars in Millions)
Revenues $ � $ 463 $ 20,268 $ 3,895 $ (524) $ 24,102
Operating costs and expenses
Costs of revenues, exclusive of depreciation and amortization
expense
Broadcast programming and other � � 8,699 1,428 (53) 10,074
Subscriber service expenses � � 1,340 341 � 1,681
Broadcast operations expenses � � 273 84 (7) 350
Selling, general and administrative expenses, exclusive of
depreciation and amortization expense
Subscriber acquisition costs � � 2,631 374 � 3,005
Upgrade and retention costs � � 1,106 63 � 1,169
General and administrative expenses 24 � 1,466 419 (464) 1,445
Depreciation and amortization expense � � 1,926 556 � 2,482

Total operating costs and expenses 24 � 17,441 3,265 (524) 20,206

Operating profit (loss) (24) 463 2,827 630 � 3,896
Equity in income of consolidated subsidiaries 2,219 1,835 � � (4,054) �
Interest income 1 1 4 44 (11) 39
Interest expense � (480) (8) (80) 11 (557)
Liberty transaction and related charges � � � 67 � 67
Other, net (10) (25) 20 84 � 69

Income before income taxes 2,186 1,794 2,843 745 (4,054) 3,514
Income tax benefit (expense) 12 14 (1,008) (220) � (1,202)

Net income 2,198 1,808 1,835 525 (4,054) 2,312
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest � � � (114) � (114)

Net income attributable to DIRECTV $ 2,198 $ 1,808 $ 1,835 $ 411 $ (4,054) $ 2,198
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 Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the Year Ended December 31, 2012

Parent
Guarantor Co-Issuers

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries Eliminations

DIRECTV
Consolidated

(Dollars in Millions)
Net income $ 2,949 $ 2,286 $ 2,819 $ 722 $ (5,799) $ 2,977
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:
Defined benefit plans:
Loss related to changes in plan experience and actuarial
assumptions arising during the period (45) (45)
Amortization of amounts resulting from changes in plan
experience and actuarial assumptions recognized as periodic
benefit cost 12 � � � � 12
Cash flow hedges:
Unrealized losses arising during the period � (10) � � � (10)
Reclassification adjustments included in net income � (7) � � � (7)
Foreign currency translation adjustments � � � (32) � (32)
Unrealized holding losses on securities � � � (4) � (4)

Other comprehensive loss (33) (17) � (36) � (86)

Comprehensive income 2,916 2,269 2,819 686 (5,799) 2,891
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling
interest � � � (13) � (13)

Comprehensive income attributable to DIRECTV $ 2,916 $ 2,269 $ 2,819 $ 673 $ (5,799) $ 2,878
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 Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the Year Ended December 31, 2011

Parent
Guarantor Co-Issuers

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries Eliminations

DIRECTV
Consolidated

(Dollars in Millions)
Net income $ 2,609 $ 1,925 $ 1,947 $ 724 $ (4,569) $ 2,636
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:
Defined benefit plans:
Loss related to changes in plan experience and actuarial
assumptions arising during the period (39) (39)
Amortization of amounts resulting from changes in plan
experience and actuarial assumptions recognized as periodic
benefit cost 9 � � � � 9
Amortization of amounts resulting from changes in plan
provisions recognized as periodic benefit cost 1 � � � � 1
Foreign currency translation adjustments � � � (94) � (94)
Unrealized holding losses on securities � � � (6) � (6)

Other comprehensive loss (29) � � (100) � (129)

Comprehensive income 2,580 1,925 1,947 624 (4,569) 2,507
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling
interest � � � (17) � (17)

Comprehensive income attributable to DIRECTV $ 2,580 $ 1,925 $ 1,947 $ 607 $ (4,569) $ 2,490
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 Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the Year Ended December 31, 2010

Parent
Guarantor Co-Issuers

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries Eliminations

DIRECTV
Consolidated

(Dollars in Millions)
Net income $ 2,198 $ 1,808 $ 1,835 $ 525 $ (4,054) $ 2,312
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes:
Defined benefit plans:
Amortization of amounts resulting from changes in plan
experience and actuarial assumptions recognized as periodic
benefit cost 8 � � � � 8
Foreign currency translation adjustments � � � 20 � 20
Available for sale securities: �
Unrealized gains on securities � � � 4 � 4
Reclassification adjustment for net gains recognized during period � (3) (3)

Other comprehensive income 8 � � 21 � 29

Comprehensive income 2,206 1,808 1,835 546 (4,054) 2,341
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling
interest � � � (121) � (121)

Comprehensive income attributable to DIRECTV $ 2,206 $ 1,808 $ 1,835 $ 425 $ (4,054) $ 2,220
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 Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

As of December 31, 2012

Parent
Guarantor Co-Issuers

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries Eliminations

DIRECTV
Consolidated

(Dollars in Millions)
ASSETS

Total current assets $ 883 $ 884 $ 2,788 $ 2,039 $ (1,040) $ 5,554
Satellites, net � � 1,795 562 � 2,357
Property and equipment, net � � 3,290 2,748 � 6,038
Goodwill � 1,828 1,349 886 � 4,063
Intangible assets, net � � 453 379 � 832
Intercompany receivables 4,382 6,152 16,355 3,703 (30,592) �
Investment in subsidiaries (8,687) 15,001 � (10,915) 4,601 �
Other assets 180 91 241 1,294 (95) 1,711

Total assets $ (3,242) $ 23,956 $ 26,271 $ 696 $ (27,126) $ 20,555

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS'
EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Total current liabilities $ 384 $ 646 $ 3,526 $ 2,025 $ (1,040) $ 5,541
Long-term debt � 17,170 � � � 17,170
Deferred income taxes � � 1,397 361 (86) 1,672
Intercompany liabilities 1,401 16,355 6,152 6,684 (30,592) �
Other liabilities and deferred credits 404 131 195 482 (9) 1,203
Redeemable noncontrolling interest � � � 400 � 400
Stockholders' equity (deficit)
Capital stock and additional paid-in capital 4,021 12 4,802 (6,632) 1,818 4,021
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) (9,210) (10,341) 10,199 (2,560) 2,702 (9,210)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (242) (17) � (64) 81 (242)

Total stockholders' equity (deficit) (5,431) (10,346) 15,001 (9,256) 4,601 (5,431)

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity
(deficit) $ (3,242) $ 23,956 $ 26,271 $ 696 $ (27,126) $ 20,555
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 Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

As of December 31, 2011

Parent
Guarantor Co-Issuers

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries Eliminations

DIRECTV
Consolidated

(Dollars in Millions)
ASSETS

Total current assets $ 412 $ 533 $ 2,514 $ 1,397 $ (615) $ 4,241
Satellites, net � � 1,724 491 � 2,215
Property and equipment, net � � 3,084 2,139 � 5,223
Goodwill � 1,828 1,349 920 � 4,097
Intangible assets, net � � 461 448 � 909
Intercompany receivables 3,746 4,011 11,582 3,442 (22,781) �
Investment in subsidiaries (5,510) 12,057 � (7,607) 1,060 �
Other assets 74 64 256 1,425 (81) 1,738

Total assets $ (1,278) $ 18,493 $ 20,970 $ 2,655 $ (22,417) $ 18,423

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS'
EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Total current liabilities $ 383 $ 204 $ 3,422 $ 1,349 $ (615) $ 4,743
Long-term debt � 13,464 � � � 13,464
Deferred income taxes � � 1,321 531 (81) 1,771
Intercompany liabilities 895 11,582 4,011 6,293 (22,781) �
Other liabilities and deferred credits 551 82 159 495 � 1,287
Redeemable noncontrolling interest � � � 265 � 265
Stockholders' equity (deficit)
Capital stock and additional paid-in capital 4,799 11 4,684 (561) (4,134) 4,799
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) (7,750) (6,850) 7,373 (5,703) 5,180 (7,750)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (156) � � (14) 14 (156)

Total stockholders' equity (deficit) (3,107) (6,839) 12,057 (6,278) 1,060 (3,107)

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity
(deficit) $ (1,278) $ 18,493 $ 20,970 $ 2,655 $ (22,417) $ 18,423
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 Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31, 2012

Parent
Guarantor Co-Issuers

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries Eliminations

DIRECTV
Consolidated

(Dollars in Millions)
Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 1,728 $ 2,388 $ 1,766 $ 1,877 $ (2,125) $ 5,634

Cash flows from investing activities
Cash paid for property and equipment � � (1,488) (1,472) � (2,960)
Cash paid for satellites � � (253) (136) � (389)
Investment in companies, net of cash
acquired � � (7) (9) � (16)
Proceeds from sale of investments � � 24 � � 24
Return of capital from subsidiary 3,775 � � � (3,775) �
Other, net � � � (22) � (22)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing
activities 3,775 � (1,724) (1,639) (3,775) (3,363)

Cash flows from financing activities
Issuance of commercial paper (maturity
90 days or less), net � 156 � � � 156
Proceeds from short-term borrowings � 202 � � � 202
Proceeds from borrowings under revolving
credit facility � 400 � � � 400
Repayment of borrowings under revolving
credit facility � (400) � � � (400)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt � 5,190 � � � 5,190
Debt issuance costs � (36) � � � (36)
Repayment of long-term debt � (1,500) � � � (1,500)
Repayment of other long-term obligations � � (21) (30) � (51)
Common shares repurchased and retired (5,175) � � � � (5,175)
Stock options exercised 3 � � � � 3
Taxes paid in lieu of shares issued for
share-based compensation � � (52) (9) � (61)
Excess tax benefit from share-based
compensation � � 25 5 � 30
Intercompany payments (funding) (52) � 13 39 � �
Cash dividend to Parent � (5,900) � � 5,900 �

Net cash provided by (used in) financing
activities (5,224) (1,888) (35) 5 5,900 (1,242)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 279 500 7 243 � 1,029
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the
period 129 228 4 512 � 873

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
period $ 408 $ 728 $ 11 $ 755 $ � $ 1,902
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS�(continued)

 Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31, 2011

Parent
Guarantor Co-Issuers

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries Eliminations

DIRECTV
Consolidated

(Dollars in Millions)
Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 1,831 $ 1,835 $ 1,745 $ 1,537 $ (1,763) $ 5,185

Cash flows from investing activities
Cash paid for property and equipment � � (1,595) (1,329) � (2,924)
Cash paid for satellites (1) � (141) (104) � (246)
Investment in companies, net of cash
acquired � � (11) � � (11)
Proceeds from sale of investments � � 55 61 � 116
Return of capital from subsidiary 3,487 � � � (3,487) �
Other, net � � 1 42 � 43

Net cash provided by (used in) investing
activities 3,486 � (1,691) (1,330) (3,487) (3,022)

Cash flows from financing activities
Cash proceeds from debt issuance � 3,990 � � � 3,990
Debt issuance costs � (30) � � � (30)
Repayment of long-term debt � (1,000) � � � (1,000)
Repayment of short-term borrowings � � � (39) � (39)
Repayment of other long-term obligations � � (66) (118) � (184)
Common shares repurchased and retired (5,496) � � � � (5,496)
Taxes paid in lieu of shares issued for
share-based compensation (5) � (29) (24) � (58)
Excess tax benefit from share-based
compensation � � 21 4 � 25
Intercompany payments (funding) (134) � 20 114 � �
Cash dividend to Parent � (5,250) � � 5,250 �

Net cash used in financing activities (5,635) (2,290) (54) (63) 5,250 (2,792)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents (318) (455) � 144 � (629)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the
period 447 683 4 368 � 1,502

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
period $ 129 $ 228 $ 4 $ 512 $ � $ 873
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 Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31, 2010

Parent
Guarantor Co-Issuers

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries Eliminations

DIRECTV
Consolidated

(Dollars in Millions)
Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities $ 3,952 $ 2,263 $ 1,678 $ (607) $ (2,080) $ 5,206

Cash flows from investing activities
Cash paid for property and equipment � � (1,444) (859) � (2,303)
Cash paid for satellites � � (113) � � (113)
Investment in companies, net of cash
acquired � � (1) (616) � (617)
Proceeds from sale of investments � � � 9 � 9
Return of capital from subsidiary 4,820 � � � (4,820) �
Other, net � � 3 (78) � (75)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing
activities 4,820 � (1,555) (1,544) (4,820) (3,099)

Cash flows from financing activities
Cash proceeds from debt issuance � 5,978 � � � 5,978
Debt issuance costs � (44) � � � (44)
Repayment of long-term debt � (2,323) � � � (2,323)
Proceeds from short-term borrowings � � � 38 � 38
Repayment of collar loan and equity collars � � � (1,537) � (1,537)
Repayment of other long-term obligations � � (99) (28) � (127)
Common shares repurchased and retired (5,111) � � � � (5,111)
Stock options exercised 38 � � � � 38
Taxes paid in lieu of shares issued for
share-based compensation (58) � (38) (22) � (118)
Excess tax benefit from share-based
compensation � � 9 2 � 11
Dividends paid to redeemable noncontrolling
interest � � � (15) � (15)
Intercompany payments (funding) (3,751) � 2 3,749 � �
Cash dividend to Parent � (6,900) � � 6,900 �

Net cash provided by (used in) financing
activities (8,882) (3,289) (126) 2,187 6,900 (3,210)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents (110) (1,026) (3) 36 � (1,103)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the
period 557 1,709 7 332 � 2,605

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
period $ 447 $ 683 $ 4 $ 368 $ � $ 1,502
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 ITEM 9.    CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

        None.

 ITEM 9A.    CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

        We carried out an evaluation as of the end of the year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the supervision and with the
participation of management, including our principal executive officers and financial officers, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act). Based
on the evaluation, our principal executive officers and our financial officers concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective
as of December 31, 2012.

        There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange
Act) that occurred during our fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2012, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
our internal control over financial reporting.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

        Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Those rules define internal control over financial reporting
as a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, or GAAP, and includes those
policies and procedures that:

�
pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions
of the assets of the company;

�
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and

�
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the
company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

        Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

        Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012. In making this
assessment, our management used the criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on their assessment and those criteria, management believes that, as of December 31, 2012,
our internal control over financial reporting is effective.
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        Our independent registered public accounting firm has issued an audit report on internal control over financial reporting, which appears
below.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of DIRECTV
El Segundo, California

        We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of DIRECTV and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2012,
based on criteria established in Internal Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on
our audit.

        We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

        A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company's principal
executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company's board of directors,
management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

        Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

        In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2012, based on the criteria established in Internal Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission.

        We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended December 31, 2012 of the Company and our
report dated February 20, 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and financial statement schedule.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP          

Los Angeles, California
February 20, 2013
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 ITEM 9B.    OTHER INFORMATION

None.

 PART III

ITEMS 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14

        We hereby incorporate by reference information required by Part III (Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14) of this Annual Report from DIRECTV's
definitive Proxy Statement for its 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
pursuant to Regulation 14A, not later than March 22, 2013.

 PART IV

 ITEM 15.    Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Page
Number

(a) 1. All Consolidated Financial Statements See Part II
2. Financial Statement Schedule II-Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011

and 2010 67
3. Exhibits

Exhibit
Number Exhibit Name

*3.1 Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of DIRECTV (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Form 8-K of DIRECTV filed August 27, 2012 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

*3.2 DIRECTV Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Form 8-K of DIRECTV filed
August 27, 2012 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

*4.1 Specimen form of certificate representing Common Stock of DIRECTV (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Form 8-K of DIRECTV filed August 27, 2012 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

*4.2 Indenture dated as of September 22, 2009 by and among DIRECTV Holdings LLC, DIRECTV Financing Co, Inc., the
Guarantors signatory thereto and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K of DIRECTV Holdings, LLC filed on September 25, 2009 (SEC File No. 333-106529))

*4.3 Form of 43/4% Senior Notes due 2014 (included in Exhibit 4.2)

*4.4 Form of 57/8% Senior Notes due 2019 (included in Exhibit 4.2)
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Name

*4.5 Indenture dated as of March 11, 2010 by and among DIRECTV Holdings LLC, DIRECTV Financing Co., Inc., the
Guarantors signatory thereto and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K of DIRECTV Holdings LLC filed on March 15, 2010 (SEC File No. 333-106529))

*4.6 Form of 3.550% Senior Notes due 2015 (included in Exhibit 4.5)

*4.7 Form of 5.200% Senior Notes due 2020 (included in Exhibit 4.5)

*4.8 Form of 6.35% Senior Notes due 2040 (included in Exhibit 4.5)

*4.9 Indenture dated as of August 17, 2010 by and among DIRECTV Holdings LLC, DIRECTV Financing Co., Inc., the
Guarantors signatory thereto and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Form 8-K of DIRECTV Holdings LLC filed on August 23, 2010 (SEC File No. 333-106529))

*4.10 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 17, 2010, by and among DIRECTV Holdings LLC, DIRECTV
Financing Co., Inc., the Guarantors signatory thereto and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Form 8-K of DIRECTV Holdings LLC filed on August 23, 2010 (SEC File
No. 333-106529))

*4.11 Form of 3.125% Senior Notes due 2016 (included in Exhibit 4.10)

*4.12 Form of 4.600% Senior Notes due 2021 (included in Exhibit 4.10)

*4.13 Form of 6.000% Senior Notes due 2040 (included in Exhibit 4.10)

*4.14 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 10, 2011, by and among DIRECTV Holdings LLC, DIRECTV
Financing Co., Inc., the Guarantors signatory thereto and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Form 8-K of DIRECTV Holdings LLC filed on March 10, 2011(SEC File
No. 333-106529))

*4.15 Form of 3.500% Notes due 2016 (included in Exhibit 4.14)

*4.16 Form of 5.000% Notes due 2021 (included in Exhibit 4.14)

*4.17 Form of 6.375% Notes due 2041 (included in Exhibit 4.14)

*4.18 Indenture, dated as of March 8, 2012, by and among DIRECTV Holdings LLC, DIRECTV Financing Co., Inc., the
Guarantors signatory thereto and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.1 of the Form 8-K of DIRECTV filed on March 14, 2012 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

*4.19 Form of 2.400% Notes due 2017 (included in Exhibit 4.18)

*4.20 Form of 3.800% Notes due 2021 (included in Exhibit 4.18)

*4.21 Form of 5.150% Notes due 2042 (included in Exhibit 4.18)
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Name

*4.22 Indenture dated as of September 14, 2012 by and among DIRECTV Holdings LLC, DIRECTV Financing Co., Inc., the
Guarantors signatory thereto and The Bank Of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Form 8-K of DIRECTV filed September 14, 2012 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

*4.23 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of September 14, 2012 by and among DIRECTV Holdings LLC, DIRECTV
Financing Co., Inc., the Guarantors signatory thereto and The Bank Of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Form 8-K of DIRECTV filed September 14, 2012 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

*4.24 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 15, 2013, by and among DIRECTV Holdings LLC, DIRECTV
Financing Co., Inc., the Guarantors signatory thereto and the Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Form 8-K of DIRECTV filed January 15, 2013 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

*4.25 Form of 1.750% Notes due 2018 (included in Exhibit 4.24)

*10.1 Amended and Restated Agreement for the Allocation of United States Income Taxes, dated as of April 9, 2003, by and
between General Motors Corporation and Hughes Electronics Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the
Form S-4 of Hughes Electronics Corporation filed June 5, 2003 (SEC File No. 1-31945))

*10.2 DTH Agreement, dated as of October 8, 2004, by and among Grupo Televisa, S.A., The News Corporation Limited, Innova,
S. de R.L. de C.V., The DIRECTV Group, Inc. and DIRECTV Latin America, LLC (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.8 to the Form 8-K of The DIRECTV Group, Inc. filed October 15, 2004 (SEC File No. 1-31945))

*10.3 3.5 Year Credit Agreement dated as of September 28, 2012, by and among DIRECTV Holdings LLC, DIRECTV and certain
of DIRECTV Holdings LLC's subsidiaries as Guarantors, and Citibank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, the lenders party to
the 3.5 Year Credit Agreement, Barclays Bank PLC, as Syndication Agent, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, J.P.
Morgan Securities LLC, Bank of America, N.A., The Royal Bank of Scotland PLC and UBS Securities LLC, as
Co-Documentation Agents, and Citigroup Global Markets Inc., Barclays Bank PLC, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC,
J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, RBS Securities Inc. and UBS
Securities LLC as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Bookrunners (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K of
DIRECTV filed October 4, 2012 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

*10.4 5 Year Credit Agreement dated as of September 28, 2012, by and among Borrower and DIRECTV and certain of Borrower's
subsidiaries as Guarantors, and Citibank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, the lenders party to the 5 Year Credit Agreement,
Barclays Bank PLC, as Syndication Agent, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Bank of
America, N.A., The Royal Bank of Scotland PLC and UBS Securities LLC, as Co-Documentation Agents, and Citigroup
Global Markets Inc., Barclays Bank PLC, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Merrill Lynch,
Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, RBS Securities Inc. and UBS Securities LLC as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint
Bookrunners (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 8-K of DIRECTV filed October 4, 2012 (SEC File
No. 1-34554))

*10.5 Confidentiality, Non-Solicitation and Non-Competition Agreement dated as of December 22, 2006 between The DIRECTV
Group, Inc. and News Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 8-K of The DIRECTV Group, Inc.
filed February 27, 2008 (SEC File No. 1-31945))
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Name

�� *10.6Amended and Restated DIRECTV Executive Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the
Form 8-K of DIRECTV filed on February 23, 2012 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

�� *10.7The DIRECTV Group, Inc. Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Annex B to The
DIRECTV Group, Inc.'s Definitive Proxy Statement dated April 27, 2007 and filed on April 27, 2007 (SEC File
No. 1-31945))

�� *10.8DIRECTV 2010 Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99 of the Form S-8 of DIRECTV filed on February 14,
2011 (SEC file No. 1-34554))

�� *10.9The Liberty Entertainment, Inc. Transitional Stock Adjustment Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99(a) of the
Form S-8 of DIRECTV filed on November 19, 2009 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

�� *10.10The DIRECTV Group, Inc. Amended and Restated Executive Officer Cash Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference to
Annex C to the The DIRECTV Group,  Inc.'s Definitive Proxy Statement dated April 27, 2007 and filed on April 27, 2007
(SEC File No. 1-31945))

�� *10.11Summary Terms-2012 Restricted Stock Unit Grants (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K of
DIRECTV filed February 15, 2012 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

�� *10.12Summary Terms and Conditions for 2013 Performance RSU Grants (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Form 8-K of DIRECTV filed February 15, 2013 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

�� *10.13Summary Terms-2012 Bonus (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 8-K of DIRECTV filed February 15,
2012 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

�� *10.14Summary Terms and Conditions for the 2013 Bonus (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Form 8-K of
DIRECTV filed February 15, 2013 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

�� *10.15Summary Terms-2012 Stock Option Grant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Form 8-K of DIRECTV filed
February 15, 2012 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

�� *10.16Summary Terms and Conditions for the 2013 Stock Options Grant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the
Form 8-K of DIRECTV filed February, 15 2013 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

�� *10.17DIRECTV Executive Severance Plan Document and Summary Plan Description (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
of the Form 8-K of DIRECTV filed on January 27, 2012 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

�� *10.18DIRECTV Performance Stock Unit Award Agreement between DIRECTV and Michael D. White dated as of January 4,
2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Form 8-K of DIRECTV filed on January 7, 2010 (SEC File
No. 1-34554))

*10.19 Tax Sharing Agreement by and between Liberty Media Corporation and Liberty Entertainment, Inc. dated November 19,
2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 of the Form 10-K of DIRECTV filed on February 26, 2010 (SEC File
No. 1-34554))

*10.20 Exchange Rights Agreement dated as of October 8, 2004 among Globo, The News Corporation Limited and The DIRECTV
Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K of DIRECTV filed on June 7, 2010 (SEC File
No. 1-34554))
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Name

*10.21 Amendment dated August 27, 2010 to Exchange Rights Agreement dated as of October 8, 2004 among Globo, The News
Corporation Limited and The DIRECTV Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 10-Q of
DIRECTV filed on November 4, 2010 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

*10.22 Share Exchange Agreement, dated as of April 6, 2010 by and among DIRECTV, Dr. John C. Malone, Mrs. Leslie A.
Malone, The Tracy L. Neal Trust A, and The Evan D. Malone Trust A (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the
Form 8-K of DIRECTV filed on April 7, 2010 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

*10.23 Form of Indemnification Agreement dated as of July 29, 2011 between DIRECTV and Neil R. Austrian, Ralph F. Boyd,
David B. Dillon, Samuel A. DiPiazza, Dixon R. Doll, Charles R. Lee, Peter A. Lund, Nancy S. Newcomb and Lorrie M.
Norrington (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K of DIRECTV filed on August 4, 2011 (SEC File
No. 1-34554))

*10.24 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March 8, 2012, by and among DIRECTV Holdings LLC, DIRECTV
Financing Co., Inc., the Guarantors signatory thereto and the Initial Purchasers named therein (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K of DIRECTV filed on March 14, 2012 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

*10.25 Form of 2012 Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K of
DIRECTV filed on November 2, 2012 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

�� *10.26CEO Severance Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Form 8-K of DIRECTV filed on November 2, 2012
(SEC File No. 1-34554))

�� **10.27DIRECTV Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors

�� *10.28Form of 2013 Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement between DIRECTV and Michael D. White (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K of DIRECTV filed February, 15 2013 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

�� *10.29Form of 2013 Performance Stock Unit Award Agreement between DIRECTV and Michael D. White (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K of DIRECTV filed February, 15 2013 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

*14.1 DIRECTV Code of Ethics and Business Conduct, adopted November 19, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14.1 to
the Form 10-K of DIRECTV filed on February 28, 2011 (SEC File No. 1-34554))

**21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant as of December 31, 2012

**23 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP

***31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

***31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

***32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

***32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

*
Incorporated by reference.

**
Filed herewith.

***
Furnished not filed.

��
Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

        A copy of any of the exhibits included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, other than those as to which confidential treatment has been
granted by the Securities and Exchange Commission, upon payment of a fee to cover the reasonable expenses of furnishing such exhibits, may
be obtained by written request to us at the address set forth on the front cover, attention General Counsel.
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 SCHEDULE II�VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Description

Balance at
beginning of

year

Additions
charged

to costs and
expenses

Additions
charged
to other

accounts (a)
Deductions

(b)

Balance
at

end of
year

(Dollars in Millions)
Year Ended December 31, 2012:
Allowance for doubtful accounts deducted from
accounts receivable $ (79) $ (332) $ (149) $ 479 $ (81)
Year Ended December 31, 2011:
Allowance for doubtful accounts deducted from
accounts receivable (76) (309) (130) 436 (79)
Year Ended December 31, 2010:
Allowance for doubtful accounts deducted from
accounts receivable (56) (288) (255) 523 (76)

(a)
Primarily reflects the recovery of accounts previously written-off.

(b)
Primarily relates to accounts written-off.
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 SIGNATURES

        Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, hereunto duly authorized.

DIRECTV
(Registrant)

Date: February 20, 2013

By: /s/ PATRICK T. DOYLE

Patrick T. Doyle
(Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer)

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below on this 20th day of February 2013
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated.

Signature Title
/s/ MICHAEL D. WHITE

(Michael D. White)

Chairman of the Board of Directors,
President and Chief Executive Officer

} Principal Executive Officer

/s/ PATRICK T. DOYLE

(Patrick T. Doyle)

Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer

} Principal Financial Officer

/s/ JOHN F. MURPHY

(John F. Murphy)
Senior Vice President and Controller } Principal Accounting Officer

/s/ NEIL R. AUSTRIAN

(Neil R. Austrian)
Director

/s/ RALPH F. BOYD, JR.

(Ralph F. Boyd, Jr.)
Director

/s/ DAVID B. DILLON

(David B. Dillon)
Director

/s/ SAMUEL A. DIPIAZZA, JR.

(Samuel A. DiPiazza, Jr.)
Director

/s/ DIXON R. DOLL

(Dixon R. Doll)
Director

/s/ CHARLES R. LEE

(Charles R. Lee)
Director

/s/ PETER A. LUND

(Peter A. Lund)
Director

/s/ NANCY NEWCOMB

(Nancy Newcomb)
Director

/s/ LORRIE M. NORRINGTON Director
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(Lorrie M. Norrington)
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 EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Exhibit Name

10.27 DIRECTV Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant as of December 31, 2012

23 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
        A copy of any of the exhibits included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, other than those as to which confidential treatment has been
granted by the Securities and Exchange Commission, upon payment of a fee to cover the reasonable expenses of furnishing such exhibits, may
be obtained by written request to us at the address set forth on the front cover, attention General Counsel.
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